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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Various statements contained in this report or incorporated by reference into this report constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the
federal securities laws. Forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and are indicated by words or phrases such as “believe,” “expect,”
“may,” “will,” “should,” “seek,” “plan,” “intend” or “anticipate” or the negative thereof or comparable terminology, or by discussion of strategy. Forward-
looking statements represent as of the date of this report our judgment relating to, among other things, future results of operations, growth plans, sales,
capital requirements and general industry and business conditions applicable to us. Such forward-looking statements are based largely on our current
expectations and are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those that are anticipated or projected as
a result of certain risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, a number of factors, such as:

«successful execution of our business strategy, particularly for new endeavors;

sthe performance of our targeted markets;

scompetitive product and pricing pressures;

schanges in business relationships with our major customers;

ssuccessful integration of acquired businesses;

«the content we distribute through our in-theatre, on-line and mobile services may expose us to liability;
sgeneral economic and market conditions;

«our financial condition and financial flexibility, including, but not limited to, our ability to obtain necessary financing for our business as and when
needed;

sthe other risks and uncertainties that are set forth in Iltem 1, “Business”, Item 1A “Risk Factors” and Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”.

These factors are not necessarily all of the important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in any of our
forward-looking statements. Other unknown or unpredictable factors could also have material adverse effects on future results. Except as otherwise
required to be disclosed in periodic reports required to be filed by public companies with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) pursuant to
the SEC's rules, we have no duty to update these statements, and we undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. In light of these risks and uncertainties, we cannot assure you that the
forward-looking information contained in this report will in fact transpire.



PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
OVERVIEW

Cineverse Corp. (“Cineverse”, “us”, “our”, "we", and “Company” refers to Cineverse Corp. and its subsidiaries unless the context otherwise requires) was
incorporated in Delaware on March 31, 2000. Since our inception, we have played a significant role in the digital distribution revolution that continues to
transform the media and entertainment landscape.

The Company has a long legacy in using technology to transform the entertainment industry and played a pioneering role in transitioning movie screens
from traditional analog film prints to digital distribution. Over the past several years, Cineverse has transformed itself from being a digital cinema
equipment and physical content distributor to a leading independent streaming company, and we continue to push the bounds of our industry with
innovative technology offerings.

Cineverse is a premier streaming technology and entertainment company with its core business operating as (i) a portfolio of owned and operated
streaming channels with enthusiast fan bases; (ii) a large-scale global aggregator and full-service distributor of feature films and television programs; and
(iii) a proprietary technology software-as-a-service platform for over-the-top (“OTT") app development and content distribution through subscription video
on demand ("SVOD"), dedicated ad-supported ("AVOD"), ad-supported streaming linear ("FAST") channels, social video streaming services, and audio
podcasts. Our streaming channels reach audiences in several distinct ways: direct-to-consumer, through these major application platforms, and through
third party distributors of content on platforms.

The Company’s streaming technology platform, known as MatchpointTM, is a software-based streaming operating platform which provides clients with
AVOD, SVOD, transactional video on demand ("TVOD") and linear capabilities, automates the distribution of content, and features a robust data analytics
platform.

We distribute products for major brands such as Hallmark, ITV, Nelvana, ZDF, Konami, NFL and Highlander, as well as leading international and domestic
content creators, movie producers, television producers and other short-form digital content producers. We collaborate with producers, major brands and
other content owners to market, source, curate and distribute quality content to targeted audiences through (i) existing and emerging digital home
entertainment platforms, including but not limited to Apple iTunes, Amazon Prime, Netflix, Hulu, Xbox, Pluto, and Tubi, as well as (ii) physical goods,
including DVD and Blu-ray Discs.

Cineverse’s broad portfolio enables the Company to achieve significant market share on key consumer streaming devices and platforms. As its channel
portfolio has grown, the Company’s viewership and subscription metrics have grown significantly. The Company has rights to a library of over 33,000 film
& TV assets, has reached over 82 million streaming viewers, has over 1.4 million SVOD subscribers, and 25 million followers on social media. The
Company is well positioned in a changing media and entertainment landscape. As a leading independent distributor, the Company believes the
enthusiast segment provides a significant and underserved market opportunity on a global basis. Today, the Company operates channels in numerous
specialty sectors, including faith and family, anime, action, horror, sports, Westerns, Asian, standup comedy, and other major segments. From time to
time, the Company will cease operating or distributing channels that do not find adequate audiences or meet the needs of platforms or audiences. We
believe our scaled channel portfolio, our superior capabilities in launching and managing channels at scale, and our strategic partnerships with key
content owners and platforms will provide us a strategic advantage to gain considerable market share in the immediate future.

Given our extensive experience in operating and distributing enthusiast content, and the ability to centralize operations and reduce operating costs due to
our proprietary technology, the Company also pursues accretive M&A opportunities in order to grow profitably and fortify its competitive advantage.



As part of its M&A strategy, the Company:
*Focuses on acquiring premium content and streaming channels;
«Explores opportunities for new technology and other revenue channels including ecommerce, podcasts and merchandise; and
-Leverages its proprietary tech platform (Matchpoint™), which allows for on-boarding multiple acquisitions concurrently.
The Company believes it is positioned to deliver sustained profitable growth in the future by executing on several key initiatives:
« Content: Acquiring and distributing high-quality, curated content through SVOD, AVOD and linear FAST channels
« Technology & Distribution:
oExpanding streaming content business through its Matchpoint™ platform,
oLaunching and scaling our portfolio of enthusiast streaming channels.

oAccelerating the Company’s device and platform reach and further establishing key strategic advantages through expanded partnership
deals with connected streaming TV companies including Amazon, Samsung, Roku, YouTube TV and Vizio, as well as large OEM’s, cable
companies and technology platforms including LG, Sling TV, and others.

oLicensing film and TV content to every key player in OTT streaming ecosystem with Amazon, Apple, Netflix and Google.

« Audience: Growing viewership and subscription numbers significantly beyond our current base of more than 82 million monthly viewers to
potentially hundreds of millions of global viewers across billions of connected devices.

« Financial Performance/Metrics:

oDriving EBITDA through incremental revenue growth from technology product launches such as Matchpoint, expansion of distribution,
improved monetization and partnerships, and continuous efforts on cost mitigation.

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaqg Capital Market, or Nasdaq, under the symbol “CNVS.”

On April 4, 2022, the Company received a letter from the Nasdagq indicating that the Company no longer met the Bid Price Rule. On June 7, 2023, The
Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (“Nasdaq”) approved an additional extension through July 19, 2023, during which the Company may cure the previously-
announced minimum bid price deficiency. In order to regain compliance with the Bid Price Rule, in addition to the initiation of the implementation of a
stock repurchase program of up to 500 thousand shares in the open market over a 12 month period since announcement in March 2023, the Company
has effected a reverse stock split. The Company has maintained its compliance with the $1.00 bid price requirement for continued listing on The Nasdaq
Capital Market and remains subject to a one-year “Panel Monitor” as that term is defined by Nasdaq Listing Rule 5815(d)(4)(A) through June 30, 2024.

On June 9, 2023, the Company effected a 1-for-20 reverse stock split of the Company's Class A common stock. All shares and price amounts in this
report reflect the 1-for-20 reverse stock split.



Our Strategy

The shift from traditional entertainment consumption to streaming continues to accelerate. We believe that our large library of film and television
programs, long-standing relationships with digital platforms, state of the art technologies and years of experience operating and growing streaming
audiences (collectively, our “Streaming” business) will allow us to continue to build a diversified portfolio of enthusiasts OTT channels that generate
recurring revenue streams from advertising, subscriptions and merchandising. We believe that our success, market leadership and scale will continue to
attract strong brands and media companies who bring name recognition, high-quality film and television content, and strong marketing support.

We believe that we are well positioned to succeed in the streaming channel business for the following key reasons:

*More than 15 years of experience as a primary distributor of content to scale third party OTT platforms such as Netflix, Hulu, Amazon Prime, Tubi,
Apple iTunes and more, and nearly seven years of history operating OTT channels with millions of downloads, hundreds of thousands of
registered users, and hundreds of millions of discrete data points on our customer’s behavior and preferences;

*The depth and breadth of our over 33,000 title film and television episode library;

«Qur digital assets and deep, long-standing relationships as launch partners that cover the major digital platforms and devices;
«Our marketing expertise;

«QOur flexible releasing strategies, which differ from larger entertainment companies that need to protect their legacy businesses;
«Qur proprietary streaming technology enabling us to operate at scale and at lower operating costs than our competitors; and
«Our experienced management team.

Intellectual Property

We own certain copyrights, trademarks and Internet domain names in connection with our business. We view these proprietary rights as valuable assets.
We maintain registrations, where appropriate, to protect them and monitor them on an ongoing basis.

ENVIRONMENTAL

The nature of our business does not subject us to environmental laws in any material manner.

EMPLOYEES

As of March 31, 2024 we had 179 employees, 176 full-time and 3 part time, on-leave, or temporaries. Of these employees, 74 are in operations, 16 are in
sales and marketing, and 89 are in executive, finance, technology and administrative functions. There are 85 employees based in the United States and
94 employees based in India.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Our Internet website address is www.cineverse.com. We will make available, free of charge at the “Investor Relations - Financial Information” section of
our website, our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements and all amendments to

those reports and statements filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as
reasonably practicable after such reports are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC.



In addition, the SEC maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding companies that file
electronically with the SEC. This information is available at www.sec.gov.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our securities involves a degree of risk. The risks described below are not the only ones facing us. Additional risks not presently known
to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also have a material adverse effect on us. If any of the following risks actually occur, our financial
condition, results of operations, cash flows or business could be harmed. In that case, the market price of our stock could decline and you could lose part
or all of your investment in our securities.

Risks Related to our Business

We face the risks of doing business in new and rapidly evolving markets and may not be able to successfully address such risks and achieve
acceptable levels of success or profits.

We have encountered and may continue to encounter the challenges, uncertainties and difficulties frequently experienced in new and rapidly evolving
markets, including:

«limited operating experience;

net losses;

«lack of sufficient customers or loss of significant customers;

«a changing business focus;

«the downward trend in sales of physical DVD and Blu-ray discs;
erapidly-changing technology for some of the products and services we offer; and
«difficulties in managing potentially rapid growth.

We expect competition to be intense. If we are unable to compete successfully, our business and results of operations will be seriously
harmed.

The markets for technology and content distribution business are competitive, evolving and subject to rapid technological and other changes. We expect
the intensity of competition in each of these areas to increase in the future. Companies willing to expend the necessary capital to create facilities and/or
capabilities similar to ours may compete with our business. Increased competition may result in reduced, or prevent us from generating forecasted,
revenues and/or margins and loss of market share, any of which could seriously harm our business. In order to compete effectively in each of these fields,
we must differentiate ourselves from our competitors.

Many of our current and potential competitors may have longer operating histories and greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources than
we do, which may permit them to adopt aggressive pricing policies. As a result, we may suffer from pricing pressures that could adversely affect our
ability to generate revenues and our results of operations. Many of our competitors also have significantly greater name and brand recognition and a
larger customer base than us. If we are unable to compete successfully, our business and results of operations will be seriously harmed.

Our plan to acquire additional businesses involves risks, including our inability to complete or integrate an acquisition successfully, our
assumption of liabilities, dilution of your investment and significant costs.

Strategic and financially appropriate acquisitions are a key component of our growth strategy. Although there are no acquisitions identified by us as
probable at this time, we may make acquisitions of similar or complementary businesses or assets. Even if we identify appropriate acquisition candidates,
we may be unable to negotiate successfully the terms of the acquisitions, finance them, integrate the acquired business into our then existing business,
obtain required regulatory approvals, and/or attract and retain customers. Completing an acquisition and integrating an acquired business may require a
significant diversion of management time and resources and may



involve assuming new liabilities. Any acquisition also involves the risks that the assets acquired may prove less valuable than expected and/or that we
may assume unknown or unexpected liabilities, costs and problems. If we make one or more significant acquisitions in which any of the consideration
consists of our capital stock, your equity interest in the Company could be diluted, perhaps significantly. If we were to proceed with one or more
significant acquisitions in which the consideration included cash, we could be required to use a substantial portion of our available cash or obtain
additional financing to consummate them.

We have recorded goodwill impairment charges in the past and may be required to record additional charges to future earnings if our goodwill
becomes further impaired or our intangible assets become impaired.

We are required under generally accepted accounting principles to review our goodwill and definite-lived intangible assets for impairment when events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. Goodwill must be tested for impairment at least annually. Factors that may
be considered a change in circumstances indicating that the carrying value of our reporting units and intangible assets may not be recoverable include,
slower growth rates in our industry or our own operations, and/or other materially adverse events that have implications on the profitability of our
business. In the current fiscal year, we recognized $14 million of impairment, and we may be required to record additional charges to earnings during any
period in which further impairment of our goodwill or other intangible assets is determined that could adversely affect our results of operations.

If we do not manage our growth, our business will be harmed.

We may not be successful in managing our growth. Past growth has placed, and future growth will continue to place, significant challenges on our
management and resources. To manage the expected growth of our operations, we will need to improve our existing, and implement new, operational
and financial systems, procedures and controls. We may also need to expand our finance, administrative, client services and operations staffs and train
and manage our growing employee base effectively. Our current and planned personnel, systems, procedures and controls may not be adequate to
support our future operations. Our business, results of operations and financial position will suffer if we do not effectively manage our growth.

If we are not successful in protecting our intellectual property, our business will suffer.

We depend heavily on technology and viewing content to operate our business. Our success depends on protecting our intellectual property, which is one
of our most important assets. We have intellectual property consisting of:

erights to certain domain names;

eregistered service marks on certain names and phrases;
evarious unregistered trademarks and service marks;
«film, television and other forms of viewing content;
*know-how; and

erights to certain logos.

If we do not adequately protect our intellectual property, our business, financial position and results of operations would be harmed. Our means of
protecting our intellectual property may not be adequate. Unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our intellectual property or to obtain and
use information that we regard as proprietary. In addition, competitors may be able to devise methods of competing with our business that are not
covered by our intellectual property. Our competitors may independently develop similar technology, duplicate our technology or design around any
intellectual property that we may obtain.

Although we hold rights to various web domain names, regulatory bodies in the United States and abroad could establish additional top-level domains,
appoint additional domain name registrars or modify the requirements for holding domain names. The relationship between regulations governing domain
names and laws protecting trademarks and similar proprietary rights is unclear. We may be unable to prevent third parties from acquiring domain names
that are similar to or diminish the value of our proprietary rights.



We maintain outstanding indebtedness, which could impair our ability to operate our business and react to changes in our business, remain
in compliance with debt covenants and make payments on our debt.

We maintain an amount of outstanding indebtedness, which could impair our ability to operate our business and react to changes in our business, remain
in compliance with debt covenants and make payments on our debt. Our level of indebtedness could require a significant portion of our cash flow from
operations to be dedicated to the payment of principal and interest on our indebtedness, therefore reducing our ability to use our cash flow to fund our
operations, capital expenditures and future business opportunities.

In addition, our current credit facilities contain, and any future credit facilities will likely contain, covenants and other provisions that restrict our operations.
These restrictive covenants and provisions could limit our ability to obtain future financing, make needed capital expenditures, withstand a future
downturn in our business or the economy in general, or otherwise conduct necessary corporate activities, and may prevent us from taking advantage of
business opportunities that arise in the future. If we refinance our credit facilities, we cannot guarantee that any new credit facility will not contain similar
covenants and restrictions.

Cinedigm Digital Funding 2, LLC ("CDF2") and CDF2 Holdings, LLC ("CDF2 Holdings") are our indirect wholly-owned, non-consolidated variable interest
entities ("VIEs") that are intended to be special purpose, bankruptcy remote entities. CDF2 Holdings has entered into the a lease (the “CHG Lease”)
pursuant to which CHG-Meridian U.S. Finance, Ltd. provided sale/leaseback financing for digital cinema projection systems that were partially financed
as part of the Phase Il deployment of our legacy digital equipment business. The CHG Lease is non-recourse to Cineverse and our subsidiaries,
excluding our VIEs, CDF2 and CDF2 Holdings, as the case may be. Our financial exposure related to the debt of CDF2 and CDF2 Holdings is limited to
the $2.0 million initial investment we made into CDF2 and CDF2 Holdings. CDF2 Holding's total stockholder’s deficit at March 31, 2024 was $59.2 million.
We have no obligation to fund the operating loss or the deficit beyond our initial investment, and accordingly, we carried our investment in CDF2 Holdings
at $0 as of March 31, 2024 and 2023.

The obligations and restrictions under the CHG Lease could have important consequences for CDF2 and CDF2 Holdings, including:

«limiting our ability to obtain necessary financing in the future;

erestricting us from incurring liens on the digital cinema projection systems financed and from subleasing, assigning or modifying the digital cinema
projection systems financed; and

erequiring them to dedicate a substantial portion of their cash flow to payments on their debt obligations, thereby reducing the availability of their
cash flow for other uses.

If we are unable to meet our debt obligations, we could be forced to restructure or refinance our obligations, to seek additional equity financing or to sell
assets, which we may not be able to do on satisfactory terms or at all. As a result, we could default on those obligations and in the event of such default,
our lenders could accelerate our debt or take other actions that could restrict our operations.

The foregoing risks would be intensified to the extent we borrow additional money or incur additional debt.
We may not be able to generate the amount of cash needed to fund our future operations.

Our ability either to make payments on or to refinance our indebtedness, or to fund planned capital expenditures and research and development efforts,
will depend on our ability to generate cash in the future. Our ability to generate cash is in part subject to general economic, financial, competitive,
regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control.

Based on our current level of operations and in conjunction with the cost reduction measures that we have recently implemented and continue to
implement, we believe our cash flow from operations, available borrowings and loan and credit agreement terms will be adequate to meet our future
liquidity needs through at least the next twelve months. Significant assumptions underlie this belief, including, among other things, that there will be no
material



adverse developments in our business, liquidity or capital requirements. If we are unable to service our indebtedness, we will be forced to adopt an
alternative strategy that may include actions such as:

sreducing capital expenditures;

ereducing our overhead costs and/or workforce;

sreducing research and development efforts;

«selling assets;

erestructuring or refinancing our remaining indebtedness; and

eseeking additional funding.

We cannot assure you, however, that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations, or that we will be able to make future borrowings in
amounts sufficient to enable us to pay the principal and interest on our current indebtedness or to fund our other liquidity needs. We may need to
refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness on or before maturity. We cannot assure you that we will be able to refinance any of our indebtedness on
commercially reasonable terms or at all.

We have incurred losses over the long term.

We have incurred long term losses and have financed our operations principally through equity investments and borrowings. As of March 31, 2024,
though we had a positive working capital, defined as current assets less current liabilities, of $1.5 million, and cash and cash equivalents of $5.2 million,
and total equity of $32.2 million, the Company used $10.6 million of net cash flows in operating activities.

Our net losses and cash outflows may increase as and to the extent that we increase the size of our business operations, increase our sales and
marketing activities, increase our content distribution rights acquisition activities, enlarge our customer support and professional services and acquire
additional businesses. These efforts may prove to be more expensive than we currently anticipate which could further increase our losses. We must
continue to increase our revenues in order to become profitable. We cannot reliably predict when, or if, we will become profitable. Even if we achieve
profitability, we may not be able to sustain it. If we cannot generate operating income or positive cash flows in the future, we will be unable to meet our
working capital requirements.

Many of our corporate actions may be influenced by our officers, directors and principal stockholders; these actions may benefit these
principal stockholders more than our other stockholders.

As of June 17, 2024, our directors, executive officers and principal stockholders, those known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of the outstanding
shares of our Common Stock, beneficially own, directly or indirectly, in the aggregate, approximately 20.8% of our outstanding Common Stock. These
stockholders, as a group, may have significant influence over our business affairs, with the ability to influence matters requiring approval by our security
holders, including elections of directors and approvals of mergers or other business combinations.

Our success will significantly depend on our ability to hire and retain key personnel.

Our success will depend in significant part upon the continued performance of our senior management personnel and other key technical, sales and
creative personnel. We do not currently have significant “key person” life insurance policies for any of our employees. We currently have employment
agreements with our Chief Executive Officer, our President and Chief Strategy Officer, our Chief Operating Officer and Chief Technology Officer, our
Chief Legal Officer, and our Chief Financial Officer. If we lose one or more of our key employees, we may not be able to find a suitable replacement(s)
and our business and results of operations could be adversely affected. In addition, competition for key employees necessary to create and distribute our
entertainment content and software products is intense and may grow in the future. Our future success will also depend upon our ability to hire, train,
integrate and retain qualified new employees and our inability to do so may have an adverse impact upon our business, financial condition, operating
results, liquidity and prospects for growth.



Our success depends on external factors in the media industry.

Our success depends on the commercial success of media content, which is unpredictable. Operating in the motion picture and television industry
involves a substantial degree of risk. Content is an individual artistic work, and inherently unpredictable audience reactions primarily determine
commercial success. Generally, the popularity of content depends on many factors, including the critical acclaim they receive, the format of their initial
release, for example, theatrical or direct-to-streaming, the actors and other key talent, their genre and their specific subject matter. The commercial
success of movies and television programs also depends upon the quality and acceptance of movies or programs that our competitors release into the
marketplace at or near the same time, critical reviews, the availability of alternative forms of entertainment and leisure activities, general economic
conditions and other tangible and intangible factors, many of which we do not control and all of which may change. We cannot predict the future effects of
these factors with certainty, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity and
prospects. In addition, because a theatrical movie or streaming content's performance in ancillary markets, such as branded consumer goods, is often
directly related to its box office performance or television ratings, poor box office results or poor television ratings may negatively affect future revenue
streams. Our success will depend on the experience and judgment of our management to select and develop new content acquisition and investment
opportunities. We cannot make assurances that movies and streaming content will obtain favorable reviews or ratings, will perform well at the box office
or in ancillary markets or that broadcasters will license the rights to broadcast any of our content in development or renew licenses to use programs in our
library. The failure to achieve any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results, liquidity and
prospects.

Our business involves risks of liability claims for media content, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

As a distributor of media content, we may face potential liability for:

~defamation;

sinvasion of privacy;

*negligence;

scopyright or trademark infringement (as discussed above); and

«other claims based on the nature and content of the materials distributed.

These types of claims have been brought, sometimes successfully, against producers and distributors of media content. Any imposition of liability that is
not covered by insurance or is in excess of insurance coverage could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating
results, liquidity and prospects.

Our revenues and earnings are subject to market downturns.

Our revenues and earnings may fluctuate significantly in the future. General economic or other conditions could cause lower than expected revenues and
earnings within our digital cinema, technology or content and entertainment businesses. A global economic turmoil can cause a general tightening in the
credit markets, lower levels of liquidity, increases in the rates of default and bankruptcy, an unprecedented level of intervention from the U.S. federal
government and other foreign governments, decreased consumer confidence, overall slower economic activity and extreme volatility in credit, equity and
fixed income markets. A decrease in economic activity in the U.S. or in other regions of the world in which we do business could adversely affect demand
for our content, thus reducing our revenue and earnings. Moreover, financial institution failures may cause us to incur increased expenses or make it more
difficult either to financing of any future acquisitions, or financing activities. Any of these factors could have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and could result in significant additional dilution to shareholders.



Changes in economic conditions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.

Our operations and performance could be influenced by worldwide economic conditions. Uncertainty about current global economic conditions poses a
risk as consumers and businesses may postpone spending in response to tighter credit, negative financial news and/or declines in income or asset
values, which could have a material negative effect on the demand for our products and services. Other factors that could influence demand include
increases in energy costs, conditions in the residential real estate and mortgage markets, labor and healthcare costs, access to credit, consumer
confidence, and other macroeconomic factors affecting consumer-spending behavior. These and other economic factors could have a material adverse
effect on demand for our products and services and on our financial condition and operating results. Uncertainty about current global economic conditions
could also continue to increase the volatility of our stock price.

Changes to existing accounting pronouncements or taxation rules or practices may affect how we conduct our business and affect our
reported results of operations.

New accounting pronouncements or tax rules and varying interpretations of accounting pronouncements or taxation practice have occurred and may
occur in the future. A change in accounting pronouncements or interpretations or taxation rules or practices can have a significant effect on our reported
results and may even affect our reporting of transactions completed before the change is effective. Changes to existing rules and pronouncements, future
changes, if any, or the questioning of current practices or interpretations may adversely affect our reported financial results or the way we conduct our
business.

Our ability to utilize our net operating loss carryforwards in the future is subject to substantial limitations and we may not be able to use some
identified net operating loss carryforwards, which could result in increased tax payments in future periods.

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, if a corporation undergoes an ownership change (generally defined as a greater than 50% change (by
value) in its equity ownership over a three-year period), the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change net operating loss (“NOL") carryforwards to offset
its post-change income may be limited. Similar rules may apply under state tax laws. On November 1, 2017, we experienced an ownership change with
respect to the Bison acquisition. Accordingly, our ability to utilize our NOL carryforwards attributable to periods prior to November 1, 2017, is subject to
substantial limitations. These limitations could result in increased future tax payments, which could be material. We experienced subsequent ownership
changes under Section 382 on September 15, 2020 and November 1, 2022, which resulted in additional limitations in our ability to utilize our NOL
carryforwards attributable to periods prior to September 15, 2020 and November 2022, respectively. The limitations triggered by the September 15, 2020
and November 1, 2022 ownership changes were significantly less substantial than the limitation triggered by the November 1, 2017 ownership change,
however.

Global health threats may adversely affect our business.

Our business could be adversely affected by the effects of a widespread outbreak of contagious disease, such as the outbreak of COVID-19. A significant
outbreak of contagious diseases in the human population and resulting widespread health crisis could adversely affect the economies and financial
markets of many countries, resulting in an economic downturn and reduced spending on media and technology. The reduction of economic activity and
reduced spending related to such outbreaks and actions taken by governments to mitigate the spread of a virus or other infectious agent could have a
material impact on our earnings, cash flow and financial condition.

We are subject to cybersecurity risk
We have controls in place to protect against and mitigate cyber security risk, including employee education and technological tools; however, actual or

attempted security incidents or breaches, loss of data, or other disruptions could expose us to material liability and materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition, and our reputation.



Risks Related to Common Stock

The liquidity of our Common Stock is uncertain; the limited trading volume of our Common Stock may depress the price of such stock or
cause it to fluctuate significantly.

Although our Common Stock is listed on Nasdagq, there has been a limited public market for our Common Stock and there can be no assurance that a
more active trading market for our Common Stock will develop. As a result, you may not be able to sell your shares of our Common Stock in short time
periods, or possibly at all. The absence of an active trading market may cause the price per share of our Common Stock to fluctuate significantly.

Substantial resales or future issuances of our Common Stock could depress our stock price.

The market price for our Common Stock could decline, perhaps significantly, as a result of resales or issuances of a large number of shares of our
Common Stock in the public market or even the perception that such resales or issuances could occur. In addition, we have outstanding a substantial
number of options and warrants exercisable for shares of our Common Stock that may be exercised in the future. These factors could also make it more
difficult for us to raise funds through future offerings of our equity securities.

You will incur substantial dilution as a result of certain future equity issuances.

We have a substantial number of options and warrants currently outstanding which may be immediately exercised for shares of Common Stock. To the
extent that these options or warrants are exercised, or to the extent we issue additional shares of Common Stock in the future, as the case may be, there
will be further dilution to holders of shares of the Common Stock.

Our issuance of preferred stock could adversely affect holders of Common Stock.

Our Board of Directors (the "Board of Directors") is authorized to issue series of preferred stock without any action on the part of our holders of Common
Stock. The Board of Directors also has the power, without stockholder approval, to set the terms of any such series of preferred stock that may be issued,
including voting rights, dividend rights, preferences over our Common Stock with respect to dividends or if we liquidate, dissolve or wind up our business
and other terms. If we issue preferred stock in the future that has preference over our Common Stock with respect to the payment of dividends or upon
our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, or if we issue preferred stock with voting rights that dilute the voting power of our Common Stock, the rights of
holders of our Common Stock or the price of our Common Stock could be adversely affected.

Our stock price has been volatile and may continue to be volatile in the future; this volatility may affect the price at which you could sell our
Common Stock.

The trading price of our Common Stock has been volatile and may continue to be volatile in response to various factors, some of which are beyond our
control. Any of the factors listed below could have a material adverse effect on an investment in our securities:

«actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly financial results or the quarterly financial results of companies perceived to be similar to us;
«changes in the market's expectations about our operating results;

esuccess of competitors;

sour operating results failing to meet the expectation of securities analysts or investors in a particular period,;

«changes in financial estimates and recommendations by securities analysts concerning us, the market for digital and physical content, content
distribution and entertainment in general;

soperating and stock price performance of other companies that investors deem comparable to us;

«our ability to market new and enhanced products on a timely basis;
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echanges in laws and regulations affecting our business or our industry;

<commencement of, or involvement in, litigation involving us;

«changes in our capital structure, such as future issuances of securities or the incurrence of debt;
«the volume of shares of the Common Stock available for public sale;

«any major change in our Board of Directors or management;

sales of substantial amounts of Common Stock by our directors, executive officers or significant stockholders or the perception that such sales
could occur; and

sgeneral economic and political conditions such as recessions, interest rates, international currency fluctuations and acts of war or terrorism.

Broad market and industry factors may materially harm the market price of the Common Stock irrespective of our operating performance. The stock
market in general, and Nasdagq in particular, have experienced price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the
operating performance of the particular companies affected. The trading prices and valuations of these stocks, and of the Common Stock, may not be
predictable. A loss of investor confidence in the market for retail stocks or the stocks of other companies that investors perceive to be similar to us could
depress our stock price regardless of our business, prospects, financial conditions or results of operations. A decline in the market price of the Common
Stock also could adversely affect our ability to issue additional securities and our ability to obtain additional financing in the future.

Anti-takeover provisions contained in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, could impair a
takeover attempt.

The Company's Fifth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, and our Second Amended and Restated Bylaws contain
provisions that could have the effect of delaying or preventing changes in control or changes in our management without the consent of the Board of
Directors.

These provisions include:

*no cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates;

«the exclusive right of the Board of Directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of the Board of Directors or the
resignation, death, or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on the Board of Directors;

«the ability of the Board of Directors to determine to issue shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of those shares,
including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile
acquirer;

sthe requirement that an annual meeting of stockholders may be called only by the Board of Directors, which may delay the ability of our
stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors;

«limiting the liability of, and providing indemnification to, our directors and officers;
«controlling the procedures for the conduct and scheduling of stockholder meetings; and

«providing that directors may be removed prior to the expiration of their terms by the Board of Directors only for cause.

In addition, our certificate of incorporation authorizes the issuance of 15 million shares of preferred stock. The terms of our preferred stock may be fixed
by the company’s Board of Directors without further stockholder action. The terms of any outstanding series or class of preferred stock may include
priority claims to assets and dividends and special voting rights, which could adversely affect the rights of holders of Common Stock. Any future
issuance(s) of preferred stock could make the takeover of the company more difficult, discourage unsolicited bids for control of the
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company in which our stockholders could receive premiums for their shares, dilute or subordinate the rights of holders of Common Stock and adversely
affect the trading price of the Common Stock.

These provisions, alone or together, could delay hostile takeovers and changes in control of the Company or changes in our management.

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subject to provisions of Delaware law, including Section 203 of the General Corporation Law of the State of
Delaware (the "DGCL"), which prevents some stockholders holding more than 15% of our outstanding Common Stock from engaging in certain business
combinations without approval of the holders of substantially all of our outstanding common stock. Any provision of our certificate of incorporation or
bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect of delaying or deterring a change in control could limit the opportunity for our stockholders to receive a
premium for their shares of our common stock, and could also affect the price that some investors are willing to pay for our securities.

We may not be able to maintain the listing of our Common Stock on Nasdaq, which may adversely affect the flexibility of holders of Common
Stock to resell their securities in the secondary market.

The Common Stock is presently listed on Nasdag. If the Company is unable to meet the continued listing criteria of Nasdaq and the Common Stock
became delisted, trading of the Common Stock could thereafter be conducted in the over-the-counter markets in the OTC Pink, also known as “pink
sheets” or, if available, on another OTC trading platform. Any such delisting could harm our ability to raise capital through alternative financing sources on
terms acceptable to us, or at all, and may result in the loss of confidence in our financial stability by suppliers, customers and employees. Investors would
likely find it more difficult to dispose of, or to obtain accurate market quotations for, the Common Stock, as the liquidity that Nasdaq provides would no
longer be available to investors. In addition, the failure of our Common Stock to continue to be listed on the Nasdaq could adversely impact the market
price for the Common Stock and our other securities, and we could face a lengthy process to re-list the Common Stock, if we are able to re-list the
Common Stock.

The Company's share price has decreased since the end of its fiscal year ending March 31, 2023. A sustained decrease in share price may
indicate a risk the Company’s goodwill may become impaired.

On March 31, 2023, the Company's share price was $8.40 and had since declined to a share price of $1.39 as of March 31, 2024. Under ASC 350,
Goodwill, a sustained decline in share price represents a triggering event which would require the Company to test for impairment and there may be a
risk that the Company incurs expenses related to goodwill impairment. The Company incurred Goodwill impairment of $14.0 million during the twelve
months ended March 31, 2024, and there may be additional impairment incurred if there are further declines in the Company's share price.

We have no present intention of paying dividends on our Common Stock.

We have never paid any cash dividends on our Common Stock and have no present plans to do so. In addition, certain of our credit facilities restrict our
ability to pay dividends on the Common Stock. As a result, you may not receive any return on an investment in our Common Stock unless you sell any
shares you hold for a price greater than that which you paid for them.

Our ability to raise capital in the future may be limited, which could make us unable to fund our capital requirements.

Our business and operations may consume resources faster than we anticipate, or we may require additional funds to pursue acquisition or expansion
opportunities. In the future, we may need to raise additional funds through the issuance of new equity securities, debt or a combination of both. Additional
financing may not be available on favorable terms or at all. If adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms, we may be unable to fund our capital
requirements. If we issue new debt securities, the debt holders would have rights senior to common stockholders to make claims on our assets, and the
terms of any debt could restrict our operations, including our ability to pay dividends on our Common Stock. Because our decision to issue securities in
any future offering will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing
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or nature of our future offerings. Thus, our stockholders bear the risk of our future securities offerings reducing the market price of our Common Stock,
diluting their interest or being subject to rights and preferences senior to their own.

The execution of our stock repurchase program may not provide the desired return on investment.

In March 2023, the Company approved a program to share repurchase program, which was renewed in February 2024. The Company will execute on
this program if and when management perceives the share price of the Company's common stock to be attractive. Any share repurchase under this
program will take the place of other use of Company funds and may not achieve the same level of return on investment.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

We recognize the critical importance of maintaining the trust and confidence of customers, business partners, and employees toward our business and
are committed to protecting the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of our business operations and systems. Our board of directors is actively
involved in oversight of our risk management activities, and cybersecurity represents an important element of our overall approach to risk management.
We seek to address cybersecurity risks through a comprehensive, cross-functional approach that is focused on preserving the confidentiality, security,
integrity, and availability of the information that we collect and store by identifying, preventing, and mitigating cybersecurity threats and effectively
responding to cybersecurity incidents when they occur.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

As of March 31, 2024, our leased Principal Executive Office address is 224 W. 35th St., Suite 500 #947, New York, NY 10001; however, we primarily
operate as a company with a virtual workforce.

We do not own any real estate or invest in real estate or related investments.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

None.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PARTII

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

COMMON STOCK

Our Common Stock trades publicly on Nasdag, under the trading symbol “CNVS” following a rebranding announcement on May 22, 2023, when we
changed our name from Cinedigm Corp. to Cineverse Corp. Previously, the Company traded under the trading symbol "CIDM". The following table shows
the high and low sales prices per share of our Common Stock as reported by Nasdaq for the periods indicated, as adjusted for the June 2023 reverse
stock split:

For the Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2024 2023
HIGH Low HIGH Low
April 1 — June 30 $ 9.00 $ 191 % 1720 $ 9.80
July 1 — September 30 $ 186 $ 100 $ 1540 $ 7.80
October 1 — December 31 $ 138 $ 1.01 $ 1220 $ 7.60
January 1 — March 31 $ 235 % 125 % 1220 % 8.00

The reported closing price per share of our Common Stock as reported by Nasdaq on June 17, 2024 was $0.86 per share. As of June 20, 2024, there
were 52 holders of record of our Common Stock, not including beneficial owners of our Common Stock whose shares are held in the names of various
dealers, clearing agencies, banks, brokers and other fiduciaries.

DIVIDEND POLICY

We have never paid any cash dividends on our Common Stock and do not anticipate paying any on our Common Stock in the foreseeable future. Any
future payment of dividends on our Common Stock will be in the sole discretion of our Board of Directors.

The holders of our Series A 10% Non-Voting Cumulative Preferred Stock are entitled to receive dividends. There were $89 thousand of cumulative
dividends in arrears on our Preferred Stock at March 31, 2024.

SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES

On September 17, 2021, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Bloody Disgusting, LLC (“Bloody Disgusting”). On February 29, 2024,
the Company issued 84,610 shares of Common Stock as a deferred earnout payment of consideration for the acquisition, pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of
the Securities Act.

On March 25, 2022, the Company acquired substantially all of the equity of Asian Media Rights, LLC d/b/a Digital Media Rights (“DMR”). On March 28,
2024, the Company issued 2,284,496 shares of Common Stock as a deferred earnout payment of consideration for the acquisition, pursuant to Section
4(a)(2) of the Securities Act.

PURCHASE OF EQUITY SECURITIES

There were no repurchases of shares of our Common Stock made by us or on our behalf during the year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.

In connection with the settlement of the Company’s fiscal year 2023 employee bonuses, the Company paid cash for the bonus-related payroll taxes upon
the surrender to the Company by the employees of 222,761 shares to the Company.

On February 29, 2024, the Board approved the renewal of the Company's stock repurchase program to purchase up to an aggregate of 500,000 shares
of its outstanding Class A common stock. Acquisitions pursuant to the stock repurchase program may be made through a combination of open market
repurchases in compliance with Rule
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10b-18 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, privately negotiated transactions, and/or other transactions at the
Company'’s discretion. The stock repurchase program, which is subject to certain consents, will expire on March 1, 2025 unless otherwise modified by the
Board at any time in its sole discretion. In May 2024, the Company entered into a 10b5-1 repurchase plan with B. Riley Securities, Inc. and under this
plan repurchased 184,495 shares for a total of $188 thousand, gross of fees in May 2024.

ITEM 6. [Reserved]
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our historical consolidated financial statements and the related notes included
elsewhere in this report.

This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. These include statements about our expectations,
beliefs, intentions or strategies for the future, which are indicated by words or phrases such as “believes,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “will,”
“estimates,” and similar words. Forward-looking statements represent, as of the date of this report, our judgment relating to, among other things, future
results of operations, growth plans, sales, capital requirements and general industry and business conditions applicable to us. These forward-looking
statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors, some of which are beyond
our control that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.

OVERVIEW

Cineverse is a premier streaming technology and entertainment company with its core business operating as (i) a portfolio of owned and operated
streaming channels with enthusiast fan bases; (ii) a large-scale global aggregator and full-service distributor of feature films and television programs; and
(iii) a proprietary technology software-as-a-service platform for over-the-top (“OTT") app development and content distribution through subscription video
on demand ("SVOD"), dedicated ad-supported ("AVOD"), ad-supported streaming linear ("FAST") channels, social video streaming services, and audio
podcasts. Our streaming channels reach audiences in several distinct ways: direct-to-consumer, through these major application platforms, and through
third party distributors of content on platforms.

The Company’s streaming technology platform, known as MatchpointTM, is a software-based streaming operating platform which provides clients with
AVOD, SVOD, transactional video on demand ("TVOD") and linear capabilities, automates the distribution of content, and features a robust data analytics
platform.

Risks and Uncertainties
Our business and prospects are exposed to numerous risks and uncertainties. For more information, see “Iltem 1A. Risk Factors” in this report.
Liquidity

We have incurred net losses historically and a net loss for the year ended March 31, 2024 of $21.8 million. As of March 31, 2024, we had an
accumulated deficit of $504.2 million and net cash used in operating activities for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 was $10.6 million. Though we
have working capital of $1.5 million, we may continue to generate net losses for the foreseeable future.

The Company is party to a Loan, Guaranty, and Security Agreement, as amended to date, with East West Bank (“EWB”) providing for a revolving line of
credit (the “Line of Credit Facility”) of $7.5 million, guaranteed by substantially all of our material subsidiaries and secured by substantially all of our and
such subsidiaries’ assets. The Line of Credit Facility bears interest at a rate equal to 1.5% above the prime rate, equal to 10.00% as of March 31, 2024. In
June 2024, the Company was notified in writing by EWB that it intends to extend the maturity date of the Line of Credit Facility to September 15, 2025,
subject to definitive documentation.

As of March 31, 2024, $6.4 million was outstanding on the Line of Credit Facility. Under the Line of Credit Facility, the Company is subject to certain
financial and nonfinancial covenants including terms which require the Company to maintain certain metrics and ratios, maintain certain minimum cash
on hand, and to report financial information to our lender on a periodic basis. Please see Note 5 - Debt for further information regarding the Company's
Line of Credit Facility.
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On June 16, 2023, the Company issued and sold 2,150,000 thousand shares of Common Stock, 516,667 thousand prefunded warrants, and warrants to
purchase up to 2,666,667 thousand shares of Common Stock at a combined public offering price of $3.00 per share and accompanying warrant for
aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $7.4 million, after deducting placement agent fees and other offering expenses in the amount of $0.6 million.
The warrants have an exercise price of $3.00 per share, were exercisable immediately and will expire five years from issuance. The Company received
$2.999 per share for the pre-funded warrants, with the remaining $0.001 due at the time of exercise. All 516,667 pre-funded warrants were subsequently
exercised in July 2023 for total proceeds of $0.5 thousand.

On April 5, 2024, Cineverse Terrifier LLC (“T3 Borrower”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement with
Bondlt LLC (“T3 Lender”) and the Company, as a guarantor (the “T3 Loan Agreement”). The T3 Loan Agreement provides for a term loan with a principal
amount not to exceed $3,666,000 (the “T3 Loan”), and a maturity date of April 1, 2025, unless extended for 120 days under certain conditions. The T3
Loan bears no interest until the maturity date other than an interest advance equal to $576,000 at the closing of the T3 Loan on April 5, 2024. After the
principal of the T3 Loan is paid in full, T3 Lender will be entitled to receive 15% of all royalties earned by the Company on the Film under its distribution
agreements for the Film until T3 Lender has received 1.75 times the full commitment amount of $3,666,000, consisting of the principal amount plus
interest and fees advanced to T3 Borrower, plus any extension interest. See Note 8 - Subsequent Events for further information.

In July 2020, we entered into an At-the-Market sales agreement (the “ATM Sales Agreement”) with A.G.P./Alliance Global Partners (“A.G.P.”) and B.
Riley FBR, Inc. (“B. Riley” and, together with A.G.P., the “Sales Agents”), pursuant to which the Company may offer and sell, from time to time, through
the Sales Agents, shares of Common Stock at the market prices prevailing on Nasdaq at the time of the sale of such shares. For the twelve months
ended March 31, 2024, the Company sold 176,751 thousand shares for $1.1 million in net proceeds, respectively, after deduction of commissions and
fees. The ATM Sales Agreement has expired in accordance with its terms.

On May 3, 2024, the Company entered into a Sales Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with A.G.P./Alliance Global Partners and The Benchmark
Company, LLC (collectively, the “Sales Agents”), pursuant to which the Company may offer and sell, from time to time, through the Sales Agents, shares
of its Class A common stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Common Stock”). Shares of Common Stock may be offered and sold for an aggregate
offering price of up to $15 million. The Sales Agents’ obligations to sell shares under the Sales Agreement are subject to satisfaction of certain conditions,
including the continuing effectiveness of the Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-273098) (the “Registration Statement”) filed by
the Company with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on June 30, 2023 and declared effective by the SEC on January 25, 2024,
and other customary closing conditions. The Company will pay the Sales Agents a commission of 3.00% of the aggregate gross proceeds from each sale
of shares and has agreed to provide the Sales Agents with customary indemnification and contribution rights. The Company has also agreed to
reimburse the Sales Agents for certain specified expenses. The Company is not obligated to sell any shares under the Sales Agreement and has not
sold any shares through the date of this report.

The Company will continue to invest in content development and acquisition, from which it believes it will obtain an appropriate return on its investment.
As of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, short term content advances were $9.3 million and $3.7 million, respectively, and content advances, net of
current portion were, $2.6 million and $1.4 million, respectively.

Our capital requirements will depend on many factors, and we may need to use capital resources and obtain additional capital. We believe our cash and
cash equivalent balances as of March 31, 2024 (See Note 8 - Subsequent Events) will be sufficient to support our operations for at least twelve months
from the filing of this report. The Company may also undertake equity or debt offerings, if necessary and opportunistically available, for further capital
needs.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP”). In connection with the preparation of our consolidated financial statements, we are required to make assumptions and estimates about future
events and apply judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and the related disclosures. We base our
assumptions, estimates and judgments on historical experience, current trends and other factors that management believes to be relevant at the time our
consolidated financial statements are prepared. On a regular basis, management reviews the accounting policies, assumptions, estimates and judgments
to ensure that our consolidated financial statements are presented fairly and in accordance with GAAP. However, because future events and their effects
cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could differ from our assumptions and estimates, and such differences could be material.

Our significant accounting policies are discussed in Note 2 — Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Management
believes that the following accounting policies are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial results, and they
require management's most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, resulting from the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are
inherently uncertain. Management has reviewed these critical accounting estimates and related disclosures with the Audit Committee of our Board of
Directors.

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATES
Goodwill

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price paid over the fair value of the net assets of an acquired business. Goodwill is tested for impairment on an
annual basis or more often if warranted by events or changes in circumstances indicating that the carrying value may exceed fair value, also known as
impairment indicators.

Inherent in the fair value determination for each reporting unit are certain judgments and estimates relating to future cash flows, including management’s
interpretation of current economic indicators and market conditions, and assumptions about our strategic plans with regard to its operations. To the extent
additional information arises, market conditions change, or our strategies change, it is possible that the conclusion regarding whether our remaining
goodwill is impaired could change and result in future goodwill impairment charges that will have a material effect on our consolidated financial position or
results of operations.

In certain reporting periods, the Company may have the option to assess goodwill for possible impairment by performing a qualitative analysis to
determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount or to perform the quantitative impairment test.

Property and Equipment, net and Intangible Assets, net

We review the recoverability of our long-lived assets and finite-lived intangible assets, when events or conditions occur that indicate a possible impairment
exists. Determining whether impairment has occurred typically requires various estimates and assumptions, including determining which cash flows are
directly related to the potentially impaired asset, the useful life over which cash flows will occur, their amount and the asset's residual value, if any. The
assessment for recoverability is based primarily on our ability to recover the carrying value of our long-lived and finite-lived assets from expected future
undiscounted net cash flows. If the total of expected future undiscounted net cash flows is less than the total carrying value of the assets the asset is
deemed not to be recoverable and possibly impaired. We then estimate the fair value of the asset to determine whether an impairment loss should be
recognized. An impairment loss will be recognized if the asset’s fair value is determined to be less than its carrying value. Fair value is determined by
computing the expected future discounted cash flows.

In the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, no impairment charges were recorded to intangible assets.
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REVENUE RECOGNITION

We determine revenue recognition by:
sidentifying the contract, or contracts, with the customer;
«identifying the performance obligations in the contract;
«determining the transaction price;
«allocating the transaction price to performance obligations in the contract; and
srecognizing revenue when, or as, we satisfy performance obligations by transferring the promised goods or services.

We recognize revenue in the amount that reflects the consideration we expect to receive in exchange for the services provided, sales of physical
products (DVD'’s and Blu-ray Discs) or when the content is available for subscription on the digital platform or available on the point-of-sale for
transactional and video on demand services which is when the control of the promised products and services is transferred to our customers and our
performance obligations under the contract have been satisfied. Revenues that might be subject to various taxes are recorded net of transaction taxes
assessed by governmental authorities, such as sales value-added taxes and other similar taxes.

Payment terms and conditions vary by customer and typically provide net 30 to 90 day terms. We do not adjust the promised amount of consideration for
the effects of a significant financing component when we expect, at contract inception, that the period between our transfer of a promised product or
service to our customer and payment for that product or service will be one year or less.

Depending upon the nature of the agreements with the platform and content providers, the fee rate that we earn varies. The Company’s performance
obligations include the delivery of content for transactional, subscription and ad supported/free ad-supported streaming TV (“FAST") on the digital
platforms, and shipment of DVDs and Blu-ray Discs. Revenue is recognized at the point in time when the performance obligation is satisfied, which is
when the content is available for subscription on the digital platform, at the time of shipment for physical goods, or point-of-sale for transactional and VOD
services as the control over the content or the physical title is transferred to the customer. The Company considers the delivery of content through
various distribution channels to be a single performance obligation.

Revenue from the sale of physical goods is recognized after deducting reserves for sales returns and other allowances. Reserves for potential sales
returns and other allowances are recorded based upon historical experience. If actual future returns and allowances differ from past experience,
adjustments to our allowances may be required.

For the theatrical distribution of third party feature movies and alternative content, distribution fee revenue and participation in box office receipts are
recognized at the time a feature movie and alternative content are viewed. The Company may have the right to receive or bill a portion of the theatrical
distribution fee in advance of the exhibition date, and therefore such amount is recorded as a receivable at the time of execution, and all related
distribution revenue is deferred until the third party feature movies’ or alternative content’s theatrical release date.

Principal Agent Considerations

We determine whether revenue should be reported on a gross or net basis based on each revenue stream. Key indicators that we use in evaluating
gross versus net treatment include, but are not limited to, the following:

swhich party is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the specified good or service; and
swhich party has discretion in establishing the price for the specified good or service.
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Shipping and Handling

Shipping and handling costs are incurred to move physical goods (e.g., DVDs and Blu-ray Discs) to customers. We recognize all shipping and handling
costs as an expense in direct operating expenses because we are responsible for delivery of the product to our customers prior to transfer of control to
the customer.

Credit Losses

We maintain reserves for expected credit losses on accounts receivable. We review the composition of accounts receivable and analyze historical credit
losses, customer concentrations, customer credit worthiness, current and forecasted economic trends and changes in customer payment patterns to
evaluate the adequacy of this allowance.

Contract Assets and Liabilities

We generally record a receivable related to revenue or a unbilled revenue (contract asset) when we have an unconditional right to invoice and receive
payment. Unbilled revenue includes an accrued revenue, the right to which has been earned at the period end based on completed performance. We
record deferred revenue (contract liability) when cash payments are received or due in advance of our performance, even if amounts are refundable.
Deferred revenue includes payments related to the sale of DVDs with future release dates or subscription dues paid in advance.

Deferred revenue which is short term in nature, carried a balance as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 of $0.4 million and $0.2 million, respectively. For the
years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, the additions to our deferred revenue balance were primarily due to cash payments received or due in advance
of satisfying performance obligations, while the reductions to our deferred revenue balance were primarily due to the recognition of revenue upon
fulfillment of our performance obligations, both of which were in the ordinary course of business.

Participations and Royalties Payable

When we use third parties to distribute company owned content, we record participations payable, which represent amounts owed to the distributor under
revenue-sharing arrangements. When we provide content distribution services, we record accounts payable and accrued expenses to studios or content
producers for royalties owed under licensing arrangements. We identify and record as a reduction to the liability any expenses that are to be reimbursed
to us by such studios or content producers.

ASSET ACQUISITIONS

An asset acquisition is an acquisition of an asset, or a group of assets, that does not meet the definition of a business as substantially all of the fair value
of the gross assets acquired are concentrated in a single or group of similar, identifiable assets. Asset acquisitions are accounted for by using the cost
accumulation model whereby the cost of the acquisition, including certain transaction costs, is allocated to the assets acquired on a relative fair value
basis. Determining the cost of an acquisition may require judgment in certain circumstances depending on the nature of the asset transferred as
consideration.
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Results of Operations for the Fiscal Years Ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands, except where noted below)

Revenues
For the Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2024 2023 $ Change % Change

Streaming and digital $ 37,312 $ 40,423 $ (3,111) (8)%
Base distribution 5,259 13,341 $ (8,082) (61)%
Podcast and other 2,718 2,213 $ 505 23%
Other non-recurring 3,842 12,049 $ (8,207) (68)%
Total Revenue $ 49,131 $ 68,026 $ (18,895) (28y%

For the twelve months ended March 31, 2024, the Company's revenue declined by $18.9 million. The decrease was driven by the decrease in Other non-
recurring revenue, related to the run-off of the Company's legacy digital cinema business. Following the legacy business' active operations' run-off at the
end of fiscal year 2023, the Company had $0.5 million of digital system sales, with the remaining $3.3 million revenue relating to the recognition of
previously constrained variable consideration. The Company does not anticipate this revenue to recur at a substantial level in fiscal year 2025 and
beyond.

In addition, the Company experienced a $8.1 million decline in the Company's base distribution, driven by a $3.8 million decline in theatrical revenue
following fiscal year 2023's theatrical success with films such as Terrifier 2, a $3.0 million decrease in DVD and related supply chain revenue, as the
Company has shifted its focus away from the physical business.

Streaming and digital revenue decreased by $3.1 million, driven by a $6.6 million decrease in AVOD from the headwinds faced in the advertising market,
partially offset by a $2.7 million increase in SVOD and a $0.6 million increase from digital revenue as the Company continued to see the benefits from
recent years' acquisitions, such as DMR, Fandor and Bloody Disgusting, which have contributed value-accretive libraries, distribution platforms and
technologies.

Direct Operating Expenses

For the Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2024 2023 $ Change % Change
Direct operating expenses $ 19,131 $ 36,364 $ (17,233) (47)%

For the twelve months ended March 31, 2024, the Company's direct operating expenses decreased $17.2 million. The decrease was primarily driven by a
$7.0 million reduction in royalties and participation expenses from lower revenue and a $2.3 million decrease in estimated OTT royalty accrual as of
March 31, 2024, $3.1 million in fulfilment and manufacturing costs associated with the decline in the Company's physical distribution business, a $1.9
million decrease in the Company's costs associated with the Company's reserves against advances to partners, and a $0.6 million decrease related to
the estimated Bloody Disgusting earnout liability based on fiscal year 2024 performance.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

For the Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2024 2023 $ Change % Change
Compensation expense 17,756  $ 20,190 $ (2,434) (12)%
Corporate expenses 3,762 5,538 2,777) (32)%
Share-based compensation 1,439 4,807 (3,368) (70)%
Other operating expenses 4,947 6,284 (1,337) (21)%
Selling, General and Administrative $ 27,904 $ 36,819 $ (8,915) (24)%

During the twelve months ended March 31, 2024, the Company's SG&A decreased by $8.9. million relative to the twelve months ended March 31, 2023.

The decrease was primarily related to a decrease in share-based expense of $3.4 million as a result of the US-based workforce reduction, a decline in
stock price, and a number of legacy awards tranches fully vesting.

Compensation expense also declined primarily due to a $2.1 million decrease in employee wage, tax, and benefit-related expenses as a result of the
lower cost from a shift in employees to Cineverse Services India, and a reduction in the Company's bonus expense of $1.1 million based on fiscal year
2024 performance, partially offset by a $0.5 million increase in severance expense.

Corporate expenses declined by $1.8 million primarily decreased due to a corporate focus on reducing third-party costs due to the Company's cost-saving
initiatives, including $1.1 million in consulting and service providers and legal costs in the amount of $0.9 million.

Other operating expense declined by $1.3, which includes $0.9 million from decreased legal settlement costs and $0.8 million reduction in direct
marketing campaigns.

Depreciation and Amortization

For the Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2024 2023 $ Change % Change
Amortization of intangible assets $ 3,196 $ 2,888 $ 308 11%
Depreciation of property and equipment 575 875 (300) (34)%
Depreciation and Amortization $ 3771  $ 3,763 $ 8 0%

Depreciation expense decreased primarily due to the remainder of our digital cinema assets reaching the conclusion of their ten-year useful lives during
the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023. Amortization expense has continued to increase as a result of the Company's shift away from the physical
business to its focus on content-related spend, including $0.2 million from the amortization of capitalized content costs.

Goodwill impairment

For the twelve months ended March 31, 2024, the Company recognized an impairment on its carrying value of goodwill in the amount of $14.0 million
following a sustained depressed share price for the Company's fiscal year 2024, which was deemed a triggering event. In accordance with process
outlined in ASC 350, the Company first determined that its finite long-lived assets were recoverable. The impairment was quantified using a market
multiple approach which utilized information from comparable businesses. The Company does not anticipate any material change to future operating
cash flows as a result of the impairment recognized.
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Interest expense

Interest expense decreased by $0.2 million to $1.1 million for the twelve months ended March 31, 2024 primarily as a result of lower deferred and earnout
consideration accretion related to the acquisitions of Bloody Disgusting and DMR.

Loss from equity investment in Metaverse, a related party

Following the halting of trading on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in April 2022, the Company valued our equity investment in Metaverse as
of March 31, 2023 using a market approach and categorized it as a Level 3 investment (See Note 2, Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies). As of March 31, 2023, the fair value was $5.2 million, resulting in a decrease in fair value of $1.8 million for the year ended March
31, 2023.

On November 6, 2023, Metaverse's stock resumed trading on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. During the year ended March 31, 2024, the
Company sold 220,550,005 of its original 362,307,397 million shares held as of March 31, 2023, which resulted in a realized loss of $0.3 thousand during
the twelve months ended March 31, 2024. The resumption of active trading status represented renewed availability of quoted, unadjusted prices in active
markets for identical assets, upon which the Company can execute a sale and readily access pricing information at the measurement date. Accordingly,
the Company has presented the fair value of its Metaverse shares held as of March 31, 2024 within the Level 1 grouping. The fair value of the shares
held as of March 31, 2024 was $0.4 million, with associated losses of $4.3 million recognized during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024.

Employee Retention Tax Credit

The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the "CARES Act") provided an employee retention credit that was a refundable tax credit against
certain employment taxes. The Consolidated Appropriations Act (the "Appropriations Act") extended and expanded the availability of the employee
retention credit through December 31, 2021. The Appropriations Act amended the employee retention credit to be equal to 70% of qualified wages paid to
employees during the 2021 fiscal year.

The Company qualified for the employee retention credit beginning in June 2020 for qualified wages through September 2021 and filed a cash refund
claim during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023 in the amount of $2.5 million in the Employee retention tax credit line on the Company’s Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

As of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, the tax credit receivable of $1.7 and $2.1 million, respectively, has been included in the Employee retention
tax credit line on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet. The Company received notification during the second quarter of fiscal year 2024 that its

ERTC claim was under examination with the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS"). In April 2024, the Company received a letter from the IRS indicating that
its claim had been accepted and $1.7 million was received in June 2024.

Income Tax Expense

For the year ended March 31, 2024, the Company had income tax expense of $10 thousand consisted of $35 thousand of current foreign income taxes,
offset by the recognition of a $14 thousand deferred tax benefit, and a tax benefit of $11 thousand for a return to provision adjustment related to U.S.
state income taxes.

Adjusted EBITDA

We define Adjusted EBITDA to be earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, other income, net, stock-based compensation and
expenses, merger and acquisition costs, restructuring, transition and acquisitions expense, net, goodwill impairment and non-recurring items.

Adjusted EBITDA is not a measurement of financial performance under GAAP and may not be comparable to other similarly titted measures of other
companies. We use Adjusted EBITDA as a financial metric to measure the
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financial performance of the business because management believes it provides additional information with respect to the performance of its fundamental
business activities. For this reason, we believe Adjusted EBITDA will also be useful to others, including its stockholders, as a valuable financial metric.

We present Adjusted EBITDA because we believe that Adjusted EBITDA is a useful supplement to net income (loss) from continuing operations as an
indicator of operating performance. We also believe that Adjusted EBITDA is a financial measure that is useful both to management and investors when
evaluating our performance and comparing our performance with that of our competitors. We also use Adjusted EBITDA for planning purposes and to
evaluate our financial performance because Adjusted EBITDA excludes certain incremental expenses or non-cash items, such as stock-based
compensation charges, that we believe are not indicative of our ongoing operating performance.

We believe that Adjusted EBITDA is a performance measure and not a liquidity measure, and therefore a reconciliation between net loss from continuing
operations and Adjusted EBITDA has been provided in the financial results. Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as an alternative to loss from
operations or net loss from continuing operations as an indicator of performance or as an alternative to cash flows from operating activities as an
indicator of cash flows, in each case as determined in accordance with GAAP, or as a measure of liquidity. In addition, Adjusted EBITDA does not take
into account changes in certain assets and liabilities as well as interest and income taxes that can affect cash flows. We do not intend the presentation of
these non-GAAP measures to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for results prepared in accordance with GAAP. These non-GAAP measures
should be read only in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP.

Following is the reconciliation of our consolidated net loss to Adjusted EBITDA (in thousands):

For the Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2024 2023

Net loss $ (21,265) $ (9,694)

Add Back:
Income tax expense 10 119
Depreciation and amortization 3,771 3,763
Interest expense 1,066 1,290
Loss from equity investment in Metaverse 4,299 1,828
Provision for credit losses — 54
Stock-based compensation 1,439 4,470
Employee retention tax credit — (2,475)
Other (income) expense, net (140) 13
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest (242) (39)
Goodwill impairment 14,025 —
Transition-related costs 1,335 541
Mergers and acquisition costs — 207

Adjusted EBITDA $ 4,398 $ 76

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 - Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial statements included herein.
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Cash Flow

Changes in our cash flows were as follows (in thousands):

For the Fiscal Year Ended

March 31,
2024 2023
Net cash used in operating activities (10,593) $ (8,797)
Net cash used in investing activities (531) (1,271)
Net cash provided by financing activities 9,138 4,158
Net change in cash and cash equivalents $ (1,985) $ (5,910)

As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, we had cash balances of $5.2 million and $7.2 million, respectively.

For the year ended March 31, 2024, the change in net cash used in operating activities was primarily driven by a net loss of $21.3 million and decreases
from the Company's operating assets and liabilities ($11.5 million), offset by the non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $14.0 million, depreciation and
amortization of $3.8 million, and the non-cash change in the valuation of the Company's investment in Metaverse which is recognized in earnings ($4.3

million).

Cash flows used in investing activities of $0.5 million were driven by the acquisition of long-lived fixed and intangible assets, partially offset by cash
received from the sale of Company shares in Metaverse.

Cash flows provided by financing activities were driven by issuance of the Company's Class A common stock in the first quarter of fiscal year 2024 ($8.5
million) and a net increase of $1.4 million funds, following the Company's expansion of its revolving line of credit from $5.0 million to $7.5 million in
February 2024.

For the year ended March 31, 2023, net cash used by operating activities was primarily driven by a net loss ($9.7 million), offset by non-cash expenses of
stock based compensation ($4.4 million), allowance against advances, a decrease in the valuation of the Company's investment in Metaverse, and non-
cash interest expense. The Company's changes in working capital also contributed to cash used operations, highlighted by a decrease in accounts
payable and accrued expenses by $18.0 million, offset by a decrease in accounts receivable by $9.9 million, due to the continued growth in streaming.

Cash flows used in investing activities consisted of purchases of property and equipment of $0.7 million, and expenditures to acquire intangible assets of
$0.6 million.

Cash flows provided by financing activities consisted of drawdowns under the line of credit of $31.0 million and corresponding repayments of $26.0 million.
Additionally, the Company paid $0.7 million in acquisition-related liabilities and $0.2 million for deferred financing fees.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our significant recognized contractual obligations as of March 31, 2024 (in thousands):

Payments Due
Contractual Obligations Total 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Thereafter
Operating lease obligations $ 905 $ 423 $ 200 $ 210 $ 72 $ — $ =

In addition, the Company presents its unrecognized commitments to content partners in the notes to the Financial Statements, Note 6 - Commitments
and Contingencies.

Seasonality

The timing of movie and streaming content releases can have a significant effect on our results of operations, and the results of one quarter are not
necessarily indicative of results for the next quarter or any other quarter. While our business benefits from the winter holiday season, we believe the
seasonality of the movie and streaming landscape,
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is becoming less pronounced as the motion picture studios are releasing movies somewhat more evenly throughout the year.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We are not a party to any off-balance sheet arrangements. In addition, as discussed further in Note 2 - Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies and Note 3 - Other Interests to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we hold
a 100% equity interest in CDF2 Holdings, which is an unconsolidated variable interest entity (“VIE"), which wholly owns CDF2; however, we are not the
primary beneficiary of the VIE.

Impact of Inflation

The impact of inflation on our operations has not been significant to date. However, there can be no assurance that a sustained high rate of inflation in the
future would not have an adverse impact on our operating results.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Cineverse Corp.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cineverse Corp. (the “Company”) as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years then ended, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of the Company as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company'’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2)
involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our
opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on
the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Gooawill Impairment Assessment

As discussed in Note 2, the Company performs goodwill impairment testing on an annual basis on March 31 at the end of its fiscal year or when events
occur or circumstances change that would indicate the carrying value exceeds the
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fair value. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of a reporting unit's net assets exceeds the estimated fair value of the reporting
unit. These estimates are subject to significant management judgment, including the determination of many factors such as, but not limited to, selection of
the appropriate valuation model in estimating the fair value and selection of guideline peer public companies. Changes in these estimates can have a
significant impact on the determination of cash flows and the resulting fair values. During the fourth quarter of the year ended March 31, 2024, the
Company determined that the Company’s declining stock price was a triggering event which required a quantitative evaluation of goodwill at March 31,
2024. As part of their quantitative assessment, the fair value was determined using a market approach. Based on the impairment test performed, the
Company recorded a $14.0 million impairment charge.

We identified the goodwill impairment assessment as a critical audit matter because of the significant management judgment and subjectivity in
developing the fair value measurement of the reporting unit. This required a high degree of auditor judgment and an increase in audit effort to perform
procedures and evaluate audit evidence related to the consideration of the valuation model selected by management, the consideration of the
reasonableness of the guideline peer public companies selected and consideration of the market capitalization of the Company in relation to the
estimated fair value.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. These procedures included, among others, (i) obtaining an understanding of management’s process and evaluating the design of
controls related to the goodwill impairment assessment; (ii) testing management’s process for developing the fair value estimate; (iii) evaluating the
appropriateness of the valuation model used in management’s estimate; (iv) testing the completeness, accuracy, and evaluating the reconciliation of
estimated fair value to the Company’s stock price in relation to relevant transactions. We involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and
knowledge when performing audit procedures to evaluate the reasonableness of Management's estimates and assumptions related to the selection the
appropriate valuation model and reconciliation of fair value to the Company’s stock price.

/SIEISNERAMPER LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2004.

EISNERAMPER LLP
Iselin, New Jersey
July 1, 2024
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Cineverse Corp.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except for share and per share data)

March 31,
2024 2023
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5167 $ 7,152
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for credit losses of $269 and $0, respectively 8,667 20,846
Unbilled revenue 6,439 2,036
Employee retention tax credit 1,671 2,085
Content advances 9,345 3,724
Other current assets 1,432 1,734
Total current assets 32,721 37,577
Equity investment in Metaverse, a related party, at fair value 362 5,200
Property and equipment, net 2,276 1,833
Intangible assets, net 18,328 19,868
Goodwill 6,799 20,824
Content advances, net of current portion 2,551 1,421
Other long-term assets 1,341 1,265
Total Assets $ 64,378 $ 87,988
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 20,817 $ 34,531
Line of credit, including unamortized debt issuance costs of $81 and $76, respectively 6,301 4,924
Current portion of deferred consideration on purchase of business 3,114 3,788
Earnout consideration on purchase of business 180 1,444
Current portion of operating lease liabilities 401 418
Deferred revenue 436 226
Total current liabilities 31,249 45,331
Deferred consideration on purchase of business, net of current portion 457 2,647
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion 462 863
Other long-term liabilities 59 74
Total Liabilities 32,227 48,915
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 6)
Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, 15,000,000 shares authorized; Series A 10% - $0.001 par value per share; 20 shares
authorized; 7 shares issued and 7 shares outstanding at March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023. 3,559 3,559
Liquidation preference of $3,648.
Common Stock, $0.001 par value; Class A Stock: 275,000,000 shares authorized as of March 31, 2024,
and March 31, 2023; 15,985,620 and 9,413,597 shares issued, with 15,699,135 and 9,347,805 shares 194 185
outstanding as of March 31, 2024, and March 31, 2023, respectively.
Additional paid-in capital 545,996 530,998
Treasur_y stock, at cost; 288,554 and 65,792 shares at March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, (11,078) (11,608)
respectively.
Accumulated deficit (504,153) (482,395)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (345) (402)
Total stockholders’ equity of Cineverse Corp. 33,273 40,337
Deficit attributable to noncontrolling interest (1,122) (1,264)
Total equity 32,151 39,073
Total Liabilities and Equity $ 64,378 $ 87,988

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Cineverse Corp.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except for per share data)

For the Fiscal Year Ended

March 31,
2024 2023

Revenues $ 49,131 $ 68,026
Costs and expenses

Direct operating 19,131 36,364

Selling, general and administrative 27,904 36,819

Depreciation and amortization 3,771 3,763

Goodwill impairment 14,025 —
Total operating expenses 64,831 76,946
Operating loss (15,700) (8,920)

Interest expense (1,066) (1,290)

Loss from equity investment in Metaverse, a related party (4,299) (1,828)

Employee retention tax credit — 2,475

Other expenses, net (190) (13)
Net loss before income taxes (21,255) (9,575)

Income tax expense (10) (119)
Net loss (21,265) (9,694)
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest (142) (39)
Net loss attributable to controlling interests (21,407) (9,734)

Preferred stock dividends (350) (351)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (21,757) % (10,085)
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders:

Basic $ 178) $ (1.13)

Diluted $ 178) $ (1.13)
Weighted average shares of Common Stock outstanding:

Basic 12,253 8,889

Diluted 12,253 8,889

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Cineverse Corp.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands)

Net loss $
Other comprehensive loss:

Foreign exchange translation

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest
Comprehensive loss $

For the Fiscal Year Ended

March 31,
2024 2023
(21,265) $ (9,694)
57 (239)
(142) (39)
(21,350) $ (9,973)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Cineverse Corp.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of goodwill
Changes in fair value of equity investment in Metaverse
Amortization of debt issuance costs
Stock-based compensation
Change in estimated earnout consideration
Interest expense for deferred consideration and earnouts
Capitalized content expenditures
Stock-based bonus to acquired company
Revenue recognized under nonmonetary purchase and exchange of content
Barter-related non-cash expenses
Other
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Content advances
Unbilled revenue
Other current and long-term assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Sale of investment securities
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from line of credit
Payments on line of credit
Payment of business acquisition related liabilities
Financing fees for line of credit
Issuance of Class A common stock, net of issuance costs
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the Fiscal Year Ended

March 31,

2024
(21,265)

3,771
14,025
4,299
188
1,439
612)
503
(1,822)
100
341
(16)

11,969
(5,621)
(4,403)

(942)

(12,756)

210
(10,593)

(1,069)
538
(531)

43,955
42,572)
(576)
(193)
8,524
9,138
(1,985)
7,152
5,167

$

2023

(9,694)

3,829
1,828
101
4,470
80
986

(1,022)

130

9,943
1,075
313
(2,816)
(18,049)
30
(8,796)

(1,271)

(1,271)

31,046
(26,046)
(665)
177)
4,158
(5,910)
13,062
7,152




Cineverse Corp.
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION AND DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITY
(In thousands)

For the Fiscal Year Ended

March 31,
2024 2023

Cash interest paid $ 376 $ 203
Lease liability related payments $ 446  $ 373
Income taxes paid $ 5 $ 98
Noncash investing and financing activities:

Issuance of Class A common stock for payment of accrued employee bonuses $ 1,203 $ =

Accrued dividends on preferred stock $ 89 % 87

Issuance of Class A common stock for intangible asset purchase $ — 3 898

Right of use assets recognized underlying lease arrangements $ — 3 781

Treasury shares acquired for withholding taxes $ 370 % 5

Deferred consideration settled in stock $ 3,000 $ 3,000

Earnout liability settled in stock $ 392 $ 238

Issuance of Class A common stock for payment of accrued preferred stock dividends $ 350 $ 351

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Balances as of March 31, 2023

Foreign exchange translation
Stock-based compensation
Preferred stock dividends paid with
common stock

Preferred stock dividends accrued
Issuance of common stock for
Board of Director compensation

Issuance of Class A common stock
in connection with ATM raises, net

Issuance of Class A common stock
in connection with direct equity
offering

Issuance of Class A common stock
in connection employee bonuses
Issuance in connection with the
exercise of warrants

Issuance of Class A common stock
for earnout commitment

Treasury stock in connection with
taxes withheld from employees

Issuance of common stock for
deferred and earnout consideration

Net loss (income)

Balances as of March 31, 2024

Preferred Stock

Amo

Shares unt
35

1 $

59

1 838

59

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Cineverse Corp.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

(In thousands)

Additio

nal
Common Stock Treasury Paid-In

Amo Amou

Shares unt Shares nt Capital
11,6 530,99

9,348 $185 66 $ s $ '
08) 8
— — — — 1,271
196 0 = = 350
400 = = = 168
177 3 — — 1,080
2,150 2 = = 7,437
725 1 — — 1,203
517 = = = =
41 — — — 392
(223) = 223 (370) =
2,369 3 — — 3,097
15,69 $ 194 289 $ (11,9) $545,99
9 78 6
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Accumul

$

$

ated

Deficit

(482,39
5

(21,407

(504,15

)

)

3

Accumu
lated
Other

Compre

hensive

Loss

Total
Stockho
Iders’

Equity

$ (402) $ 40,337

57

57
1,271

350
(350
168

1,084

7,439

1,203

392
(370

3,100

(21,40
7

$ (345) $33,273

Non
Controll
ing
Interest

$ (1,264) $

) —

) —

) 142

$ (1122) $

Total
39,07
3
57
1,271

350
(350
168

1,084

7,439

1,203

392
(370

3,100
(21,26
5

32,15
1

)

)

)



Balances as of March 31, 2022

Foreign exchange translation
Stock-based compensation
Preferred stock dividends paid
with common stock
Preferred stock dividends
accrued
Issuance of common stock for
with PSUs and incentives, net of
payroll taxes
Issuance of common stock for
earnout commitment
Issuance of common stock for
Board of Director compensation
Issuance of common stock for
acquisition
Net loss (income)

Balances as of March 31, 2023

Cineverse Corp.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
(In thousands)

Total
Addition Accumul Stockhol Non-
Series A Class A Treasury al Accumul ated ders’ Control
Preferred Stock Common Stock Stock Paid-In ated Other Equity ling Total
Compre
Amou Amou Amoun hensive Interes
Shares nt Shares nt Shares t Capital Deficit Loss (Deficit) t Equity

3,55 (11,6 522,60 (472,3 (1,30

1 $ 9 8,766 $ 174 66 $ 08) $ 1 3 10) $ (163) $ 42253 $  3) 40,950

— — — — — — — — (239) (239) — (239)

_ — = — — — 3,045 — — 3,045 = 3,045

— — 37 — — — 351 — — 351 — 351

— — — — — — — (351) — (351) — (351)

— — 103 2 — — 871 — — 873 — 873

— — 17 — — — 238 — — 238 — 238

— — 34 1 — — — — — 1 — 1

— — 391 8 — — 3,892 — — 3,900 — 3,900

— — — — — — — (9,734) — (9,734) 39 (9,694)
3,55 (11,6 530,99 (482,3 (1,26

1 $ 9 9,348 $ 185 66 $ 08) $ 8 3 95) $ (402y $ 40337 $ 4y 39,073

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Cineverse Corp.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND LIQUIDITY

Cineverse Corp. (“Cineverse”, “us”, "we", “our”, and “Company” refers to Cineverse Corp. and its subsidiaries unless the context otherwise requires) was
incorporated in Delaware on March 31, 2000.

Cineverse is a premier streaming technology and entertainment company with its core business operating as (i) a portfolio of owned and operated
streaming channels with enthusiast fan bases; (ii) a large-scale global aggregator and full-service distributor of feature films and television programs; and
(iii) a proprietary technology software-as-a-service platform for over-the-top (“OTT") app development and content distribution through subscription video
on demand ("SVOD"), dedicated ad-supported ("AVOD"), ad-supported streaming linear ("FAST") channels, social video streaming services, and audio
podcasts. Our streaming channels reach audiences in several distinct ways: direct-to-consumer, through these major application platforms, and through
third party distributors of content on platforms.

The Company'’s streaming technology platform, known as MatchpointTM, is a software-based streaming operating platform which provides clients with
AVOD, SVOD, transactional video on demand ("TVOD") and linear capabilities, automates the distribution of content, and features a robust data analytics
platform.

Financial Condition and Liquidity

As of March 31, 2024, the Company has an accumulated deficit of $504.2 million. For the year ended March 31, 2024, the Company had a net loss
attributable to common shareholders of $21.8 million. Though the Company had positive working capital of $1.5 million, net cash used in operating
activities for the year ended March 31, 2024 was $10.6 million. We may continue to generate net losses for the foreseeable future.

The Company is party to a Loan, Guaranty, and Security Agreement, as amended to date, with East West Bank (“EWB”) providing for a revolving line of
credit (the “Line of Credit Facility”) of $7.5 million, guaranteed by substantially all of our material subsidiaries and secured by substantially all of our and
such subsidiaries’ assets. The Line of Credit Facility bears interest at a rate equal to 1.5% above the prime rate, equal to 10.00% as of March 31, 2024. In
June 2024, the Company was notified in writing by EWB that it intends to extend the maturity date of the Line of Credit Facility to September 15, 2025,
subject to definitive documentation. For the year ended March 31, 2024, the Company was out of compliance with its covenants, and received a waiver
in June 2024.

Our capital requirements will depend on many factors, and we may need to use capital resources and obtain additional capital. We believe our cash and
cash equivalent balances as of March 31, 2024 (See Note 8 - Subsequent Events) will be sufficient to support our operations for at least twelve months
from the filing of this report. The Company may also undertake equity or debt offerings, if necessary and opportunistically available, for further capital
needs.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Cineverse Corp. have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States (“GAAP”). These consolidated financial Statements have been prepared by the Company following the rules and regulations of the
SEC. Allintercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. Certain columns and rows may not add due to rounded
numbers.

We own an 85% interest in CON TV, LLC ("CONtv"), a worldwide digital network that creates original content, and sells and distributes on-demand digital
content on the internet and other consumer digital distribution platforms,
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such as gaming consoles, set-top boxes, handsets, and tablets. We evaluated the investment under the voting interest entity model and determined that
the entity should be consolidated as we have a controlling financial interest in the entity through our ownership of outstanding voting shares, and that

other equity holders do not have substantive voting, participating or liquidation rights. We record net income or loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
in our Consolidated Statements of Operations equal to the proportionate share of outstanding profit interest units retained by the noncontrolling interests.

We indirectly own 100% of the common equity of CDF2 Holdings, LLC (“CDF2 Holdings”), which was created for the purpose of capitalizing on the
conversion of the exhibition industry from film to digital technology. CDF2 Holdings assists its customers in procuring the equipment necessary to convert
their systems to digital technology by providing financing, equipment, installation and related ongoing services.

CDF2 Holdings is a Variable Interest Entity (“VIE"), as defined in Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 810, Consolidation ("ASC 810"). ASC 810
requires the consolidation of VIEs by an entity that has a controlling financial interest in the VIE which entity is thereby defined as the primary beneficiary
of the VIE. To be a primary beneficiary, an entity must have the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the VIE's economic
performance, among other factors. Although we indirectly, wholly own CDF2 Holdings, we, a third party that also has a variable interest in CDF2
Holdings, and an independent third party manager must mutually approve all business activities and transactions that significantly impact CDF2 Holdings’
economic performance. We have therefore assessed our variable interests in CDF2 Holdings and determined that we are not the primary beneficiary of
CDF2 Holdings. As a result, CDF2 Holdings’ financial position and results of operations are not consolidated in our financial position and results of
operations. In completing our assessment, we identified the activities that we consider most significant to the economic performance of CDF2 Holdings
and determined that we do not have the power to direct those activities, and therefore we account for our investment in CDF2 Holdings under the equity
method of accounting.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect
the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions
include revenue recognition, share-based compensation expense, valuation allowance for deferred income taxes, recovery of content advances, goodwill
and intangible asset impairments, estimated royalties payable to content partners, and the assessment of amortization lives to intangible assets. The
Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that the Company believes to be reasonable under the
circumstances. On a regular basis, the Company evaluates the assumptions, judgments and estimates. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation.
Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be “cash equivalents.” We maintain bank accounts with major
banks, which from time to time may exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation’s insured limits. We periodically assess the financial condition of
the institutions and believe that the risk of any loss is minimal.

Non-monetary Transactions

During the year ended March 31, 2023, the Company entered into a non-monetary transaction for the purchase and sale of content licenses with an
unrelated third party. The fair value of the content was based on a market approach and determined to be $1.0 million which is included in Revenues in
our Consolidated Statements of Operations. No gain or loss was recognized, as the fair value of the content licenses purchased was determined to be
$1.0 million and recognized within Intangible Assets, Net on our Consolidated Balance Sheets, and will be amortized over its
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three year estimated life. For the years ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, $341 thousand and $85 thousand of related amortization expense
had been recognized, respectively.

Accounts Receivable, Net

We maintain reserves for expected credit losses on accounts receivable. We review the composition of accounts receivable and analyze historical credit
losses, customer concentrations, customer credit worthiness, current and forecasted economic trends and changes in customer payment patterns to
evaluate the adequacy of this allowance.

During the year ended March 31, 2024, the Company had no write-offs of previously reserved accounts receivable and as of March 31, 2024, accrued an
allowance for expected credit losses of $0.3 million. During the year ended March 31, 2023, the Company had written off $2.8 million of previously
reserved accounts receivable balances and as of March 31, 2023, carried an allowance for credit losses of $0.

Employee Retention Tax Credit

The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the "CARES Act") provided an employee retention credit which was a refundable tax credit
against certain employment taxes. The Consolidated Appropriations Act (the "Appropriations Act") extended and expanded the availability of the
employee retention credit through December 31, 2021. The Appropriations Act amended the employee retention credit to be equal to 70% of qualified
wages paid to employees during the 2021 fiscal year.

The Company qualified for the employee retention credit beginning in June 2020 for qualified wages through September 2021 and filed a cash refund
claim during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023 in the amount of $2.5 million in the Employee retention tax credit line on the Company’s Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

As of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, the tax credit receivable of $1.7 and $2.1 million, respectively, has been included in the Employee retention
tax credit line ("ERTC") on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet. The Company received notification during the second quarter of fiscal year 2024
that its ERTC claim was under examination with the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS"). In April 2024, the Company received a letter from the IRS
indicating that its claim had been accepted and $1.7 million was received in June 2024.

Content Advances

Content advances represents amounts prepaid to studios or content producers for which we provide content distribution services. We evaluate advances
regularly for recoverability and record a provision for amounts that we expect may not be recoverable. Amounts which are expected to be recovered
within 12 months are classified as current, which were $9.3 million and $3.7 million as of March 31, 2024, and March 31, 2023, respectively. Amounts
estimated to be recoverable in more than 12 months are classified as long term and presented within content advances, net of current portion, which were
$2.6 million and $1.4 million as of March 31, 2024, and March 31, 2023, respectively. For the twelve months ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023,
the Company recorded a recovery and increase in the provision for advances of $0.5 million and $1.3 million, respectively.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation expense is recorded using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets, with useful life ranges by major asset class as follows:

Computer equipment and software 3-5years
Internal use software 3-5years
Machinery and equipment 3-10years
Furniture and fixtures 2 - 7years
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We capitalize costs associated with software developed or obtained for internal use when the preliminary project stage is completed, and it is determined
that the software will provide significantly enhanced capabilities and modifications. These capitalized costs are included in property and equipment and
include external direct cost of services procured in developing or obtaining internal-use software and personnel and related expenses for employees who
are directly associated with, and who devote time to internal-use software projects. Capitalization of these costs ceases once the project is substantially
complete and the software is ready for its intended use. Once the software is ready for its intended use, the costs are amortized over the useful life of the
software on a straight-line basis. Post-configuration training and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

Intangible Assets, Net

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization. For intangible assets that have finite lives, the assets are amortized using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets.

During both of the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, we did not record any impairment.

Amortization expense is recorded using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets as follows:

Content Library 3-20years
Trademarks and Tradenames 2 —15years
Customer Relationships 5-13years
Advertiser Relationships and Channel 2 -13years
Software 10 years
Capitalized Content 3years
Supplier Agreements 2 years

The Company’s intangible assets include the following (in thousands):

As of March 31, 2024
Accumulated

Cost Basis Amortization Net
Content Library $ 24,133 % (21,492) $ 2,641
Advertiser Relationships and Channel 12,603 (2,541) 10,062
Customer Relationships 8,690 (7,872) 818
Software 3,200 (880) 2,320
Trademark and Tradenames 3,914 (3,059) 855
Capitalized Content 1,822 (190) 1,632
Total Intangible Assets $ 54,362 $ (36,034) $ 18,328

As of March 31, 2023
Accumulated

Cost Basis Amortization Net
Content Library $ 23970 $ (21,126) $ 2,844
Advertiser Relationships and Channel 12,604 (1,062) 11,542
Supplier Agreements 11,430 (11,430) —
Customer Relationships 10,658 (9,568) 1,090
Trademark and Tradenames 4,026 (2,274) 1,752
Software 3,200 (560) 2,640
Total Intangible Assets $ 65,888 $ (46,020) $ 19,868
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As of March 31, 2024, amortization expense for each of the successive five years is expected to be (in thousands):

Total
In-process intangible assets 448
2025 3,186
2026 3,006
2027 2,225
2028 1,356
2029 1,356
Thereafter 6,751
Total $ 18,328

Capitalized Content

The Company capitalizes direct costs incurred in the production of content from which it expects to generate a return over the anticipated useful life and
the Company’s predominant monetization strategy informs the method of amortizing these deferred costs. The determination of the predominant
monetization strategy is made at commencement of the production or license period and the classification of the monetization strategy as individual or
group only changes if there is a significant change to the title’s monetization strategy relative to its initial assessment. The costs are capitalized to the
Capitalized Content costs within Intangible Assets and are amortized as a group within Depreciation and Amortization within the Consolidated Statements
of Operations.

Impairment of Long-lived and Finite-lived Intangible Assets

We review the recoverability of our long-lived assets and finite-lived intangible assets, when events or conditions occur that indicate a possible impairment
exists. The assessment for recoverability is based primarily on our ability to recover the carrying value of our long-lived and finite-lived assets from
expected future undiscounted net cash flows. If the total of expected future undiscounted net cash flows is less than the total carrying value of the asset,
the asset is deemed not to be recoverable and possibly impaired. We then estimate the fair value of the asset to determine whether an impairment loss
should be recognized. An impairment loss will be recognized if the asset’s fair value is determined to be less than its carrying value. Fair value is
determined by computing the expected future discounted cash flows. There were no impairment charges recorded for long-lived and finite-lived intangible
assets during the twelve months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.

Gooawill

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price paid over the fair value of the net assets of an acquired business. Goodwill is tested for impairment on an
annual basis or more often if warranted by events or changes in circumstances indicating that the carrying value may exceed fair value, also known as
impairment indicators.

Inherent in the fair value determination for each reporting unit are certain judgments and estimates relating to future cash flows, including management’s
interpretation of current economic indicators and market conditions, and assumptions about our strategic plans with regard to its operations. To the extent
additional information arises, market conditions change, or our strategies change, it is possible that the conclusion regarding whether our remaining
goodwill is impaired could change and result in future goodwill impairment charges that will have a material effect on our consolidated financial position or
results of operations.

The Company has the option to assess goodwill for possible impairment by performing a qualitative analysis to determine if it is more likely than not that
the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount or to perform the quantitative impairment test. For the twelve months ended March 31,
2024, the Company recognized a goodwill impairment loss of $14.0 million. The Company considered the sustained decrease in its share price to be a
goodwill impairment indicator and determined that it would be appropriate to proceed with a quantitative test. Primarily utilizing a market-multiple
approach, which took into account the sustained decrease in share price, the Company determined that goodwill impairment of $14.0 million would be
recognized.
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For the twelve months ended March 31, 2023, the Company assessed goodwill impairment on its annual measurement date of March 31, 2023 by
performing a qualitative analysis and determined that it was not more likely than not that the fair value of its reporting unit was greater than its carrying
amount. During the year ended March 31, 2023, the Company recorded a purchase price adjustment to reduce Goodwill by $260 thousand.

No goodwill impairment charge was recorded for the twelve months ended March 31, 2023.
Fair Value Measurements

The authoritative guidance on fair value measurements establishes a framework with respect to measuring assets and liabilities at fair value on a
recurring basis and non-recurring basis, within ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement. Under the framework, fair value is defined as the exit price, or the
amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants, as of the measurement
date. The framework also establishes a three-tier hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and
minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be used when available. Observable inputs are inputs market
participants would use in valuing the asset or liability and are developed based on market data obtained from sources independent of the Company.
Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the Company’s assumptions about the factors market participants would use in valuing the asset or liability
and are developed based on the best information available in the circumstances. The hierarchy consists of the following three levels:

sLevel 1 — quoted prices in active markets for identical investments
sLevel 2 — other significant observable inputs (including quoted prices for similar investments and market corroborated inputs)
sLevel 3 — significant unobservable inputs (including our own assumptions in determining the fair value of investments)

The following tables summarize the levels of fair value measurements of our financial assets and liabilities (in thousands):

As of March 31, 2024

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Equity investment in Metaverse, at fair value $ 362 % — % — 8 362
$ 362 $ —  $ —  $ 362
Liabilities:
Earnout consideration on purchase of a business $ — 3 — 3 180 $ 180
$ — % —  $ 180 $ 180
As of March 31, 2023
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Equity investment in Metaverse, at fair value $ — 3 — 3 5200 $ 5,200
$ — % — % 5200 $ 5,200
Liabilities:
Earnout consideration on purchase of a business $ — % — % 1,444  $ 1,444
$ — —  $ 1,444  $ 1,444




Equity Investment in Metaverse

On February 14, 2020, the Company acquired an approximate 11.5% interest in A Metaverse Company (“Metaverse”), a publicly traded Chinese
entertainment company, formerly Starrise Media Holdings Limited, whose ordinary shares are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong. The Company
acquired such interest as a strategic investment and in a private transaction from a shareholder of Metaverse that is related to our major shareholders.
Our major shareholders also maintain a significant beneficial interest ownership in Metaverse.

On April 10, 2020, the Company purchased an additional 15% interest in Metaverse in a private transaction from shareholders of Metaverse that are
affiliated with the major shareholder of the Company. The Company recorded an additional equity investment of approximately $28.2 million, which was
the fair market value of the Metaverse shares on the transaction date on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong, in exchange for the Company’s common
stock of $11.0 million, valued at the date of the issuance of the Common Stock of the Company. The difference in the value of shares received in
Metaverse and shares issued by the Company was deemed as contributed capital and recorded in additional paid-in capital. This transaction was also
recorded as an equity investment in Metaverse.

The Company accounted for this investment under the equity method of accounting as the Company was deemed to be able to exert significant influence
over Metaverse with its direct ownership and affiliation with the Company’s majority shareholders. At the time, the Company made an irrevocable election
to apply the fair value option under ASC 825-10, Financial Instruments, as it relates to its equity investment in Metaverse.

Following the halting of Metaverse stock trading on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong in April 2022, the Company valued our equity investment in
Metaverse using a market approach and is categorized as a Level 3 valuation based on unobservable inputs. The Company estimated the fair value of
Metaverse based on the last known enterprise value at the time and then adjusting for trends in enterprise valuations for comparable companies. As of
March 31, 2023, the fair value was $5.2 million, resulting in a decrease in fair value of $1.8 million for the year ended March 31, 2023.

On November 6, 2023, Metaverse's stock resumed trading on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. During the year ended March 31, 2024, the
Company sold 221 million of its original 362 million shares held as of March 31, 2023, which resulted in a realized loss of $0.3 thousand during the twelve
months ended March 31, 2024. The resumption of active trading status represented renewed availability of quoted, unadjusted prices in active markets
for identical assets, upon which the Company can execute a sale and readily access pricing information at the measurement date. Accordingly, the
Company has presented the fair value of its Metaverse shares held as of March 31, 2024 within the Level 1 grouping. The fair value of the shares held

as of March 31, 2024 was $0.4 million, with associated losses of $4.3 million recognized during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024.

As a result of the decrease in ownership of its investment in Metaverse from its sale of shares, along with a corresponding decrease in influence, the
Company no longer accounts for its investment in Metaverse under the equity method and instead will follow the guidance for equity securities for which
the equity method is no longer appropriate under ASC 321, Investments - Equity Securities, and accordingly, the Company will continue to measure its
investment at fair value, with changes in the value of securities held to be recognized in earnings.

Earnout consideration on purchase of business

The Company estimated the fair value of its earnout liability using contractual inputs from the related business combination, which established specific
fiscal year revenue growth, profitability and EBITDA targets. Prior to the completion of the earnout period at the end of fiscal year 2024, the Company
utilized the most up to date forecast to estimate the outcome against these targets to determine the ultimate estimated payout. The amounts recognized
are not discounted.

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, the final year of the earnout measurement period, the Company estimated a $612 thousand decrease in its
earnout liability, issued $392 thousand worth of equity to settle its liability, made cash payments of $291 thousand, and incurred interest of $29 thousand.
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During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, the Company increased the estimated earnout liability by $80 thousand and made payments of $238
thousand to reduce this liability, partially offset by $83 thousand of interest accrued.

Our cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, unbilled revenue and accounts payable and accrued expenses are financial instruments and are
recorded at cost in the consolidated balance sheets. The estimated fair values of these financial instruments approximate their carrying amounts because
of their short-term nature.

Asset Acquisitions

An asset acquisition is an acquisition of an asset, or a group of assets, that does not meet the definition of a business. Asset acquisitions are accounted

for by using the cost accumulation model whereby the cost of the acquisition, including certain transaction costs, is allocated to the assets acquired on
the basis of relative fair values.

Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):

As of
March 31, March 31,
2024 2023
Accounts payable $ 5804 $ 15,042
Amounts due to producers 9,889 13,114
Accrued compensation and benefits 1,119 2,532
Accrued other expenses 4,005 3,843
Total accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 20,817 % 34,531

As of March 31, 2024, the Company's accrued royalty estimate decreased by $2.3 million, which contributed to a decrease in Amounts due to producers
relative to March 31, 2023.

Deferred Consideration

The Company has recognized liabilities related to deferred consideration arrangements related to the acquisition of FoundationTV ("FTV") and Digital
Media Rights ("DMR"). These payments are fixed in nature and are due to the sellers of the respective companies. The Company initially recognized the
liability at fair value at the time of acquisition and has since recognizes interest expense related to accretion in advance of the ultimate settlement of these
liabilities. Amounts due within 12 months under the terms of the agreements are classified as current within the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The deferred consideration related to the acquisition of DMR is payable in either Class A common shares of the Company stock or cash, at the
Company's discretion and subject to certain conditions. Payments of $2.4 million are due in March 2025.

The deferred consideration related to the FTV acquisition is payable in the amount of $238 thousand in each of June 2024 and December 2024, and
$464 thousand in June 2025. There is $475 thousand presently due and payable. The Company has the right to pay up to 25% of post-close purchase
price in equity.
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Disaggregation of Revenue

The following table presents the Company’s revenue by source (in thousands):

Year Ended
March 31,
2024 2023
Streaming and digital $ 37,312 $ 40,423
Base distribution 5,259 13,341
Podcast and other 2,718 2,213
Other non-recurring 3,842 12,049
Total revenue $ 49,131 $ 68,026

Streaming and digital revenue represents advertising and subscription fees earned through the operation of the Company's owned and managed
channels. Certain revenue recognition estimates may be required for this source at the end of a reporting period when we are not contractually entitled to
receive final performance reporting from our partners for an extended period of time.

Base distribution revenue is generated by the Company's physical revenue streams such as DVD's and related supply chain revenue, as well as
theatrical revenue. Other non-recurring revenue represents remaining system sales and the release of previously constrained variable consideration,
following the run-off of the Company's legacy digital cinema business at the conclusion of fiscal year 2023. The Company also has contracts for the
theatrical distribution of third party feature movies and alternative content. Distribution fee revenue and participation in box office receipts are recognized
at the time a feature movie and alternative content are viewed.

Podcast and other revenue represents advertising fees earned in support of the Company's podcast programming.

Other non-recurring revenue relates to the Company's legacy digital cinema operations, whose operations have run-off, still may generate non-recurring
revenue from the sale of cinema assets or the recognition of variable consideration as the associated uncertainty associated with the revenue is resolved.

Revenue Recognition

Fees for the distribution of content in the home entertainment markets via several distribution channels, including digital, video on demand (“VOD” or
"Streaming and Digital”), and physical goods (e.g., DVDs and Blu-ray Discs) (“Base Distribution”). Fees earned are typically a percentage of the net
amounts received from our customers. Depending upon the nature of the agreements with the platform and content providers, the fee rate that we earn
varies. The Company'’s performance obligations include the delivery of content for transactional, subscription and ad supported/free ad-supported
streaming TV (“FAST”") on the digital platforms, and shipment of DVDs and Blu-ray Discs. Revenue is recognized at the point in time when the content is
available for subscription on the digital platform (the Company’s digital content is considered functional IP), at the time of shipment for physical goods, or
point-of-sale for transactional and VOD services as the control over the content or the physical title is transferred to the customer. The Company
considers the delivery of content through various distribution channels to be a single performance obligation. Base Distribution Revenue from the sale of
physical goods is recognized after deducting the reserves for sales returns and other allowances, which are accounted for as variable consideration.
Reserves for potential sales returns and other allowances are recorded based upon historical experience. If actual future returns and allowances differ
from past experience, adjustments to our allowances may be required.

We have the right to receive or bill a portion of the theatrical distribution fee in advance of the exhibition date, and therefore such amount is recorded as a
receivable at the time of execution, and all related distribution revenue is deferred until the third party feature movies’ or alternative content’s theatrical
release date.

Payment terms and conditions vary by customer and typically provide net 30 to 90 day terms. We do not adjust the promised amount of consideration for
the effects of a significant financing component when we expect, at contract inception, that the period between our transfer of a promised product or
service to our customer and payment for that product or service will be one year or less. As the Company satisfies its performance obligations, whether
relating to the delivery of digital content, physical goods, or licensing, revenue is generally measured at a point in time.
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The Company follows the five-step model established by ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers when preparing its assessment of revenue
recognition.

Principal Agent Considerations

Revenue earned from the delivery of digital content and physical goods may be recognized gross or net depending on the terms of the arrangement. We
determine whether revenue should be reported on a gross or net basis based on each revenue stream. Key indicators that we use in evaluating gross
versus net treatment include, but are not limited to, the following:

swhich party is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the specified good or service; and

swhich party has discretion in establishing the price for the specified good or service.
Shipping and Handling

Shipping and handling costs are incurred to move physical goods (e.g., DVDs and Blu-ray Discs) to customers. We recognize all shipping and handling
costs as an expense in direct operating expenses because we are responsible for delivery of the product to our customers prior to transfer of control to
the customer.

Contract Liabilities

We generally record a receivable related to revenue when we have an unconditional right to invoice and receive payment, and we record deferred
revenue (contract liability) when cash payments are received or due in advance of our performance, even if amounts are refundable. Deferred revenue
includes amounts related to advances, he sale of DVDs or theatrical releases with future release dates.

The ending deferred revenue balance, all current as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 was $0.4 million and $0.2 million, respectively. There were no long term
amounts at either date.

Participations and Royalties Payable

When we use third parties to distribute Company owned content, we record participations payable, which represent amounts owed to the distributor
under revenue-sharing arrangements. When we provide content distribution services, we record accounts payable and accrued expenses to studios or
content producers for royalties owed under licensing arrangements. We identify and record as a reduction to the liability any expenses that are to be
reimbursed to us by such studios or content producers.

Concentrations

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, one customer represented 26% of consolidated revenue. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, one
customer represented 10% of consolidated revenue.

Direct Operating Costs

Direct operating costs consist of operating costs such as cost of revenue, fulfilment expenses, shipping costs, property taxes and insurance on systems,
royalty and participation expenses, allowance against advances, and marketing and direct personnel costs.

Stock-based Compensation

The Company issues stock-based awards to employees and non-employees, generally in the form of restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock
appreciation rights and performance stock units. The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation awards in accordance with FASB ASC Topic
718, Compensation—Stock Compensation (“ASC 718"). ASC 718 requires all stock-based payments, including grants of stock options and restricted
stock units and modifications to existing stock options, to be recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations based on their fair values. The
Company measures the compensation expense of employee and non-employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based
on the fair value of the award on the grant date. That cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the period during which the employee and non-
employee is required
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to provide service in exchange for the award. The fair values of options and stock appreciation rights are calculated as of the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model based on key assumptions such as stock price, expected volatility, risk-free rate and expected term. The Company’s
estimates of these assumptions are primarily based on the trading price of the Company’s stock, historical data, peer company data and judgment
regarding future trends and factors.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for
the future tax consequences attributable to operating loss and tax credit carryforwards and for differences between the carrying amounts of existing
assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis.

Valuation allowances are established when management is unable to conclude that it is more likely than not that some portion, or all, of the deferred tax
asset will ultimately be realized. The Company is primarily subject to income taxes in the United States and India.

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions in accordance with an amendment to ASC Topic 740-10, Income Taxes, which provides that the tax
effects from an uncertain tax position can be recognized in the financial statements only if the position is “more-likely-than-not” to be sustained were it to
be challenged by a taxing authority. The assessment of the tax position is based solely on the technical merits of the position, without regard to the
likelihood that the tax position may be challenged. If an uncertain tax position meets the “more-likely-than-not” threshold, the largest amount of tax benefit
that is more than 50% likely to be recognized upon ultimate settlement with the taxing authority is recorded. The Company has no uncertain tax positions.

Earnings per Share

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed based on the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted
net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) available to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding and potentially dilutive common shares outstanding during the period. Potentially dilutive common shares include stock options and
stock appreciation right outstanding during the period, and performance awards which are expected to be settled in shares and would be issuable at
period end, using the treasury stock method. Potentially dilutive common shares are excluded from the computations of diluted income (loss) per share if
their effect would be anti-dilutive. A net loss available to common stockholders causes all potentially dilutive securities to be anti-dilutive and are not
included.

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share are computed as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended
March 31,
2024 2023
Basic net loss per share:
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (21,757) $ (10,085)
Shares used in basic computation:
Weighted-average shares of Common Stock outstanding 12,253 8,889
Basic net loss per share $ (1.78) $ (1.13)
Shares used in diluted computation:
Weighted-average shares of Common Stock outstanding 12,253 8,889
Stock options and SARs — —
Weighted-average number of shares 12,253 8,889
Diluted net loss per share $ (178) $ (1.13)
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The calculation of diluted net income (loss) per share for the year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 does not include the impact of 3,443 and 700
thousand potentially dilutive shares, respectively, relating to warrants, stock options, performance shares and stock appreciation rights, as their impact
would have been anti-dilutive due to the respective period's income (loss) and an exercise price which exceeded period-end share price.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

The Company evaluates all Accounting Standard Updates ("ASUs") issued but not yet effective by FASB for consideration of their applicability. ASU's not
included in the Company's disclosures were assessed and determined to be not applicable and material to the Company's consolidated financial
statements or disclosures.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, "Segment Reporting (Topic 280)—Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures." The update
requires disclosure of incremental segment information, including significant segment expenses, on an annual and interim basis, and would apply to
single segment companies. The amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2024 with early adoption is permitted. The Company is required to apply the updates retrospectively. The Company is
assessing the impact of ASU 2023-07 on its consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, “Income Taxes (Topic 740)—Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures” On an annual basis, this
update requires the disclosure of specific tax categories in the rate reconciliation and provide additional information for reconciling items that meet a
guantitative threshold. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024. Prospective and retrospective adoption is
permitted. The Company is still evaluating its method of adoption and assessing the impact of ASU 2023-09 on the disclosures within its consolidated
financial statements.

In March 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-01, "Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718)—Scope Application of Profits Interest and Similar
Awards." This update clarifies the scope of "Profit Interest" and similar awards and adds an illustrative example to the existing ASC 718 standard that
includes four fact patterns to demonstrate how an entity should apply the scope guidance in paragraph 718-10-15-3 to determine whether a profits
interest award should be accounted for in accordance with Topic 718. The amendments in this Update are effective for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2024, and interim periods within those annual periods. Early adoption is permitted for both interim and annual financial statements that
have not yet been issued or made available for issuance. The amendments in this Update should be applied either (1) retrospectively to all prior periods
presented in the financial statements or (2) prospectively to profits interest and similar awards granted or modified on or after the date at which the entity
first applies the amendments. Based on the Company's population of awards, the Company does not anticipate a material impact on its financial results
as a result of adoption.
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3. OTHER INTERESTS
CDF2 Holdings

We indirectly own 100% of the common equity of CDF2 Holdings, LLC (“CDF2 Holdings”), which was created for the purpose of capitalizing on the
conversion of the exhibition industry from film to digital technology. CDF2 Holdings assists its customers in procuring the equipment necessary to convert
their systems to digital technology by providing financing, equipment, installation and related ongoing services.

CDF2 Holdings is a Variable Interest Entity (“VIE"), as defined in ASC 810, Consolidation. ASC 810 requires the consolidation of VIEs by an entity that
has a controlling financial interest in the VIE which entity is thereby defined as the primary beneficiary of the VIE. To be a primary beneficiary, an entity
must have the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the VIE's economic performance, among other factors. Although we
indirectly, wholly own CDF2 Holdings, we, a third party that also has a variable interest in CDF2 Holdings, and an independent third party manager must
mutually approve all business activities and transactions that significantly impact CDF2 Holdings’ economic performance. We have therefore assessed
our variable interests in CDF2 Holdings and determined that we are not the primary beneficiary of CDF2 Holdings. As a result, CDF2 Holdings’ financial
position and results of operations are not consolidated in our financial statements. In completing our assessment, we identified the activities that we
consider most significant to the economic performance of CDF2 Holdings and determined that we do not have the power to direct those activities, and
therefore we account for our investment in CDF2 Holdings under the equity method of accounting.

As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, our maximum exposure to loss, as it relates to the non-consolidated CDF2 Holdings entity, represents accounts
receivable for service fees under a master service agreement with CDF2 Holdings. Such accounts receivable was $0.0 million and $0.5 million as of
March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, which are included in accounts receivable, net on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations include $0.0 million and $0.2 million of digital cinema servicing revenue from CDF2 Holdings
for the year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Total stockholders’ deficit of CDF2 Holdings at March 31, 2024 and 2023 was $59.2 and $59.2 million, respectively. We have no obligation to fund the
operating loss or the stockholders’ deficit beyond our initial investment of $2.0 million and, accordingly, our investment in CDF2 Holdings as of March 31,
2024 and 2023 is carried at $0.

CONtv

We own an 85% interest in CON TV, LLC ("CONtv"), a worldwide digital network that creates original content, and sells and distributes on-demand digital
content on the Internet and other consumer digital distribution platforms, such as gaming consoles, set-top boxes, handsets, and tablets. CONtv is
consolidated in our consolidated financial statements with the 15% minority interest presented as a non-controlling interest.

Roundtable

On March 15, 2022, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement with Roundtable Entertainment Holdings, Inc. (“Roundtable”) pursuant to
which the Company purchased 0.5 thousand shares of Roundtable Series A Preferred Stock and warrants to purchase 0.1 thousand shares of
Roundtable Common Stock (together, the “Roundtable Securities”). The Company paid the purchase price for the Roundtable Securities by issuing 16
thousand shares of Common Stock to Roundtable, after taking into account the June 2023 reverse stock split (further described in the Stockholders'
Equity footnote). The Company recorded $0.2 million for the purchase of the Roundtable Securities which is included in other long-term assets on the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The investment in the Roundtable Securities was made in connection with a proposed collaboration with
Roundtable regarding production and distribution of streaming content including the launch of high profile branded enthusiast streaming channels. The
Roundtable investment was accounted for using the cost method of accounting as we own less than 20% of Roundtable and do not exert a significant
influence over their operations. Our President and Chief Strategy Officer is on the Roundtable Board of Directors.
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4. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
COMMON STOCK
Common Stock

On October 11, 2021, the Company filed an Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation which authorized an increase in the number of shares of
Common Stock for issuance to 275 million shares, the level at which it remains.

On June 9, 2023, the Company effected a 1-for-20 reverse stock split of the Company's Class A common stock. All shares and price amounts in this
report reflect the 1-for-20 reverse stock split effected on June 9, 2023.

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, the Company issued 6.4 million shares of Common Stock, through a direct offering, ATM sales, preferred
stock dividends, issuance for shares for employee bonuses net of shares withheld for taxes, exercise of pre-funded warrants, Board fees, deferred
consideration and earnout commitments.

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, the Company issued 582 thousand shares of Common Stock in payment of preferred stock dividends,
Board fees, payment of performance shares, pursuant to a business combinations, and the acquisition of intangible assets.

Direct Offering

On June 14, 2023, the Company sold in a public offering an aggregate of 2,150,000 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock, pre-funded
warrants to purchase up to 516,667 shares of Common Stock, and common warrants to purchase up to 2,666,667 shares of Common Stock at an
effective combined purchase price of $3.00 per share and related Common Warrant, for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $8.0 million, before
deducting placement agents fees and offering expenses payable by the Company. The purchase price of each Pre-Funded Warrant and related Common
Warrant was equal to the Purchase Price less the $0.001 per share exercise price of each Pre-Funded Warrant. All pre-funded and common warrants
were issued as immediately exercisable. All pre-funded warrants were subsequently exercised in July 2023 for total proceeds of $0.5 thousand. All
common warrants remain outstanding as of March 31, 2024.

ATM Sales Agreement

In July 2020, we entered into an At-the-Market sales agreement (the “ATM Sales Agreement”) with A.G.P./Alliance Global Partners (“A.G.P.”) and B.
Riley FBR, Inc. (“B. Riley” and, together with A.G.P., the “Sales Agents”), pursuant to which the Company may offer and sell, from time to time, through
the Sales Agents, shares of Common Stock at the market prices prevailing on Nasdaq at the time of the sale of such shares. The Company is not
obligated to sell any shares under the ATM Sales Agreement. Any sales of shares made under the ATM Sales Agreement will be made pursuant to the
2020 Shelf Registration Statement, for an aggregate offering price of up to $30 million.

No sales under the ATM Sales Agreement were made during the year ended March 31, 2023. For the twelve months ended March 31, 2024, the
Company sold 177 thousand shares for $1.1 million in net proceeds, respectively, after deduction of commissions and fees. The ATM Sales Agreement
has expired in accordance with its terms.

On May 3, 2024, Cineverse Corp. (the “Company”) entered into a Sales Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with A.G.P./Alliance Global Partners and
The Benchmark Company, LLC (collectively, the “Sales Agents”), pursuant to which the Company may offer and sell, from time to time, through the Sales
Agents, shares of its Class A common stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Common Stock”). Shares of Common Stock may be offered and sold for an
aggregate offering price of up to $15 million. The Sales Agents’ obligations to sell shares under the Sales Agreement are subject to satisfaction of certain
conditions, including the continuing effectiveness of the Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-273098) (the “Registration
Statement”) filed by the Company with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on June 30, 2023 and declared effective by the SEC
on January 25, 2024, and other customary closing conditions. The Company will pay the Sales Agents a commission of 3.00% of the aggregate gross
proceeds from each sale of shares and has agreed to provide the Sales Agents with customary indemnification and contribution rights. The Company has
also agreed to reimburse the Sales Agents for
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certain specified expenses. The Company is not obligated to sell any shares under the Sales Agreement and has not sold any shares through the date of
this report.

PREFERRED STOCK

Cumulative dividends in arrears on preferred stock were $0.1 million as of March 31, 2024 and 2023. For the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, we
paid preferred stock dividends in the form of 196 thousand and 37 thousand shares of Common Stock, respectively.

TREASURY STOCK

We have treasury stock, at cost, consisting of 289 thousand shares and 66 thousand shares of Common Stock as of March 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

EQUITY INCENTIVE PLANS
Stock Based Compensation Awards

Awards issued under our 2000 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2000 Plan”) were in any of the following forms (or a combination thereof) (i) stock option
awards; (i) stock appreciation rights; (iii) stock or restricted stock or restricted stock units; or (iv) performance awards. The 2000 Plan provided for the
granting of incentive stock options (“ISOs”) with exercise prices not less than the fair market value of our Common Stock on the date of grant. ISOs
granted to shareholders having more than 10% of the total combined voting power of the Company must have exercise prices of at least 110% of the fair
market value of our Common Stock on the date of grant. ISOs and non-statutory stock options granted under the 2000 Plan are subject to vesting
provisions, and exercise is subject to the continuous service of the participant. The exercise prices and vesting periods (if any) for non-statutory options
were set at the discretion of our Compensation Committee. The Company does not estimate forfeitures, but recognizes forfeitures in the period in which
they occur.

Options outstanding and exercisable under the 2000 Plan are as follows:

As of March 31, 2024

Options Outstanding Weighted Average Remaining Weighted Average Exercise Aggregate Intrinsic Value
Min Max (In thousands) Life in Years Price (In thousands)
$ 148.0 $ 148.0 0.3 125 % 148 % —
$ 280.0 $ 488.0 0.6 052 % 345 —
0.9 072 $ 290 $ —
As of March 31, 2023
Options Outstanding Weighted Average Remaining Weighted Average Exercise Aggregate Intrinsic Value
Min Max (In thousands) Life in Years Price (In thousands)
$ 148.0 $ 148.0 0.3 225 % 148 % —
$ 280.0 $ 488.0 10.0 050 $ 290 —
10.2 054 $ 287 $ —

A total of 9 thousand options expired during the year ended March 31, 2024.

In August 2017, the Company adopted the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2017 Plan). The 2017 Plan replaced the 2000 Plan, and applies to
employees and directors of, and consultants to, the Company. The 2017 Plan provides for the issuance of up to 2,055 thousand shares of Common Stock
as of December 8, 2023, in the form of various awards, including stock options, stock appreciation rights, stock, restricted stock, restricted stock units,
performance awards and cash awards.

During the year ended March 31, 2024, the Company granted 207 thousand stock appreciation rights (“SARs"), which were granted under the 2017 Plan.
All SARs issued have an exercise price equal to the market price of the
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Company’s Common Stock on the date of grant and a maturity date of 10 years after grant date. The Company has the option to settle the SARs through
a cash payment, issuance of shares, or some combination of cash payment and shares. Based on past practice and intent to settle these awards with
shares of Class A common stock, the Company has determined that these awards should be classified in equity.
The following weighted average assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of SARs granted, as follows:

For the Year Ended March 31,

2024 2023
Expected dividend yield — —
Expected equity volatility 107 % 112%
Expected term (years) 6.50 6.50
Risk-free interest rate 4.51% - 3.82% 4.49%
Exercise price $5.80 - $10.43 $9.82
Market price per share $5.80 - $10.43 $9.82

The weighted average fair value of outstanding grants made during the year ended March 31, 2024, was $4.99 per award. The weighted average fair
value of outstanding the grants made during the year ended March 31, 2023, was $8.52 per award.

SARs outstanding under the 2017 Plan, along with the minimum and maximum strike price of each group, are as follows:

As of March 31, 2024

SARs Outstanding Weighted Average Remaining Weighted Average Exercise Aggregate Intrinsic Value
Min Max (In thousands) Life in Years Price (In thousands)
$ 58 $ 12.8 632 792 % 945 $ —
$ 232 % 29.4 98 512 % 27.77 —_
$ 394 $ 46.4 46 6.96 $ 40.15 —
776 751 % 1358 $ —
As of March 31, 2023
SARs Outstanding Weighted Average Remaining Weighted Average Exercise Aggregate Intrinsic Value
Min Max (In thousands) Life in Years Price (In thousands)
$ 7.80 $ 14.80 430 837 $ 1115 $ 3
$ 23.20 $ 29.40 105 625 $ 27.62 —
$ 34.20 $ 42.00 100 878 $ 40.18 —
$ 44.60 $ 51.20 21 857 $ 45.46 —
657 810 $ 19.33 $ 3

Exercisable SARs under the 2017 Plan as of March 31, 2024 are as follows:

SARs Exercisable Weighted Average Weighted Average Aggregate Intrinsic Value
(In thousands) Remaining Life in Years Exercise Price (In thousands)

469 85 § 1764 $ —
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As of March 31, 2024, the compensation cost not yet recognized related nonvested SARS awards totaled $703 thousand, to be recognized over the
weighted average remaining vesting period of 0.8 years.

SARs activity for the year ended March 31, 2024 is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
March 31, 2024
SARs Outstanding March 31, 2023 657
Issued 207
Forfeited (88)
Total SARs Outstanding March 31, 2024 776

A total of $1.4 million and $4.8 million of stock based compensation was included within Selling, General and Administrative expenses for the years
ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

In addition, the Company grants performance stock unit ("PSU") awards under the 2017 Plan to employees of the Company that vest upon certain
performance goals being achieved. Upon vesting, the award may be settled in shares or cash at the Company's discretion.

There were no shares granted or issued in fiscal year 2024. Based on performance for the year ended March 31, 2023, the Company accrued for 16
thousand unvested.

Of this stock based compensation expense, there was $0.3 million and $0.4 million of stock-based compensation expense for the year ended March 31,

2024 and 2023, respectively, related to Board of Director fees. During the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company issued 400 thousand and
34 thousand restricted shares to non-employee directors, respectively.
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5. DEBT
Line of Credit Facility

The Company is party to a Loan, Guaranty, and Security Agreement, as amended to date, with East West Bank (“EWB”) providing for a revolving line of
credit (the “Line of Credit Facility”) of $7.5 million, guaranteed by substantially all of our material subsidiaries and secured by substantially all of our and
such subsidiaries’ assets. The Line of Credit Facility bears interest at a rate equal to 1.5% above the prime rate, equal to 10.00% as of March 31, 2024. In
June 2024, the Company was notified in writing by EWB that it intends to extend the maturity date of the Line of Credit Facility to September 15, 2025,
subject to definitive documentation.

As of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, $6.4 million and $5.0 million was outstanding on the Line of Credit Facility, respectively. Under the Line of
Credit Facility, the Company is subject to certain financial and nonfinancial covenants including terms which require the Company to maintain certain
metrics and ratios, maintain certain minimum cash on hand, and to report financial information to our lender on a periodic basis. For the year ended
March 31, 2024, the Company was out of compliance with its covenants, and received a waiver in June 2024.

For the year ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, the Company incurred interest expense of $0.4 million and $0.2 million to EWB related to the
Line of Credit Facility, respectively.

6. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Leases

Cineverse is a virtual company with one domestic operating lease, acquired through the acquisition of Digital Media Rights ('DMR") and subleased to a
third party. The Company has not been relieved of the its original lease obligation and therefore recognizes both a lease liability and right-of-use asset as
part of the arrangement. The end of both the original lease and sublease's term is January 2025. The Company has recognized $0.2 million of sublease
income related to its subleasing arrangement for the twelve months ended March 31, 2024.

The Company's two operating leases for its India operations expire in July 2027.

The table below presents the lease-related assets and liabilities recorded on our Consolidated Balance Sheets (in thousands):

March 31, March 31,
Classification on the Balance Sheet 2024 2023

Assets

Noncurrent Other long-term assets $ 834 % 1,265
Liabilities

Current Operating leases liabilities 401 418
Noncurrent Operating leases liabilities, net of current portion 462 863
Total operating lease liabilities $ 863 $ 1,281
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The table below presents the annual gross undiscounted cash flows related to the Company's operating lease commitments and subleasing
arrangements (in thousands):

Operating Lease

Fiscal year ending March 31, Commitments

2025 $ 423
2026 200
2027 210
2028 72
2029 —
Thereafter —
Total lease payments $ 905
Less imputed interest 42)
Total $ 863

For leases which have a term of twelve months or less and do not contain an option to extend which the Company is
reasonably certain to extend the term, the Company has elected to not apply the recognition provisions of ASC 842
and recognizes these expenses on a straight-line basis over the term of the agreement.

Since our operating leases do not provide a readily determinable implicit rate, the Company estimated its incremental borrowing rate to discount the
lease payments based on information available at Cineverse's lease commencement date. The average discount rate utilized was 3.34%.

The Company incurred $445 thousand and $441 thousand in rental expense associated with its operating leases during the years ended March 31, 2024
and 2023, respectively.

Commitments

In the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into contractual arrangements, from time to time, under which it agrees to commitments with
content providers for certain rights which are in production or have not yet been completed, delivered to, and accepted by the Company. Based on the
nature of these agreements, which may be subject to delay or project abandonment, there is uncertainty with the amounts and timing of its commitments.
Certain of these advances are eligible to be recouped through future revenue sharing arrangements. Based on the stage of the Company's projects, the
table presented below represents an estimate of the Company's gross project commitments over the next five fiscal years (in thousands).

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
Total Project Commitments $ 2094 $ 915 $ 965 $ 665 $ 315
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7. INCOME TAXES

We recorded income tax expense of $0.0 million and $0.1 million from operations for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. For the
year ended March 31, 2023, the income tax expense of $0.1 million was mainly related to foreign income taxes.

The following table presents the components of income tax expense (benefit) (in thousands):

For the Fiscal Year
Ended March 31,

2024 2023

Federal:

Current $ — 3 —

Deferred — —
Total federal $ — 3 —
State:

Current $ 11) $ 12

Deferred — —
Total state $ 11) $ 12
Foreign:

Current $ 3B % 107

Deferred (14) —
Total foreign $ 21 % 107
Income tax expense $ 10 $ 119

Net deferred taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):

As of March 31,

2024 2023
Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 20,945 $ 18,318
Stock-based compensation 3,724 3,246
Intangibles 6,423 4,800
Accrued liabilities 535 908
Capital loss carryforward 3,924 —
Investments 1,977 4,344
Non-deductible interest expense 4,213 3,479
Other 240 750

Total deferred tax assets before valuation allowance 41,981 35,845
Less: Valuation allowance (41,668) (35,755)
Total deferred tax assets after valuation allowance 312 $ 90
Deferred tax liabilities:
Right of use asset $ (248) $ —
Depreciation and amortization (50) (90)
Total deferred tax liabilities (298) (90)
Net deferred tax $ 14 $ =

We have provided a valuation allowance to our net deferred tax assets as of March 31, 2024 and 2023. We are required to recognize all or a portion of
our deferred tax assets if we believe that it is more likely than not that such assets will be realized, given the weight of all available evidence. We assess
the realizability of the deferred tax assets at each interim and annual balance sheet date. In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, we considered
both positive and negative evidence, including recent financial performance, projections of future taxable income and scheduled reversals of deferred tax
liabilities. The net changes in the valuation allowance of $5.9 million and $2.5 million during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively, were mainly due to increases in the deferred tax asset related to the net operating loss carryforward and other temporary differences. We
will
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continue to assess the realizability of the deferred tax assets at each interim and annual balance sheet date based upon actual and forecasted operating
results.

As of March 31, 2024, we had utilizable federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $70.3 million available in the United States of
America (“U.S.”) to reduce future taxable income. U.S. federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $22.5 and $70.3 million,
respectively, generally begin to expire in 2026. U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards that were generated during the years ended March 31, 2020,
2021, 2022, 2023, and 2024 of approximately $47.9 million, do not expire.

On March 27, 2020, the CARES Act was signed into law. The Act contains several new or changed income tax provisions, including but not limited to the
following: increased limitation threshold for determining deductible interest expense; class life changes to qualified improvements (in general, from 39
years to 15 years); and the ability to carry back net operating losses incurred from tax years 2018 through 2020 up to the five preceding tax years. The
Company has evaluated the new tax provisions of the CARES Act and determined the impact to be either immaterial or not applicable.

The differences between the U.S. statutory federal tax rate and our effective tax rate are as follows:

For the Year
Ended March 31,

2024 2023

Provision at the U.S. statutory federal tax rate 21.0% 21.0%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 14.2% 8.0%
Change in valuation allowance (27.8)% (27.8)%
Non-deductible expenses (1.0)% (8.3)%
Executive officer compensation limitation — Section 162(m) —% (2.0)%
Goodwill impairment (6.3)% —

Losses from non-consolidated entities —% 7.9%
Other —% 0.1)%
Income tax expense (0.1)0p (1.3y9%

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various U.S. states, and India. For federal income tax purposes, our fiscal 2021 through 2024
tax years remain open for examination by the tax authorities under the normal three-year statute of limitations. For U.S. state tax purposes, our fiscal
2020 through 2024 tax years generally remain open for examination by most of the tax authorities under a four-year statute of limitations. For Indian
income tax purposes, our fiscal 2022 through 2024 tax years remain open for examination by the tax authorities.
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8. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Terrifier 3 Financing

On April 5, 2024, Cineverse Terrifier LLC (“T3 Borrower”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement with
BondlIt LLC (“T3 Lender”) and the Company, as guarantor (the “T3 Loan Agreement”).

The T3 Loan Agreement provides for a term loan with a principal amount not to exceed $3,666 thousand (the “T3 Loan”), and a maturity date of April 1,
2025, with a permitted extension of the term for 120 days under certain conditions. The T3 Loan bears no interest until the maturity date other than an
interest advance equal to $576 thousand at the closing of the T3 Loan on April 5, 2024. If the T3 Loan is extended as noted above, the T3 Loan will bear
interest at a rate of 1.44% per month. T3 Borrower may prepay the obligations under the T3 Loan, in full or in part, without penalty or premium. The
proceeds under the T3 Loan Agreement will be used for the funding under the Company’s distribution arrangements for the film titled Terrifier 3 (the
“Film”). The T3 Loan Agreement contains customary covenants, representation and warranties and events of default.

After the principal of the T3 Loan is paid in full, T3 Lender will be entitled to receive 15% of all royalties earned by the Company on the Film under its
distribution agreements for the Film until T3 Lender has received 1.75 times the full commitment amount of $3,666 thousand, consisting of the principal
amount plus interest and fees advanced to T3 Borrower, plus any extension interest. The T3 Loan is secured by a first priority interest in all of T3
Borrower's rights and interest in the Film and the distribution agreements, including the proceeds to T3 Borrower from the distribution of the Film.

The Company entered into a Guaranty Agreement pursuant to which it provided a guarantee of the T3 Loan which is capped at obligations not exceeding
$1,500 thousand (the “Guaranty Agreement”). The Guaranty is subordinated in payment and performance to the Line of Credit Facility pursuant to an
intercreditor agreement between EWB and the T3 Lender, and acknowledged by the Company and the T3 Borrower. In connection with the T3 Loan
Agreement, the Company entered into Amendment No. 3 to the Amended and Restated Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement dated as of September
15, 2022 with East West Bank and the Guarantors named therein, as amended to date (the “EWB Amendment”) to facilitate the T3 Loan and the
Guarantee.
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PART Il. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Definition and Limitations of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”)) are designed to reasonably ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded,
processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms and (ii)
accumulated and communicated to management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The management of the Company, under the supervision and with the patrticipation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has
evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in the Exchange Act), as of March 31, 2024.
Based on such evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial and accounting officer have concluded that, as of the end of such period,
the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the
Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported, on a timely basis, and (ii)
accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures in our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2024.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the
Exchange Act). Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria set forth in

Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSQO”). Based on
this evaluation, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of March 31, 2024.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2024 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company'’s internal control over financial reporting, except that we have redesigned
our royalty accrual estimation process, following the upgrade of certain accounting systems and integration of acquirees into a more centralized
accounting process.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On February 29, 2024, the Board approved the renewal of the previously approved stock repurchase program to purchase up to an aggregate of 500,000
shares of its outstanding Class A common stock. Acquisitions pursuant to the stock repurchase program may be made through a combination of open
market repurchases in compliance with Rule 10b-18 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, privately negotiated
transactions, and/or other transactions at the Company'’s discretion. The stock repurchase program, which is subject to certain consents, will expire on
March 1, 2025 unless otherwise modified by the Board at any time in its sole discretion.
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The Company did not make any purchases under this plan during the fiscal year ended, March 31, 2024. In May 2024, the Company entered into a plan
with B. Riley Securities, Inc. intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1 promulgated under the Exchange Act. and under this
plan purchased 184,495 shares for a total of $188 thousand, gross of fees in May 2024.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS.

Not applicable.

60



PART Ill
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Directors

Christopher J. McGurk, 67, has been the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board since January 2011. Mr. McGurk was the
founder and Chief Executive Officer of Overture Films from 2006 until 2010, and also the Chief Executive Officer of Anchor Bay Entertainment, which
distributed Overture Films’ products to the home entertainment industry. From 1999 to 2005, Mr. McGurk was Vice Chairman of the Board and Chief
Operating Officer of Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer Inc. (‘MGM”), acting as the company'’s lead operating executive until MGM was sold for approximately $5
billion to a consortium of investors. Mr. McGurk joined MGM from Universal Pictures, where he served in various executive capacities, including President
and Chief Operating Officer, from 1996 to 1999. From 1988 to 1996, Mr. McGurk served in several senior executive roles at The Walt Disney Studios,
including Studios Chief Financial Officer and President of The Walt Disney Motion Picture Group. Mr. McGurk has previously served on the boards of
IDW Media Holdings, Inc., BRE Properties, Inc., DivX Inc., DIC Entertainment, Pricegrabber.com, LLC and MGM Studios, Inc. Mr. McGurk has had a
long and transformative executive career in film, TV and streaming content industries.

Peter C. Brown, 65, has been a member of the Board since September 2010. He is Chairman of Grassmere Partners, LLC, a private investment firm he
founded in 2009. He served as Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer, and President of AMC Entertainment Inc. (“AMC”), one of the world’s
leading theatrical exhibition companies, from 1999 to 2009, and Chief Financial Officer from 1991 to 1999. In 1997, he founded EPR Properties, (NYSE:
EPR) a real estate investment trust and served as Chairman of the Board until 2003. He currently serves on the board of EPR Properties. Mr. Brown also
serves as a director of Lumen Technologies, Inc. (NYSE: LUMN), an international facilities-based technology and communications company. Past
additional public company boards include National CineMedia, Inc., Midway Games, Inc., LabOne, Inc., and Protection One, Inc.

Mary Ann Halford, 65, has been a member of the Board since December 2023. Ms. Halford is an internationally recognized media and entertainment
operator, advisor, and entrepreneur. She is the Founder and Managing Principal of Halford Media Advisory, working with clients in the US and
internationally on transformation strategies. Prior to setting up her own firm, she was a Partner at Altman Solon, a Telecommunications, Media, and
Technology (“TMT") strategy consultancy focusing on the media industry. Ms. Halford has previously served as a Senior Managing Director at FTI
Consulting and EVP of Fox International Entertainment Channels, a division of Fox Entertainment Group. In 2002, she co-founded EI Camino
Entertainment Group which consolidated operating businesses in the live family entertainment industry, which currently operates as North American
Midway Entertainment. Ms. Halford also serves on the board of EightCo Holdings (NASDAQ: OCTO). Past board positions include director of Media and
Games Invest (OMX: M8G), Vinco Ventures (NASDAQ: BBIG) and Triton Digital (private).

Patrick W. O’Brien, 77, has been a member of the Board since July 2015. He currently serves as the Managing Director & Principal of Granville Wolcott
Advisors, a company he formed in 2009, which provides business consulting, due diligence and asset management services for public and private
clients. Mr. O'Brien has previously served as Chairman of the Board and CEO of Livevol, Inc., a private company that was a leader in equity and index
options technology, which was successfully sold to CBOE Holdings. During the past five years, Mr. O'Brien has also served on the boards of Creative
Realities, Inc., ICPW Liquidation Trust, and Merriman Holdings, Inc.

Executive Officers

The Company’s executive officers are Christopher J. McGurk, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board, Erick Opeka, President and Chief
Strategy Officer, Gary S. Loffredo, Chief Legal Officer, Secretary and Senior Advisor, Tony Huidor, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Technology Officer,
Mark Lindsey, Chief Financial Officer, Yolanda Macias, Chief Content Officer, and Mark Torres, Chief People Officer. Biographical information for Mr.
McGurk is included above.
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Erick Opeka, 50, has served as the Company’s Chief Strategy Officer and President since December 2020, overseeing the day-to-day operations of the
Company's streaming and distribution operations, and driving Cineverse's corporate strategy and M&A initiatives. Prior to his current role, Mr. Opeka
served as EVP of the company’s Global Digital Distribution business. Before joining Cineverse, he co-founded and led the independent distributor New
Video's streaming business. Mr. Opeka began his entertainment career at Madstone Entertainment, and prior to that, he served in the US Army infantry.
He currently serves as the Vice Chairman of streaming trade organization OTT.X and on the Board of Directors of film and television production company
Roundtable Entertainment. Mr. Opeka holds a BA degree from The University of Texas at Austin and an MBA from Florida State University.

Gary S. Loffredo, 59, is the Company’s Chief Legal Officer, Secretary and Senior Advisor. Mr. Loffredo has served in numerous executive leadership
roles with the Company since joining in 2000 including President, Chief Operating Officer, Senior Vice President of Business Affairs, and General
Counsel. He also served as President of Digital Cinema from 2011 to 2023, as Interim Co-Chief Executive Officer from June 2010 through December
2010, and was a member of the Company’s Board of Directors from September 2000 - October 2015. Prior to joining Cineverse, from March 1999 to
August 2000, Mr. Loffredo was Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of Cablevision Cinemas d/b/a Clearview Cinemas, a film exhibitor. From
September 1992 to February 1999, he was an attorney at the law firm of Kelley Drye & Warren LLP.

Tony Huidor, 55, is the Company’s Chief Operating Officer and Chief Technology Officer. Since joining Cineverse in 2015, Huidor has managed the
launch and daily operations of the Company'’s portfolio of all subscription and ad-supported digital-first channels. He conceived and designed Cineverse’s
proprietary Matchpoint Dispatch™ distribution platform and oversees overall product development of Matchpoint Blueprint™which powers all streaming
apps for Cineverse’s portfolio of streaming services. In addition, Mr. Huidor recently developed cineSearch which is the Company’s Al-based
conversational chatbot for advanced content recommendations. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Huidor served as Vice President of Operations for
Universal Music Group (UMG) and then VP of Technical Product Development for Universal Music Group Distribution (UMGD). Prior to his tenure at
Universal Music Group, Mr. Huidor worked as Director of Product Development for the Walt Disney Internet Group, where he was responsible for the
creation and development of subscription-based entertainment services worldwide.

Mark Lindsey, 57, is the Company’s Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Lindsey oversees all facets of accounting including reporting, financing, working capital
management, treasury, tax compliance and planning, internal controls and policy development. Prior to joining Cineverse he most recently served as
Chief Accounting Officer and acting Chief Financial Officer for Firefly Systems, Inc., a digital out-of-home (DOOH) and mobility advertising company. Mr.
Lindsey was also CFO and CCO for Canapi Ventures, a financial technology-focused venture capital firm. Earlier in his career Mr. Lindsey served in
related executive capacities with American Capital, LTD., XM Satellite Radio, the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board and
PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Yolanda Macias, 59, joined Cineverse in 2013 and has been the Chief Content Officer of Cineverse Entertainment Group since December 2020. She is
responsible for acquiring global content rights for all distribution and streaming platforms and oversees marketing. Ms. Macias has over 25 years of
entertainment distribution experience, including executive positions at Vivendi/Universal from 2004 to 2012, DIRECTV from 1996 to 2003, and The Walt
Disney Company from 1992 to 1995. Ms. Macias serves on the board of Skechers USA, Inc. (NYSE: SKX) and as vice chair for C5LA a non-profit
organization supporting under resourced and high potential teen. Macias received her MBA from the J.L. Kellogg Graduate School of Management at
Northwestern University and her B.S. degree in Finance from California State University, Northridge.

Mark Torres, 64, is the Company’s Chief People Officer. He joined Cineverse in 2018 as Senior Vice President of Human Resources. Mr. Torres has
served as a senior human resources executive for over 20 years, including prior to the Company, at Sony Pictures Entertainment, Ticketmaster and Reed
Elsevier/Variety, as well as several technology and media start-up companies. Mr. Torres served as SVP of People & Culture at AdTec Rubicon Project
(now
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Magnite). Mr. Torres is a graduate of California State University, Long Beach with a bachelor’'s degree in Telecommunications.
Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires the Company’s directors, executive officers and persons who beneficially own more than 10% of its Common
Stock to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with the SEC and to furnish the Company with copies of all such reports they file.

Based on the Company’s review of the copies of such forms received by it, or written representations from certain reporting persons, the Company
believes that none of its directors, executive officers or persons who beneficially own more than 10% of the Common Stock failed to comply with Section
16(a) reporting requirements during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 (the “Last Fiscal Year"), except for Mr. Torres, who filed a late Form 3.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a code of ethics applicable to all members of the Board, executive officers and employees. Such code of ethics is available on our
Internet website, www.investor.cineverse.com. We intend to disclose any amendment to, or waiver of, a provision of our code of ethics by filing a Form 8-
K with the SEC.

Stockholder Communications

The Board currently does not provide a formal process for stockholders to send communications to the Board. In the opinion of the Board, it is appropriate
for the Company not to have such a process in place because the Board believes there is currently not a need for a formal policy due to, among other
things, the limited number of stockholders of the Company. While the Board will, from time to time, review the need for a formal policy, at the present
time, stockholders who wish to contact the Board may do so by submitting any communications to the Company’s Secretary, Mr. Loffredo, 224 W. 35th
St. Suite 500, #947 New York, New York 10001, with an instruction to forward the communication to a particular director or the Board as a whole. Mr.
Loffredo will receive the correspondence and forward it to any individual director or directors to whom the communication is directed.

MATTERS RELATING TO OUR GOVERNANCE
Board of Directors

The Board oversees the Company'’s risk management including understanding the risks the Company faces and what steps management is taking to
manage those risks, as well as understanding what level of risk is appropriate for the Company. The Board’s role in the Company’s risk oversight process
includes receiving regular updates from members of senior management on areas of material risk to the Company, including operational, financial, legal
and regulatory, human resources, employment, and strategic risks.

The Company’s leadership structure currently consists of the combined role of Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer and a separate Lead
Independent Director. Mr. O'Brien serves as our Lead Independent Director. The Lead Independent Director’s responsibilities include presiding at all
meetings of the Board at which the Chairman is not present, including executive sessions of the independent directors, serving as a liaison between the
Chairman and the independent directors, reviewing information sent to the Board, consulting with the Nominating Committee with regard to the
membership and performance evaluations of the Board and Board committee members, calling meetings of and setting agendas for the independent
directors, and serving as liaison for communications with stockholders.

The Board intends to meet at least quarterly and the independent directors serving on the Board intend to meet in executive session (i.e., without the
presence of any non-independent directors and management) immediately following regularly scheduled Board meetings. During the Last Fiscal Year,
the Board held nine (9) meetings. Each current member of the Board, who was then serving, attended at least 75 percent of the total number of meetings
of the Board, and of the committees of the Board on which they served in the Last Fiscal Year. Messrs. Brown and O’Brien and Ms. Halford are
considered “independent” under the rules of the SEC and Nasdag.
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The Company does not currently have a policy in place regarding attendance by Board members at the Company’s annual meetings of stockholders.

The Board has three standing committees, consisting of an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee and a Nominating Committee. Membership in
each committee is shown in the following table.

Audit Compensation Nominating
Committee Comnmittee and Corporate

Governance
Committee

Christopher J. McGurk*

Mary Ann Halford . A

Peter C. Brown A ° .

Patrick W. O'Brien** . .

A Committee Chair ¢ Committee Member * Chairperson of the Board ** Lead Independent Director
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of Messrs. Brown and O'Brien and Ms. Halford. Mr. Brown is the Chair of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee held
four (4) meetings in the Last Fiscal Year. The Audit Committee has met with the Company’s management and the Company’s independent registered
public accounting firm to review and help ensure the adequacy of its internal controls and to review the results and scope of the auditors’ engagement and
other financial reporting and control matters. Mr. Brown is financially literate, and Mr. Brown is financially sophisticated, as those terms are defined under
the rules of Nasdag. Mr. Brown is also a financial expert, as such term is defined under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Messrs. Brown and O'Brien and
Ms. Halford are considered “independent” under the rules of the SEC and Nasdag.

The Audit Committee has adopted a formal written charter (the “Audit Charter”). The Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring that the Company has
adequate internal controls and is required to meet with the Company’s auditors to review these internal controls and to discuss other financial reporting
matters. The Audit Committee is also responsible for the appointment, compensation and oversight of the auditors. Additionally, the Audit Committee is
responsible for the review and oversight of all related party transactions and other potential conflict of interest situations between the Company and its
officers, directors, employees and principal stockholders. The Audit Committee Charter is available on the Company’s Internet website at
www.investor.cineverse.com.

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee consists of Messrs. Brown and O’Brien and Ms. Halford. Ms. Halford is the Chair of the Compensation Committee. The
Compensation Committee met two (2) times during the Last Fiscal Year and acted three (3) times by unanimous written consent in lieu of holding a
meeting. The Compensation Committee approves the compensation package of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and, based on recommendations
by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, approves the levels of compensation and benefits payable to the Company’s other executive officers, reviews
general policy matters relating to employee compensation and benefits and recommends to the entire Board, for its approval, stock option and other
equity-based award grants to its executive officers, employees and consultants and discretionary bonuses to its executive officers and employees. The
Compensation Committee has the authority to appoint and delegate to a sub-committee the authority to make grants and administer bonus and
compensation plans and programs. Messrs. Brown and O'Brien and Ms. Halford are considered “independent” under the rules of the SEC and the
Nasdag.

The Compensation Committee has adopted a formal written charter (the “Compensation Charter”). The Compensation Charter sets forth the duties,

authorities and responsibilities of the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee Charter is available on the Company’s Internet website at
www.investor.cineverse.com.
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The Compensation Committee, when determining executive compensation (including under the executive compensation program, as discussed below
under the heading Compensation Discussion and Analysis), evaluates the potential risks associated with the compensation policies and practices. The
Compensation Committee believes that the Company’s compensation programs are designed with an appropriate balance of risk and reward in relation to
the Company'’s overall compensation philosophy and do not encourage excessive or unnecessary risk-taking behavior. In general, the Company
compensates its executives in a combination of cash and equity awards. The equity awards contain either or both performance targets and vesting
provisions, both of which encourage the executives, on a long-term basis, to strive to enhance the value of such compensation as measured by the
trading price of the Class A common stock or other performance metrics. The Compensation Committee does not believe that this type of compensation
encourages excessive or unnecessary risk-taking behavior. As a result, we do not believe that risks relating to our compensation policies and practices
for our employees are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company. The Company intends to recapture compensation if and as
required under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. However, there have been no instances where it needed to recapture any compensation.

The Compensation Committee has engaged Aon, a compensation consulting firm to provide guidance for cash and equity compensation to executive
officers and directors, as requested, which the Compensation Committee considered in reaching its determinations of such compensation. In addition,
Aon was available to respond to specific inquiries throughout the year.

SEC rules adopted pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, enacted in July 2010 (the “Dodd-Frank Act”), enable
our stockholders to vote to approve, on a non-binding, advisory basis, the compensation of our named executive officers as disclosed in the Company’s
proxy statements. The Company annually holds an advisory vote on executive compensation at its annual meetings.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

The Compensation Committee currently consists of Messrs. Brown, and O’Brien and Ms. Halford. Ms. Halford is the Chair of the Compensation
Committee. None of such members was, at any time during the Last Fiscal Year or at any previous time, an officer or employee of the Company.

None of the Company’s directors or executive officers serves as a member of the Board of Directors or compensation committee of any other entity that
has one or more of its executive officers serving as a member of the Company’s Board of Directors. No member of the Compensation Committee had any
relationship with us requiring disclosure under Item 404 of Securities and Exchange Commission Regulation S-K.

Nominating Committee

The Nominating Committee consists of Messrs. Brown and O'Brien and Ms. Halford. Mr. O'Brien is the Chair of the Nominating Committee. The
Nominating Committee held one (1) meeting during the Last Fiscal Year. The Nominating Committee evaluates and approves nominations for annual
election to, and to fill any vacancies in, the Board and recommends to the Board the directors to serve on committees of the Board. The Nominating
Committee also approves the compensation package of the Company'’s directors. Messrs. Brown and O’Brien and Ms. Halford are considered
“independent” under the rules of the SEC and the Nasdagq.

The Nominating Committee has adopted a formal written charter (the “Nominating Charter”). The Nominating Charter sets forth the duties and
responsibilities of the Nominating Committee and the general skills and characteristics that the Nominating Committee employs to determine the
individuals to nominate for election to the Board. The Nominating Committee Charter is available on the Company’s Internet website at
www.investor.cineverse.com.

The Nominating Committee will consider any director candidates recommended by stockholders. In considering a candidate submitted by stockholders,
the Nominating Committee will take into consideration the needs of the Board and the qualifications of the candidate. Nevertheless, the Board may
choose not to consider an unsolicited recommendation if no vacancy exists on the Board and/or the Board does not perceive a need to increase the size
of the Board.
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There are no specific minimum qualifications that the Nominating Committee believes must be met by a Nominating Committee-recommended director
nominee. However, the Nominating Committee believes that director candidates should, among other things, possess high degrees of integrity and
honesty; have literacy in financial and business matters; have no material affiliations with direct competitors, suppliers or vendors of the Company; and
preferably have experience in the Company’s business and other relevant business fields (for example, finance, accounting, law and banking). The
Nominating Committee considers diversity together with the other factors considered when evaluating candidates but does not have a specific policy in
place with respect to diversity.

Members of the Nominating Committee meet in advance of each of the Company’s annual meetings of stockholders to identify and evaluate the skills and
characteristics of each director candidate for nomination for election as a director of the Company. The Nominating Committee reviews the candidates in
accordance with the skills and qualifications set forth in the Nominating Charter and the rules of the Nasdag. There are no differences in the manner in
which the Nominating Committee evaluates director nominees based on whether or not the nominee is recommended by a stockholder.

Recoupment (“Clawback”) Policy

The Company has a policy to recapture compensation as currently required under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the rules of The Nasdaq Stock Market.
However, there have been no instances to date where it needed to recapture any compensation.

Additionally, we recognize that our compensation program is subject to the stock exchange listing standards required by Section 954 of the Dodd-Frank
Act effective in October 2023, which required that stock exchange listing standards be amended to require issuers to adopt a policy providing for the
recovery from any current or former executive officer of any incentive-based compensation (including stock options) awarded during the three-year period
prior to an accounting restatement resulting from material noncompliance of the issuer with financial reporting requirements.

Restrictions on Speculative Transactions

The Company’s Insider Trading and Disclosure Policy restricts employees and directors of the Company from engaging in speculative transactions in
Company securities, including short sales, and discourages employees and directors of the Company from engaging in hedging transactions, including
“cashless” collars, forward sales, and equity swaps, that may indirectly involve short sales. Pre-clearance by the Company is required for all equity
transactions.

Stock Ownership Guidelines

The Board has adopted stock ownership guidelines for its non-employee directors, pursuant to which the non-employee directors are required to acquire,
within three (3) years, and maintain until separation from the Board, shares equal in value to a minimum of three (3) times the value of the annual cash
retainer (not including committee or per-meeting fees) payable to such director. Shares acquired as Board retainer fees and shares owned by an
investment entity with which a non-employee director is affiliated may be counted toward the stock ownership requirement. As of March 31, 2024, each
of Messrs. Brown and O’Brien and Ms. Halford currently meet the stock ownership guidelines.

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)

The Company is committed to responsible and sustainable business practices. We are currently in the process of building our ESG strategy, with the goal
of transparently communicating about our most material ESG impacts and initiatives.

Sustainability

The Company is committed to working in a responsible and sustainable way to produce as few negative environmental effects as possible from our
operations. Our core business does not result in any significant negative
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environmental effects. We note our leading role in the conversion, starting in 2005, from using analog films, which had to be shipped to theatre
destinations, causing greenhouse gas emissions and ultimately waste of the film after use, to digital projection of virtually all major and independent
studio films, which are now electronically delivered to theatre destinations. In addition, our current business concentrates on digital and streaming
distribution of content, which again is environmentally-friendly. This conversion and streaming approach significantly reduces the carbon footprint
associated with the film exhibition industry.

Talent

We are evolving our culture and our human capital strategies to best serve all of our employees and align with our growth strategies and the changing
social environments. We believe that fostering a culture that is values-based, responsible, ethical and inclusive motivates and empowers our employees,
which enables us to attract and retain talented people, engage them in meaningful and inspiring work and, as a result, fulfill our business goals and
objectives. We regularly engage with our employees to monitor their needs and expectations and respond to meet these evolving employee needs.

We provide market-competitive compensation and benefits to our employees. Our benefits programs are reviewed each year to ensure that we are
meeting current practices in providing benefits that meet the health and safety needs of our employees. When special circumstances occur, such as the
recent pandemic, we adjust our benefits to meet our employees’ needs.

Health and Safety
We are focused on the health, safety and well-being of our employees. We provide mental and physical well-being programs to all employees. .
Diversity, Equity and Inclusion

We are committed to diverse representation across all levels of our workforce to reflect the vibrant and thriving diversity of the communities which make
up our customers, stockholders and home communities. Fostering a work environment that is culturally diverse, inclusive and equitable is important to us.
We believe that our business accomplishments are a result of the efforts of our employees and that a diverse employee population will result in a better
understanding of our customers’ needs. We respect the unique attributes of each individual. Our DE&I purpose is to evolve the organization and our
culture to reflect the customers and communities we serve, where differences in background, thought and experience are welcomed, valued and
celebrated. We demonstrate purposeful actions and incorporate intentional practices to drive these inclusive behaviors in our daily work. We are
committed to continually reviewing our operational practices and aligning DE&I initiatives with business objectives.

Social

We encourage our employees to give back to the community. In 2021, we initiated a Community Service Policy that provides paid time off to employees
volunteering with qualified charitable organizations or causes (which organizations or causes may not discriminate based on creed, race, color, national
origin, religion, age, disability, sex, gender, identity, sexual orientation, pregnancy or any other legally protected classification).

In addition, we have implemented a summer internship program in conjunction with C5 Youth Foundation of Southern California, a non-profit inner-city
youth program. This 8-week program will provide for four college students to rotate through four departments at Cineverse.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Named Executive Officers

The following table sets forth certain information concerning compensation received by the Company’s named executive officers ("NEOs"), consisting of
the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and its two other most highly compensated individuals who were serving as executive officers at the end of the
Last Fiscal Year, plus up to two additional persons for whom disclosures would have been provided but for the fact that they were not serving as
executive officers at the end of the Last Fiscal Year, for services rendered in all capacities during the Last Fiscal Year.

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

All Other
Salary Bonus Stock Awards Option Compensatio
Name and Principal Position(s) Year ($) ($) (1) ($)(2) Awards ($)(3) n ($)(4) Total ($)
Christopher J. McGurk 2024 650,000 325,000 — — 39,286 1,014,286
Chief Executive Officer 2023 650,000 707,969 26,250 1,200,000 39,431 2,623,650
and Chairman 2022 650,000 650,000 90,146 — 33,500 1,423,646
Gary S. Loffredo 2024 460,000 161,000 — 196,323 55,521 872,844
Chief Legal Officer, 2023 460,000 350,717 15,750 — 58,785 885,252
Secretary and Senior Adviser 2022 460,000 322,000 54,088 — 33,810 869,898
Erick Opeka 2024 475,000 120,000 — 368,106 55,536 1,018,642
Chief Strategy Officer 2023 400,000 261,404 15,750 — 49,571 726,725
and President 2022 400,000 240,000 54,088 — 20,327 714,415

of Digital Networks

(1)The Company's bonus program, the MAIP incentive program, is described below. For fiscal year 2023 and 2024, the MAIP bonuses were settled in the
Company's Common Stock.

(2)Includes performance share units (“PSUs”) earned during the respective fiscal year. See above for a description of the material terms of the PSUs.

(3)The amounts in this column reflect the grant date fair value for all fiscal years presented in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. Assumptions used
in the calculation of these amounts are included in footnote 2 to the Company’s audited financial statements for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024
and 2023, included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 (the “Form 10-K").

(4)Includes life insurance premiums, disability insurance premiums and certain medical expenses paid by the Company for each NEO.
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Employment agreements between the Company and Named Executive Officers

Christopher J. McGurk. On October 17, 2022, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Christopher J. McGurk (the “2022 McGurk
Employment Agreement”). The 2022 McGurk Employment Agreement took effect on April 1, 2023, and has a term ending on March 31, 2026 with an
automatic one-year renewal unless either party provides written notice to the other no later than ninety days prior to the expiration of the initial term.
Pursuant to the 2022 McGurk Employment Agreement, Mr. McGurk will continue to serve as the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of the
Company.

The 2022 McGurk Employment Agreement also provides that Mr. McGurk will receive an annual base salary of $650,000 and will be eligible for (i) under
the Company’s Management Annual Incentive Plan, a Target Bonus opportunity of $650,000 consistent with goals established from time to time by the
Compensation Committee, (ii) under the 2017 Plan, performance share units for up to 25,000 shares of Common Stock, subject to EBITDA targets to be
determined in the sole and absolute discretion of the Compensation Committee and financial performance targets, and such other terms as the
Compensation Committee shall determine, and (iii) under the 2017 Plan, 125,000 SARs having an exercise price of $9.60 and a term of ten (10) years,
one-third (1/3) of which will vest on April 1 of each of 2023, 2024 and 2025, provided that any unvested SARs shall immediately vest upon termination
following a Change in Control (as defined in the 2017 Plan) or a termination other than for Cause (as defined in the 2022 McGurk Employment
Agreement). Mr. McGurk will also be entitled to participate in all benefit plans and programs that the Company provides to its senior executives.

The 2022 McGurk Employment Agreement provides that, in the event of a termination without Cause (as defined in the 2022 McGurk Employment
Agreement) or a resignation for Good Reason (as defined in the 2022 McGurk Employment Agreement), Mr. McGurk shall be entitled to payment of (i) the
greater of any Base Salary for the remainder of the Term or eighteen (18) months’ Base Salary at the time of termination and (ii) an amount equivalent to
one and one-half (1.5) times the average of the last two (2) bonus payments under the MAIP, if any, under the 2022 McGurk Employment Agreement. In
the event of, on or after April 1, 2023 and within two (2) years after a Change in Control (as defined in the Plan), a termination without Cause (other than
due to Mr. McGurk’s death or disability), a resignation for Good Reason, or upon notice by the Company that it does not wish to renew the Term (as
defined in the McGurk Employment Agreement), then in lieu of receiving the amounts described above, Mr. McGurk would be entitled to receive a lump
sum payment equal to three (3) times the sum of (a) his then-current annual Base Salary and (b) his Target Bonus for the year of termination.

Erick Opeka. On May 16, 2023, the Company entered into an employment agreements with Erick Opeka (the “Opeka Employment Agreement,”). The
Opeka Employment Agreements was effective as of May 1, 2023 and supersedes the prior employment agreement between the Company and Mr.
Opeka. The Opeka Employment Agreement has a term ending on April 30, 2025 with an automatic one-year renewal unless either party provides written
notice to the other no later than ninety days prior to the expiration of the initial term.

Pursuant to the Opeka Employment Agreement, Mr. Opeka will serve as the Chief Strategy Officer and President of the Company. The Opeka
Employment Agreement also provides that Mr. Opeka will receive an annual base salary of $475,000 and will be eligible for (i) under the Company’s
Management Annual Incentive Plan (“MAIP”), a target bonus opportunity (the “Target Bonus”) of $356,250 consistent with goals established from time to
time by the Compensation Committee (the “Compensation Committee”) of the Company’s Board of Directors, (ii) under the Company’s 2017 Equity
Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), performance share units for up to 15,000 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock (the “Common Stock”), subject to
EBITDA targets to be determined in the sole and absolute discretion of the Compensation Committee and financial performance targets, and such other
terms as the Compensation Committee shall determine (“PSUs"), and (iii) under the Plan, 75,000 stock appreciation rights (“SARs") having an exercise
price of $5.80 and a term of ten (10) years, one-third (1/3) of which will vest on May 16, 2024, one-third (1/3) on May 1, 2025 and the final one-third (1/3)
on May 1, 2026 (the “SAR Vesting Schedule”), provided that any unvested SARs shall immediately vest upon termination following a Change in Control
(as defined in the Plan) or a termination other than for Cause (as defined in the Opeka Employment Agreement). Mr. Opeka will also be entitled to
participate in all benefit plans and programs that the Company provides to its senior executives.
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The Opeka Employment Agreement provides that, in the event of a termination without Cause (as defined in the Opeka Employment Agreement) or a
resignation for Good Reason (as defined in the Opeka Employment Agreement), Mr. Opeka shall be entitled to payment of 12 months’ Base Salary at the
time of termination. In the event of, on or after May 1, 2023 and during the Term, and within two (2) years after a Change in Control (as defined in the
Plan), a termination without Cause (other than due to Mr. Opeka’s death or disability), a resignation for Good Reason, or upon notice by the Company
that it does not wish to renew the Term (as defined in the Opeka Employment Agreement) (“CIC Termination”), then in lieu of receiving the amounts
described above, Mr. Opeka would be entitled to receive a lump sum payment equal to two times the sum of (a) his then-current annual Base Salary and
(b) his Target Bonus under the MAIP for the year of termination.

Gary S. Loffredo. On May 16, 2023, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Gary S. Loffredo (the “Loffredo Employment
Agreement”). The Loffredo Employment Agreement was effective as of May 1, 2023 and supersedes the prior employment agreement between the
Company and Mr. Loffredo. The Loffredo Employment Agreement has a term ending on April 30, 2025 with an automatic one-year renewal unless either
party provides written notice to the other no later than ninety days prior to the expiration of the initial term.

Pursuant to the Loffredo Employment Agreement, Mr. Loffredo will serve as the Chief Legal Officer, Secretary & Senior Advisor of the Company. The
Loffredo Employment Agreement also provides that Mr. Loffredo will receive an annual base salary of $460,000 and will be eligible for (i) a target bonus
opportunity under the MAIP of $322,000 (the “Target Bonus”) consistent with goals established from time to time by the Compensation Committee, (ii)
under the Plan, PSUs for up to 8,000 shares of Common Stock, subject to EBITDA targets to be determined in the sole and absolute discretion of the
Compensation Committee and financial performance targets, and such other terms as the Compensation Committee shall determine, and (iii) under the
Plan, 40,000 SARs having an exercise price of $5.80 and a term of ten (10) years which shall vest on the SAR Vesting Schedule, provided that any
unvested SARs shall immediately vest upon termination following a Change in Control (as defined in the Plan) or a termination other than for Cause (as
defined in the Loffredo Employment Agreement). Mr. Loffredo will also be entitled to participate in all benefit plans and programs that the Company
provides to its senior executives.

The Loffredo Employment Agreement provides that, in the event of a termination without Cause (as defined in the Loffredo Employment Agreement) or a
resignation for Good Reason (as defined in the Loffredo Employment Agreement), Mr. Loffredo shall be entitled to payment of 12 months’ Base Salary at
the time of termination under the Loffredo Employment Agreement. In the event of a CIC Termination, on or after May 1, 2023 and during the Term, then
in lieu of receiving the amounts described above, Mr. Loffredo would be entitled to receive a lump sum payment equal to two (2) times the sum of (a) his
then-current annual Base Salary and (b) his Target Bonus under the MAIP for the year of termination.

Equity Compensation Plans

The following table sets forth certain information, as of March 31, 2024, regarding the shares of Cineverse’s Class A common stock under Cineverse’s
equity compensation plan.

Number of shares
of Class A common

stock issuable Weighted average Number of shares of
upon exercise of of exercise price of Class A common
outstanding outstanding stock remaining
options, warrants options, warrants available for future
Plan or rights (1) and rights issuance
Cineverse Second Amended and Restated 2000 Equity
Incentive Plan (“the 2000 Plan”) 892 $ 289.57 —
Cineverse 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2017 Plan”) 775,701  $ 13.58 1,279,212

(1)Shares of Common Stock.
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The 2000 Plan

Our Board originally adopted the 2000 Plan on June 1, 2000 and our shareholders approved the 2000 Plan by written consent in July 2000. Certain terms
of the Plan were last amended and approved by our shareholders in September 2016. Under the 2000 Plan, we may grant incentive and non-statutory
stock options, stock, restricted stock, restricted stock units (RSUs), stock appreciation rights, and performance awards to our employees, non-employee
directors and consultants. The primary purpose of the 2000 Plan is to enable us to attract, retain and motivate our employees, non-employee directors
and consultants. The term of the 2000 Plan expired on June 1, 2020. The 2000 Plan has been replaced by the 2017 Plan, and no new awards will be
granted from the 2000 Plan; however, the adoption of the 2017 Plan did not affect awards already granted under the 2000 Plan.

Options granted under the 2000 Plan expire ten years following the date of grant (or such shorter period of time as may be provided in a stock option
agreement or five years in the case of incentive stock options granted to stockholders who own greater than 10% of the total combined voting power of
the Company) and are subject to restrictions on transfer. Options granted under the Plan generally vest over periods of up to three or four years. The
2000 Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee, and may be amended or terminated by the Board, although no amendment or termination
may adversely affect the right of any individual with respect to any outstanding option without the consent of such individual. The 2000 Plan provides for
the granting of incentive stock options with exercise prices of not less than 100% of the fair market value of the Common Stock on the date of grant.
Incentive stock options granted to stockholders of more than 10% of the total combined voting power of the Company must have exercise prices of not
less than 110% of the fair market value of the Common Stock on the date of grant. Incentive and non-statutory stock options granted under the 2000
Plan are subject to vesting provisions, and exercise is generally subject to the continuous service of the optionee, except for consultants. The exercise
prices and vesting periods (if any) for non-statutory options may be set at the discretion of the Board or the Compensation Committee. Upon a change of
control of the Company, all options (incentive and non-statutory) that have not previously vested will vest immediately and become fully exercisable.
Options covering no more than 50 thousand shares may be granted to one participant during any calendar year unless pursuant to a multi-year award, in
which case no more than options covering 50 thousand shares per year of the award may be granted, and during which period no additional options may
be granted to such participant.

Grants of restricted stock and restricted stock units are subject to vesting requirements, generally vesting over periods up to three years, determined by
the Compensation Committee and set forth in notices to the participants. Grants of stock, restricted stock and restricted stock units shall not exceed 40%
of the total number of shares available to be issued under the 2000 Plan.

SARs consist of the right to the monetary equivalent of the increase in value of a specified number of shares over a specified period of time. Upon
exercise, SARs may be paid in cash or shares of Common Stock or a combination thereof. Grants of SARs are subject to vesting requirements, similar to
those of stock options, determined by the Compensation Committee and set forth in agreements between the Company and the participants. RSUs shall
be similar to restricted stock except that no Class A common stock is actually awarded to the Participant on the grant date of the RSUs and the
Compensation Committee shall have the discretion to pay such RSUs upon vesting in cash or shares of Common Stock or a combination thereof.

Performance awards consist of awards of stock and other equity-based awards that are valued in whole or in part by reference to, or are otherwise based
on, the market value of the Common Stock, or other securities of the Company, and may be paid in shares of Common Stock, cash or another form of
property as the Compensation Committee may determine. Grants of performance awards shall entitle participants to receive an award if the measures of
performance established by the Committee are met. Such measures shall be established by the Compensation Committee but the relevant measurement
period for any performance award must be at least 12 months. Grants of performance awards shall not cover the issuance of shares that would exceed
20% of the total number of shares available to be issued under the 2000 Plan, and no more than 2,500 shares pursuant to any performance awards shall
be granted to one participant in a calendar year unless pursuant to a multi-year award. The terms of grants of performance awards would be set forth in
agreements between the Company and the participants.
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The 2017 Plan

Our Board adopted the 2017 Plan on August 7, 2017 and our stockholders approved the 2017 Plan on August 31, 2017. Under the 2017 Plan, we may
grant incentive and non-statutory stock options, stock, restricted stock, restricted stock units (RSUs), stock appreciation rights, performance awards and
other equity-based awards to our employees, non-employee directors and consultants. The primary purpose of the 2017 Plan is to enable us to attract,
retain and motivate our employees, non-employee directors and consultants.

Options granted under the 2017 Plan expire ten years following the date of grant (or such shorter period of time as may be provided in a stock option
agreement, or five years in the case of incentive stock options granted to stockholders who own greater than 10% of the total combined voting power of
the Company) and are subject to restrictions on transfer. The 2017 Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee, and may be amended or
terminated by the Committee, although no amendment or termination may have a material adverse effect on the rights of any individual with respect to
any outstanding option, without the consent of such individual. The exercise prices of stock options granted must be not less than 100% of the fair market
value of the Common Stock on the date of grant. Incentive stock options granted to stockholders of more than 10% of the total combined voting power of
the Company must have exercise prices of not less than 110% of the fair market value of the Common Stock on the date of grant. Incentive and non-
statutory stock options granted under the 2017 Plan may be subject to vesting provisions, and exercise is generally subject to the continuous service of
the optionee, except for consultants. The exercise prices and vesting periods (if any) for non-statutory options may be set at the discretion of the Board or
the Compensation Committee. Upon a change of control of the Company, where the Common Stock does not continue to be publicly traded, unless
replacement awards are issued in connection with the transaction, all options (incentive and non-statutory) that have not previously vested will vest
immediately and become fully exercisable. SARs consist of the right to the monetary equivalent of the increase in value of a specified number of shares
over a specified period of time. Upon exercise, SARs may be paid, at the discretion of the Compensation Committee, in cash or shares of Common Stock
or a combination thereof. Grants of SARs are subject to terms determined by the Compensation Committee and set forth in agreements between the
Company and the participants.

Grants of restricted stock and restricted stock units are subject to vesting requirements, generally vesting over periods up to three years, determined by
the Compensation Committee and set forth in notices to the participants.

RSUs shall be similar to restricted stock except that no Common Stock is actually awarded to the Participant on the grant date of the RSUs and the
Compensation Committee shall have the discretion to pay such RSUs upon vesting in cash or shares of Common Stock or a combination thereof.

Performance awards consist of awards of stock and other equity-based awards that are valued in whole or in part by reference to, or are otherwise based
on, the market value of the Common Stock, or other securities of the Company, and may be paid in shares of Common Stock, cash or another form of
property as the Compensation Committee may determine. Grants of performance awards shall entitle participants to receive an award if the measures of
performance established by the Committee are met. Such measures shall be established by the Compensation Committee but the relevant measurement
period for any performance award must be at least 12 months. The terms of grants of performance awards would be set forth in agreements between the
Company and the participants.

With respect to limits on Award grants under the 2017 Plan, aggregate shares granted to non-employee directors in any year may not exceed $1,000,000
in value.

Our Common Stock is listed for trading on Nasdag under the symbol “CNVS”.
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The following table sets forth certain information concerning outstanding equity awards of the NEOs at the end of the Last Fiscal Year. All outstanding
stock awards reported in this table represent restricted stock that vests in equal annual installments over three years. At the end of the Last Fiscal Year,
there were no unearned equity awards under performance-based plans.

Name
Christopher J. McGurk

Gary S. Loffredo

Erick Opeka

OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT MARCH 31, 2024

EQUITY AWARDS (1)

Number of Number of
Securities Securities
Underlying Underlying
Unexercised Unexercised
Options Options
Exercisable Unexercisable
(#) (#)
35,000 (2) —
125,000 (3) —
41,666 (4) 83,334 (5)
30,000 (5) —
60,000 (6) —
— 40,000 (7)
400 (8) —
17,750 (9) —
60,000 (10) —
— 75,000 (11)

Option
Exercise Price Option
(%) Expiration Date

29.40 6/7/2028
10.80 11/19/2030
9.60 10/17/2032
29.40 9/13/2031
12.80 12/3/2030
5.80 5/16/2033
362.00 9/2/2024
23.20 9/28/2028
12.80 12/20/2030
5.80 5/16/2033

(1)Reflects stock appreciation rights granted under the 2000 Plan and SARs granted under the 2017 Plan.

(2)Consists of stock appreciation rights, of which 1/3 vested on March 31 of each 2019, 2020 and 2021.

(3)Consists of stock appreciation rights, of which 62,500 vested on each of November 19, 2020 and March 31, 2023.

STOCK AWARDS
Number of Market Value
Shares or of Shares or
Units of Stock Units of Stock
That Have Not That Have Not
Vested Vested
(#) (%)

(4)Consists of stock appreciation rights, of which 41,666 vested on April 1, 2023, and 41,667 subsequently vested on April 1, 2024, and 41,667 will vest

on April 1, 2025.

(5)Consists of stock appreciation rights, of which 1/3 of which vested on December 10 of each 2019, 2020 and 2021.

(6)Consists of stock appreciation rights, of which 25,000 vested on March 31 of each 2023 and 2022; and 10,000 vested on June 30, 2023.

(7)Of such stock appreciation rights, 13,333 vest on May 16, 2024, 13,333 vest on May 1, 2025 and 13,334 vest on May 1, 2026.

(8)Consists of options, of which 100 vested on September of each of 2015, 2016, 2017, and 2018.

(9)Consists of stock appreciation rights, of which 1/3 vested on March 31 of each 2019, 2020, and 2021.

(10)Of such stock appreciation rights, 25,000 vested on March 31, 2022, 25,000 vested on March 31, 2023 and 10,000 vest on December 31, 2023.

(11)Of such stock appreciation rights, 25,000 vest on May 16, 2024, 25,000 vest on May 1, 2025 and 25,000 vest on May 1, 2026.

73



Non-employee Directors

The following table sets forth certain information concerning compensation earned by the Company’s non-employee directors for services rendered as a
director during the Last Fiscal Year.

Cash Fees Earned Stock Awards Total
Name %) )@ %)
Peter C. Brown $ 91,848 $ 90,000 $ 181,848
Patrick W. O'Brien $ 105,000 $ 90,000 $ 195,000
Mary Ann Halford (2) $ 26,793 $ 270,000 $ 296,793
Ashok Amritraj (3) $ 37,500 $ - % 37,500
Peixin Xu (3) $ 30,000 $ - $ 30,000

(1) Peter C. Brown and Patrick O'Brien received 80,372 shares of restricted stock and Mary Ann Halford received 241,115 shares of restricted stock, which remain unvested
as of March 31, 2024.

(2) Mary Ann Halford joined the board on December 8, 2023

(3) Ashok Amritraj and Peixin Xu left the Board of Directors on December 8, 2023

Non-employee directors receive the following compensation for board service. The annual cash retainer amount is $60,000 and the annual stock grant of
restricted shares of Common Stock amount is valued at $90,000 based on the trailing 20-day volume weighted average price (“VWAP") of the Common
Stock as of the date of the most recent prior annual shareholder’s meeting. In addition, non-employee directors receive annual committee fees of $15,000
for service as a committee chair and of $5,000 for service on a committee (other than as chair). In addition to the cash and stock retainers paid to all non-
employee directors for Board service, the Lead Independent Director receives an annual cash fee of $20,000. Finally, new non-employee directors will
receive a grant of restricted stock valued at $180,000 based on the trailing 20-day VWAP of the Common Stock as of the grant date (the date the director
joins the Board), and such shares will vest in three equal installments on the first three anniversaries of the date of grant.

The Company has adopted Stock Ownership Guidelines for its non-employee directors as discussed under MATTERS RELATING TO OUR
GOVERNANCE, above.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

As of June 17, 2024, the Company’s directors, executive officers, and principal stockholders beneficially own, directly or indirectly, in the aggregate,
approximately 20.8% of its outstanding Common Stock. These stockholders have significant influence over the Company’s business affairs, with the
ability to control matters requiring approval by the Company’s stockholders.

The following table sets forth as of June 17, 2024, certain information with respect to the beneficial ownership of the Common Stock as to (i) each person
known by the Company to beneficially own more than 5% of the outstanding shares of the Class A common stock, (ii) each of the Company'’s directors,
(iii) each of the NEOs and (iv) all of the Company'’s directors and executive officers as a group.

CLASS A COMMON STOCK

Shares Beneficially Owned (b)

Name (a) Number Percent
Christopher J. McGurk 789,377 (c) 4.9%
Gary S. Loffredo 273,459 (d) 1.7%
Erick Opeka 297,113 (e) 1.9%
Mary Ann Halford 241,115 1.5%
Peter C. Brown 108,118 () *
Patrick W. O’Brien 104,060 *
Peixin Xu 958,782  (g) 6.1%
All directors and executive officers as a group (9 persons) 2,402,754 (h) 14.9%

(a)Unless otherwise indicated, the business address of each person named in the table is c/o Cineverse Corp., 224 W. 35th St. Suite 500, #947 New
York, New York 10001.

(b)Applicable percentage of ownership is based on 15,606,341 shares of Common Stock outstanding as of June 17, 2024 together with all applicable
options, warrants and other securities convertible into shares of our Common Stock for such stockholder. Beneficial ownership is determined in
accordance with the rules of the SEC, and includes voting and investment power with respect to shares. Shares of Common Stock subject to options,
warrants or other convertible securities exercisable within 60 days after June 17, 2024 are deemed outstanding for computing the percentage ownership
of the person holding such options, warrants or other convertible securities, but are not deemed outstanding for computing the percentage of any other
person. Except as otherwise noted, the named beneficial owner has the sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares of Common Stock
shown. Certain information is based on the numbers of shares reported in the most recent Schedule 13D or Schedule 13G, as amended, as applicable,
filed by stockholders with the SEC through June 17, 2024 and information provided by holders or otherwise known to the Company

(c)Includes (i) 243,332 shares of Class A common stock underlying currently exercisable stock appreciation rights and (ii) 103,526 shares owned by the
Christopher and Jamie McGurk Living Trust, of which Mr. McGurk is a trustee.

(d)Includes 103,333 shares of Class A common stock underlying currently exercisable stock appreciation rights.

(e)Includes (i) 400 shares of Common Stock underlying currently exercisable options and (ii) 102,750 shares of Common Stock underlying currently
exercisable stock appreciation rights.

(fincludes 4,603 shares owned by Grassmere Partners LLC, of which Mr. Brown is Chairman. Mr. Brown disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares
except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein.

(9)Includes (i) 21,585 shares of Common Stock owned directly, (ii) 410,884 shares of Common Stock held by Mingtai Investment LP (“Mingtai”), (iii)
194,931 shares of Common Stock held by Antai Investment LP (“Antai”), and (v) 331,382 shares of Common Stock held by Shangtai Asset Management
LP (“Shangtai”). BEMG is wholly-owned by Bison Capital Holding Company Limited. Mr. Xu’s spouse, Fengyun Jiang, is the sole owner of Bison Capital
Holding Company Limited. Mingtai is indirectly managed by a subsidiary of Bison Finance Group Limited (“BFGL"), which is controlled by Mr. Xu.
Shangtai is indirectly managed by a subsidiary of BFGL. Mr. Xu controls the manager of the general partner of Antai. The business address of Mr. Xu is
609-610 21st Century Tower, No. 40 Liangmagiao Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing, China, 100016. Information presented is based Amendment No. 4
to Schedule 13D filed by Mr. Xu on May 31, 2023.
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(h)Includes a total of 524,279 shares that are not currently outstanding, consisting of (i) 697 shares of Common Stock underlying currently exercisable
options and (ii) 523,582 shares of Common Stock underlying currently exercisable stock appreciation rights

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Related Party Transactions

The Audit Committee, pursuant to its charter, is responsible for the review and oversight of all related party transactions and other potential conflict of
interest situations, by review in advance or ratification afterward. The Audit Committee charter does not set forth specific standards to be applied; rather,
the Audit Committee reviews each transaction individually on a case by case, facts and circumstances basis.

There have been no significant reportable transactions or currently proposed transactions between the Company and any director or executive officer of
the Company or any 5% security holder of the Company or any member of the immediate family of any of the foregoing persons, since the beginning of
the Last Fiscal Year.

On January 5, 2022, the Company entered into a letter agreement with Hyde Park, pursuant to which the Company and Hyde Park are collaborating on
the development, production and/or distribution of a project based on the novel Audition by Ryu Murakami (the “Audition Project”). Each of the Company
and Hyde Park owns 50% of the rights in connection with the Audition Project. The Company paid $100 thousand to Hyde Park plus $26 thousand in
legal fees to counsel for the Audition project. Ashok Amritraj, a former director of the Company whose role ended in December 2023, is the Chairman and
CEO of Hyde Park and has an interest in 100% of the revenues of Hyde Park. The approximate dollar value of the amount of Mr. Armitraj's interest in the
transaction is undeterminable at this time. Mr. Amritraj is a current board member and related party to the Company.

On April 4, 2023, Christopher McGurk, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board, purchased 1 share of the Company’s Series B
Preferred Stock, $.001 par value, for $10,000 which hold 1,800,000,000 votes (not adjusted for Reverse Stock Split) only on a measure pertaining to a
reverse stock split proposal of the Company under certain conditions. The Series B Preferred has no right to vote on any other matter except as may be
required by the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware. The share of Series B Preferred is not convertible into, or exchangeable for, shares of
any other class or series of stock or other securities of the Company. The Series B Preferred did not have the right to be transferred at any time prior to
stockholder approval of the reverse stock split matter without the prior written consent of the Company's Board of Directors. The outstanding share was
redeemed on June 9, 2023 for a price of $10,000 following the approval of the reverse stock split matter.

Director Independence
Please see the discussion of director independence under “MATTERS RELATING TO OUR GOVERNANCE, Board of Directors” above.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Audit Committee oversees the Company'’s financial reporting process on behalf of the Board. In fulfilling its oversight responsibilities, the Audit
Committee reviewed and discussed with management the audited financial statements in the Form 10-K, including a discussion of the acceptability of the
accounting principles, the reasonableness of significant judgments and the clarity of disclosures in the financial statements.

The Audit Committee reviewed and discussed with the independent registered public accounting firm, which is responsible for expressing an opinion on
the conformity of those audited financial statements with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, the matters required to be
discussed by Statements on Auditing Standards (SAS 61), as may be modified or supplemented, and their judgments as to the acceptability of the
Company’s accounting principles and such other matters as are required to be discussed with the Audit Committee under the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board.

In addition, the Audit Committee has discussed with the independent registered public accounting firm their independence from management and the
Company, including receiving the written disclosures and letter from the independent registered public accounting firm as required by the Independence
Standards Board Standard No. 1, as may be modified or supplemented, and has considered the compatibility of any non-audit services with the auditors’
independence.

The Audit Committee discussed with the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm the overall scope and plans for their audit. The Audit
Committee meets with the independent registered public accounting firm, with and without management present, to discuss the results of their
examinations and the overall quality of the Company’s financial reporting.

In reliance on the reviews and discussions referred to above, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board, and the Board approved, that the audited
financial statements be included in the Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024 for filing with the SEC.

Respectfully submitted,
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors

Peter C. Brown, Chairman
Mary Ann Halford
Patrick W. O'Brien

THE FOREGOING AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT SHALL NOT BE “SOLICITING MATERIAL” OR BE DEEMED “FILED” WITH THE SEC, NOR SHALL
SUCH INFORMATION BE INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE INTO ANY FILING UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR THE
EXCHANGE ACT, EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT THE COMPANY SPECIFICALLY INCORPORATES IT BY REFERENCE INTO SUCH FILING.

EisnerAmper LLP served as the independent registered public accounting firm to audit the Company’s consolidated financial statements since the fiscal
year ended March 31, 2005.

The Company’s Audit Committee has adopted policies and procedures for pre-approving all services, including non-audit work, performed by
EisnerAmper LLP for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023. In determining whether to approve a particular audit or permitted non-audit
service, the Audit Committee will consider, among other things, whether the service is consistent with maintaining the independence of the independent
registered public accounting firm. The Audit Committee will also consider whether the independent registered public accounting firm is best positioned to
provide the most effective and efficient service to our Company and whether the service might be expected to enhance our ability to manage or control
risk or improve audit quality. Specifically, the Audit Committee has pre-approved the use of EisnerAmper LLP for detailed, specific types of services
within the following categories of non-audit services: acquisition due diligence and audit services; tax services; and reviews
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and procedures that the Company requests EisnerAmper LLP to undertake on matters not required by laws or regulations. In each case, the Audit
Committee has required management to obtain specific pre-approval from the Audit Committee for any engagements.

The aggregate fees billed for professional services by EisnerAmper LLP for these various services were:

Type of Fees For the fiscal year ended March 31,

2024 2023

(1) Audit Fees $ 580,650 $ 558,075
(2) Audit-Related Fees —

(3) Tax Fees —
(4) All Other Fees — —

$ 580,650 $ 558,075

In the above table, in accordance with the SEC’s definitions and rules, “audit fees” are fees the Company paid EisnerAmper LLP for professional services
for the audit of the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 included in Form 10-K and review of
consolidated financial statements incorporated by reference into Form S-1 and Form S-3 and included in Form 10-Qs and for services that are normally
provided by the accountant in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements; “audit-related fees” are fees for assurance and related
services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of the Company’s consolidated financial statements; “tax fees” are fees for
tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning; and “all other fees” are fees for any services not included in the first three categories. All of the services set
forth in sections (1) through (4) above were approved by the Audit Committee in accordance with the Audit Committee Charter.

For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company retained a firm other than EisnerAmper LLP for tax compliance, tax advice and tax
planning.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBIT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(1) Financial Statements
See Index to Financial Statements in Item 8 herein.

(2)(2) Financial Statement Schedules
None.

(a)(3) Exhibits
The exhibits are listed in the Exhibit Index beginning on the following page herein.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Description of Document

3.1 - Fifth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, as amended. (42)

3.2 - Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company. (16)

4.1 - Specimen certificate representing Class A common stock. (1)

4.2 - Specimen certificate representing Series A Preferred Stock. (7)

4.3 - Security Agreement, dated as of October 18, 2011, among CDF2 Holdings, LLC and each Grantor from time to time party thereto and
Société Générale, New York Branch, as Collateral Agent for CHG-Meridian U.S. Finance, Ltd. And any other CHG Lease Participants.
(13)

4.4 - Trademark Security Agreement dated as of September 15, 2022 by and between East West Bank and each of Cinedigm Corp. and the
Guarantors thereto. (36)

4.5 - Copyright Security Agreement dated as of September 15, 2022 by and between East West Bank and each of Cinedigm Corp. and the
Guarantors thereto. (36)

45.1 - Amendment No. 1 to Copyright Security Agreement, dated as of August 8, 2023, by and among East West Bank and each of
Cineverse Corp. and the Guarantors party thereto. (47

4.6 - Form of Pre-Funded Warrant (41)

4.7 - Form of Common Warrant (41)

4.8 - Description of Securities*

10.11 - Second Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Plan of the Company. (3)

10.1.11 - Amendment dated May 9, 2008 to the Second Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Plan of the Company. (5)

10.1.2F - Form of Notice of Restricted Stock Award. (3)

10.1.3% - Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement. (4)

10.1.4% - Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (employees). (5)

10.1.51 - Form of Stock Option Agreement. (2)

10.1.6F - Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (directors). (5)

10.1.71 - Amendment No. 2 dated September 4, 2008 to the Second Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Plan of the Company. (6)

10.1.8F - Amendment No. 3 dated September 30, 2009 to the Second Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Plan of the Company. (8)

10.1.9% - Amendment No. 4 dated September 14, 2010 to the Second Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Plan of the Company. (11)

10.1.101 - Amendment No. 5 dated April 20, 2012 to the Second Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Plan of the Company. (12)

10.1.111 - Amendment No. 6 dated September 12, 2012 to the Second Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Plan of the Company. (14)

10.1.12% - Amendment No. 7 dated September 16, 2014 to the Second Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Plan of the Company. (15)

10.1.13t - Amendment No. 8 dated September 8, 2016 to the Second Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Plan of the Company. (17)

10.1.14% - Amendment No. 9 dated September 27, 2016 to the Second Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Plan of the Company. (18)

10.2t - Cinedigm Corp. Management Incentive Award Plan. (9)

10.3t - Form of Indemnification Agreement for non-employee directors. (10)

10.41 - 2017 Equity Incentive Plan of the Company. (19)

10.4.11 - Form of Notice of Incentive Stock Option Grant. (20)

10.4.2% - Form of Notice of Option Grant. (20)

10.4.3F - Form of Notice of Restricted Stock Award. (20)

10.4.4% - Form of Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Award. (20)

10.4.5F - Form of Notice of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Award. (22)

10.4.61 - Form of Notice of Stock Appreciation Right Grant (revised). (23)

10.4.7F - Amendment No. 1 to the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan. (24)

10.4.8% - Amendment No. 2 to the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan. (26)

10.4.9F - Amendment No. 3 to the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan. (27)

10.4.101 - Amendment No. 4 to the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan. (29)
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000095017023005881/cidm-ex3_2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000112528203005885/b326233_ex4-2.txt
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000093244009000076/exh3-1_1333668.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000093244011001123/ex4-4_283469.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000095017023002791/cidm-ex4_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000095017023002791/cidm-ex4_2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/ix?doc=/Archives/edgar/data/0001173204/000095017023042100/cnvs-20230811.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000095017023028360/cnvs-ex4_1.htm
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file:///tmp/T904/cnvs-ex4_8.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000093244007000541/exh10-1_1221617.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000093244008000310/exh10-1_1278680.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000093244007000541/exh10-2_1223625.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000093244008000213/exh10-2_1277100.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000093244008000310/exh10-2_1284525.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000093244005000193/ex4-4_1005614.txt
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000093244008000571/exh10-1_1294342.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000093244009000685/ex10-1_1377529.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000093244010000200/exh10-1_1434015.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000093244012000130/exh10-1_1536834.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000093244012000239/exh10-1_1582692.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000093244014000320/exh10-1_3274942.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000093244016000473/exh10-1_4302552.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000093244016000491/exh10-1_4231544.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000093244009000700/exh10-1_1381765.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000093244009000675/ex10-1_1373430.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000114420417046246/v474508_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000114420417050980/v476191_ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000114420417050980/v476191_ex10-3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000114420417050980/v476191_ex10-4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000114420417050980/v476191_ex10-5.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000117320417000007/cinedigmpsuawardv4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000114420418033760/tv496308_ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000110465919070022/tm1924543d1_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000110465920102609/tm2030178d1_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000110465920118200/tm2034293d1_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000121390021041364/ea145452ex10-1_cinedigm.htm
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Description of Document

10.4.11%
10.4.12%
10.4.13%
10.4.14%
10.5

10.6

10.7
10.8
10.9t
10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15
10.16

10.16.1
10.16.2
10.17%

10.17.1%
10.18%
10.19%
10.20%
10.20.1%
10.21%
10.21.1%
10.22
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- Amendment No. 5 to the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (30)

- Form of Notice of Restricted Stock Award (Directors). (33)

- Form of Notice of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award. (37)

- Amendment No. 6 to the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan. (38)

- Equipment Purchase Agreement effective as of March 17, 2021 between Cinedigm Digital Funding |, LLC and American Multi-Cinema,

Inc. (34)

- Equipment Purchase Agreement effective as of March 17, 2021 between Access Digital Cinema Phase 2, Corp., Access Digital
Cinema Phase 2 B/AIX Corp. and American Multi-Cinema, Inc. (34)

- Common Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of October 12, 2021 between Cinedigm Corp. and B. Riley Principal Capital, LLC. (31)

- Registration Rights Agreement dated as of October 12, 2021 between Cinedigm Corp. and B. Riley Principal Capital, LLC. (31)

- Employment Agreement between Cinedigm Corp. and Christopher J. McGurk dated as of October 17, 2022.** (37)

- Multiparty Agreement, dated as of October 18, 2011, among Cinedigm Digital Funding 2, LLC, as Borrower, Access Digital Cinema
Phase 2, Corp., CDF2 Holdings. LLC, Cinedigm Digital Cinema Corp., CHG-MERIDIAN U.S. Finance, Ltd., Société Générale, New
York Branch, as Senior Administrative Agent and Ballantyne Strong, Inc., as Approved Vendor. (13)

- Master Equipment Lease No. 8463, effective as of October 18, 2011, by and between CHG- MERIDIAN U.S. Finance, Ltd. And CDF2
Holdings, LLC. (13)

- Master Equipment Lease No. 8465, effective as of October 18, 2011, by and between CHG-MERIDIAN U.S. Finance, Ltd. And CDF2
Holdings, LLC. (13)

- Sale and Leaseback Agreement, dated as of October 18, 2011, by and between CDF2 Holdings, LLC and CHG-MERIDIAN U.S.
Finance, Ltd. (13)

- Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2017, between the Company and the purchasers listed on Schedule |
therein. (21)

- Form of Voting Agreement. (21)

- Amended and Restated Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement dated as of September 15, 2022 by and among Cinedigm Corp.
East West Bank and the Guarantors named therein. (36)

- Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement, dated as of August 8, 2023, by and between
Cineverse Corp., East West Bank and the Guarantors named therein.** (47).

- Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Loan, Guaranty and Security Agreement dated as of February 9, 2024 by and among
Cineverse Corp., East West Bank and the Guarantors named therein. ** (43).

Employment Agreement dated as of September 13, 2021 between Cinedigm Corp. and John Canning. (32

- Separation Agreement dated September 15, 2023 between Cineverse Corp. and John Canning (Certain Portions Omitted). (45).

- Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement — Canning. (32)
Form of Performance Stock Unit Agreement — Canning. (32)
- Employment Agreement between Cinedigm Corp. and Gary S. Loffredo dated as of December 23, 2020. (25)
Employment Agreement between Cinedigm Corp. and Gary S. Loffredo dated as of May 16, 2023. (40)
- Employment Agreement between Cinedigm Corp. and Erick Opeka dated as of December 23, 2020. (25)
- Employment Agreement between Cinedigm Corp. and Erick Opeka dated as of May 16, 2023.**(40)
- Sales Agreement, dated July 6. 2020, by and between Cinedigm Corp., A.G.P./Alliance Global Partners and B. Riley FBR, Inc. (28)

- Amended and Restated Equity Purchase Agreement dated March 25, 2022 among the Company, and David Chu, Augustine Hong
Helen Hong. Michael Hong, Justin Lee, Steven Park, and Kingsoon Ong (collectively, the “Sellers™) and David Chu as representative of

the Sellers.(35)
- Employment Agreement between Cinedigm Corp. and Antonio Huidor dated as of May 16, 2023.(40)
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1173204/000121390021042459/ea145823ex10-2_cinedigmcorp.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001173204/000121390022064830/ea167283ex10-2_cinedigm.htm
https://www.sec.gov/ix?doc=/Archives/edgar/data/0001173204/000095017023070180/cnvs-20231208.htm
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Exhibit Description of Document

10.25 - Purchase Agreement, dated April 4, 2023, by and between Cinedigm Corp. and the purchaser named therein. (39)

10.26 - Securities Purchase Agreement dated June 14, 2023. (41)

10.27t - Employment Agreement dated September 14, 2023 between Cineverse Corp. and Mark Lindsey (Certain Portions Omitted). (46).

10.27 - Sales Agreement, dated May 3, 2024 between Cineverse Corp., A.G.P./Alliance Global Partners and The Benchmark Company, LLC.
(44)

211 - List of Subsidiaries.*

23.1 - Consent of EisnerAmper LLP.*

24.1 - Powers of Attorney.* (Contained on signature page)

31.1 - Officer’s Certificate Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. Section 7241, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*

31.2 - Officer’s Certificate Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. Section 7241, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*

32.1 - Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.*

32.2 - Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.*

97.1 - Clawback Policy dated November 25, 2023.*

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema With Embedded Linkbases Document.

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

* Filed herewith.

T Management compensatory arrangement.

** Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Rule 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K. The omitted information is not material and would likely cause
competitive harm to the registrant if publicly disclosed.

Documents Incorporated Herein by Reference:

(1)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 4, 2003 as an exhibit to the Company’s Amendment No. 3 to
Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (File No. 333-107711).

(2)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 25, 2005 as an exhibit to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-8 (File No. 333-124290).

(3)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 24, 2007 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 000-
51910).

(4)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 3, 2008 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 000-51910).
(5)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 14, 2008 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 000-51910).

(6)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 10, 2008 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 000-
51910).

(7)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 9, 2009 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 000-
51910).

(8)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 6, 2009 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(9)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 27, 2009 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(10)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 21, 2009 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).
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(11)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 16, 2010 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(12)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 24, 2012 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(13)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 24, 2011 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(14)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 14, 2012 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(15)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17, 2014 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(16)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 3, 2023 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(17)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 8, 2016 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(18)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 28, 2016 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(19)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 1, 2017 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(20)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 2, 2017 as an exhibit to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-8 (File No. 333-220773).

(21)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 6, 2017 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(22)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 16, 2017 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q (File No.
001-31810).

(23)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 7, 2018 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(24)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 5, 2019 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(25)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 30, 2020 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(26)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 4, 2020 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(27)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 26, 2020 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(28)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 6, 2020 as an exhibit to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form
S-3 (File No. 333-239710).

(29)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 10, 2021 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(30)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 12, 2021 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(31)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 12, 2021 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(32)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 17, 2021 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).
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(33)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 13, 2021 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K/A (File No. 001-
31810).

(34)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 30, 2021 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(35)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 9, 2021 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-
31810).

(36)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 14, 2023 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-
31810).

(37)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 19, 2022 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(38)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 13, 2023 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(39)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 7, 2023 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-31810).

(40)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 22, 2023 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810)

(41)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 15, 2023 as an exhibit to the Company’s form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(42)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 29, 2023 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(43)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 14, 2024 as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q (File No. 001-
31810).

(44)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 3, 2024 as an exhibit to the Company’s form 8-K (File No. 001-31810).

(45)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 19, 2024 as an exhibit to the Company’s form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(46)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 18, 2024 as an exhibit to the Company’s form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).

(47)Previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 14, 2024 as an exhibit to the Company’s form 8-K (File No. 001-
31810).
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Cineverse Corp.

Date: July 1, 2024 By: /s/ Christopher J. McGurk

Christopher J. McGurk

Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board of Directors
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: July 1, 2024 By: /s/ Mark Lindsey

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each individual whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Christopher J. McGurk
and Gary S. Loffredo, and each of them individually, his or her true and lawful agent, proxy and attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution and
resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to (i) act on, sign and file with the Securities and
Exchange Commission any and all amendments to this Report together with all schedules and exhibits thereto, (ii) act on, sign and file with the Securities
and Exchange Commission any and all exhibits to this Report and any and all exhibits and schedules thereto, (iii) act on, sign and file any and all such
certificates, notices, communications, reports, instruments, agreements and other documents as may be necessary or appropriate in connection therewith
and (iv) take any and all such actions which may be necessary or appropriate in connection therewith, granting unto such agents, proxies and attorneys-
in-fact, and each of them individually, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing necessary or appropriate to be done, as
fully for all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, and hereby approving, ratifying and confirming all that such agents, proxies and
attorneys-in-fact, any of them or any of his, her or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

SIGNATURE(S) TITLE(S) DATE
/s/ Christopher J. McGurk Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors July 1, 2024
Christopher J. McGurk (Principal Executive Officer)

/sl Mark Lindsey Chief Financial Officer July 1, 2024
Mark Lindsey (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/sl Mary Ann Halford Director July 1, 2024

Mary Ann Halford

/s/ Peter C. Brown Director July 1, 2024
Peter C. Brown

Is/ Patrick O"Brien Director July 1, 2024
Patrick O"Brien
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Exhibit 4.8
DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES

Authorized and Outstanding Capital Stock

The following description of Cineverse Corp.’s capital stock and provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws are summaries and are
qualified by reference to our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, which have been incorporated by reference as exhibits to the Annual Report on Form
10-K to which this Description of Securities is an exhibit.

As of June 17, 2024, our authorized capital stock consists of 275,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, par value $0.001 per share (the
“Class A common stock”), and 15,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share, of which 20 shares are authorized as Series A 10%
Non-Voting Cumulative Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred Stock”) and 1 shares is authorized as Series B Preferred Stock (the “Series B Preferred
Stock”).

As of June 17, 2024, there were 15,606,341 shares of Class A common stock outstanding, 7 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, and no shares
of Series B Preferred Stock were outstanding.

Description of Common Stock
Voting Rights. Holders of Class A common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders.

Holders of a majority of our outstanding shares of Class A common stock present or represented by proxy at any meeting of our stockholders
constitute a quorum.

Dividends; Liquidation; Preemptive Rights. Holders of Class A common stock are entitled to receive dividends only if, as and when declared by
our board of directors out of funds legally available for that purpose. In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, holders of Class A common
stock are entitled, subject to any priorities due to any holders of our preferred stock, ratably to share in all assets remaining after payment of our liabilities.
Holders of Class A common stock have no preemptive rights nor any other rights to subscribe for shares or securities convertible into or exchangeable for
shares of Class A common stock.

Our Class A common stock is traded on Nasdaq under the symbol “CNVS.”
Preferred Stock

Our Board of Directors is authorized, subject to any limitations prescribed by law, without further stockholder approval, to issue from time to
time up to an aggregate of 15,000,000 shares of our preferred stock, in one or more series. The Series A Preferred Stock may be redeemed by the
Company at any time after the second anniversary of the date such shares were issued in cash or, at the Company’s option if certain conditions are met,
in shares of Class A common stock. The holders of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to receive cumulative dividends from the date of issuance at an
annual rate of 10% of the original issue price. Such dividends shall be payable in arrears in cash or, at the Company’s option, in shares of Class A
common stock if certain conditions are met, quarterly on the last day of each calendar quarter, until such shares of Preferred Stock are redeemed. The
single authorized share of Series B Preferred Stock was issued and subsequently redeemed and no additional Series B Preferred Stock may be issued.

Each other series of preferred stock to be issued, if any, will have such number of shares, designations, preferences, powers and qualifications
and special or relative rights or privileges as will be determined by our board of directors, which may include, among others, dividend rights, voting rights,
redemption and sinking fund provisions, liquidation preferences, conversion rights and preemptive rights. The rights of the holders of our common stock
will be subject to the rights of holders of any preferred stock outstanding and issued in the future. The issuance of preferred stock, while providing
desirable flexibility in connection with the possible acquisitions



and other corporate purposes, could have the effect of making it more difficult for a third party to acquire, or of discouraging a third party from acquiring, a
majority of our outstanding voting stock.

Anti-Takeover Effects of Delaware Law; Our Certificate of Incorporation and Our Bylaws

Delaware law, our certificate of incorporation and our bylaws contain provisions that could have the effect of delaying, deferring or discouraging
another party from acquiring control of us. These provisions, which are summarized below, are intended to discourage coercive takeover practices and
inadequate takeover bids. These provisions are also designed to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us to first negotiate with our Board.

No Cumulative Voting. Under Delaware law, the right to vote cumulatively does not exist unless the certificate of incorporation specifically
authorizes cumulative voting. Our Fifth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation does not grant shareholders the right to vote cumulatively.

Blank Check Preferred Stock. We believe that the availability of the preferred stock under our Fifth Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation provides us with flexibility in addressing corporate issues that may arise. Having these authorized shares available for issuance will allow us
to issue shares of preferred stock without the expense and delay of a special stockholders’ meeting. The authorized shares of preferred stock, as well as
shares of Class A common stock, will be available for issuance without further action by our stockholders, with the exception of any actions required by
applicable law or the rules of any stock exchange on which our securities may be listed. Our Board of Directors will have the power, subject to applicable
law, to issue classes or series of preferred stock that could, depending on the terms of the class or series, impede the completion of a merger, tender offer
or other takeover attempt.

Stockholder Action by Written Consent. Our Fifth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides that any action required or
permitted to be taken at any annual or special meeting of our stockholders may be taken without a meeting, without prior notice and without a vote if a
consent or consents in writing, setting forth the action so taken, are signed by the holders of outstanding capital stock of having not less than the
minimum number of votes necessary to authorize such action at a meeting at which all shares of capital stock entitled to vote thereon were present and
voted.



Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiaries of Cineverse Corp. (the "Company")

1.Access Digital Media, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cinedigm DC Holdings, LLC.
2.Christie/AlX, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Access Digital Media, Inc.

3.Vistachiara Productions Inc., d/b/a The Bigger Picture, a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company.

4.Access Digital Cinema Phase 2, Corp., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

5.Access Digital Cinema Phase 2 B/AIX Corp., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Access Digital
Cinema Phase 2 Corp.

6.Cinedigm Digital Funding 1, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Christie/AlX,
Inc.

7.CDF2 Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Access Digital Cinema
Phase 2 Corp.

8.Cinedigm Digital Funding 2, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of CDF2
Holdings, LLC.

9.Cineverse Entertainment Corp., a New York corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
10.Cinedigm DC Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

11.Cineverse Entertainment Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company.

12.Cineverse Home Entertainment, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Cineverse Entertainment Holdings, LLC.

13.Con TV, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and an 85% owned subsidiary of Cineverse Entertainment Corp.

14.Docurama, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cineverse OTT Holdings,
LLC.

15.Dove Family Channel, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cineverse OTT
Holdings, LLC.



16.Cineverse OTT Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cineverse
Entertainment Corp.

17.Cinedigm Productions, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cineverse
Entertainment Corp.

18.Comic Blitz Il LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cineverse OTT Holdings,
LLC.

19.Viewster, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cineverse OTT Holdings, LLC.

20.TFD Acquisition LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cineverse OTT Holdings,
LLC.

21.Fandor Acquisition LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cineverse OTT
Holdings, LLC.

22.Screambox Acquisition LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cineverse OTT
Holdings, LLC.

23.FoundationTV, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
24 Asian Media Rights, LLC, a New York limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

25.Cinedigm India Private Limited, an Indian corporation, owned 99.99% by Cineverse Corp. and .01% by
FoundationTV, Inc.

26.Bloody Disgusting Acquisition LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cineverse
OTT Holdings, LLC.

27.Cineverse Matchpoint LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

28.Cineverse Terrifier LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Cineverse Corp. on Form S-1 (No. 333-214486), Form S-3 (Nos. 333-
273098 and 333-222190) and Form S-8 (No. 333-266939) of our report dated July 1, 2024, on our audits of the financial statements as of March 31, 2024
and 2023 and for each of the years then ended, which report is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be filed on or about July 1, 2024.
/s/ EisnerAmper LLP
EISNERAMPER LLP

Iselin, New Jersey
July 1, 2024



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Christopher J. McGurk, certify that:

1.

5.

Date:

@

(b)

©

(d)

@

(b)

| have reviewed this Form 10-K of Cineverse Corp.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officers and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officers and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

July 1, 2024 By: /s/ Christopher J. McGurk

Christopher J. McGurk

Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board of Directors
(Principal Executive Officer)
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Date:

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION
k Lindsey, certify that:
I have reviewed this Form 10-K of Cineverse Corp.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officers and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officers and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

July 1, 2024 By: /s/ Mark Lindsey
Mark Lindsey
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF
2002

In connection with Form 10-K of Cineverse Corp. (the “Company”) for the period ended March 31, 2024 as filed with the SEC (the “Report”), the
undersigned, in the capacity and on the date indicated below, hereby certifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to his knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operation of the Company.
Date: July 1, 2024 By: /s/ Christopher J. McGurk

Christopher J. McGurk

Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board of Directors
(Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF
2002

In connection with Form 10-K of Cineverse Corp. (the “Company”) for the period ended March 31, 2024 as filed with the SEC (the “Report”), the
undersigned, in the capacity and on the date indicated below, hereby certifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to his knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operation of the Company.
Date: July 1, 2024 By: /s/ Mark Lindsey

Mark Lindsey
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 97.1
CINEVERSE CORP.

CLAWBACK POLICY
As adopted by the Board of Directors, effective November 25, 2023
Introduction

The Board of Directors (“Board”) of Cineverse Corp. (the “Company”) believes that it is in the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders to maintain a culture that emphasizes integrity and accountability and that reinforces the Company’s
pay-for-performance compensation philosophy. To implement this goal, the Board has adopted this policy (the “Policy”)
which provides for the recoupment of certain executive compensation in the event of an accounting restatement resulting
from material noncompliance with financial reporting requirements under the federal securities laws. This Policy is designed
to comply with Section 10D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Rule 10D-1 promulgated thereunder
(collectively, “Section 10D").

Employees Covered by the Policy

This Policy applies to the Company’s current and former executive officers, as determined by the Board in accordance with
Section 10D and the listing standards of the national securities exchange on which the Company’s securities are listed (the
“Listing Standards”), as well as such other senior executives and employees who may from time to time be deemed subject
to the Policy by the Board (“Covered Executives”).

Administration

This Policy shall be administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board (“Committee”), and references herein to the
Board shall be deemed references to the Committee. Any determinations made by the Board shall be final and binding on all
affected individuals.

Clawbacks Due to Accounting Restatements

In the event the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement of its financial statements due to the Company’s
material noncompliance with any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required accounting
restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the previously issued financial
statements, or that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left
uncorrected in the current period, the Board will require reimbursement or forfeiture of any excess Incentive Compensation
received by any Covered Executive during the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the date on which the
Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement (or any transition period that results from a change in the
Company’s fiscal year (as set forth in the Listing Standards)), as determined in accordance with Section 10D and any
applicable rules or Listing Standards. The date on which the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement is
the earlier to occur of (A) the date the Board or a Board committee (or authorized officers of the Company if Board action is
not required) concludes, or reasonably



should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement or (B) the date a court,
regulator, or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare an accounting restatement.

Incentive Compensation

For purposes of this Policy, “Incentive Compensation” means any compensation that is granted, earned, or vested based
wholly or in part on the attainment of a “financial reporting measure” (as defined under Section 10D, and including, for the
avoidance of doubt, stock price and total stockholder return (“TSR”) measures), including, but not limited to, performance-
based cash, stock, options or other equity-based awards paid or granted to the Covered Executive. Compensation that is
granted, vests or is earned based solely upon the occurrence of non-financial events, such as base salary, restricted stock
or options with time-based vesting only, or a bonus awarded solely at the discretion of the Board and not based on the
attainment of any financial measure, is not subject to this Palicy.

Amounts Subject to Recovery

The amounts to be recovered pursuant to this Policy will be the excess of the Incentive Compensation received by the
Covered Executive based on the erroneous data, over the Incentive Compensation that would have been received by the
Covered Executive had it been based on the restated results, as determined by the Board and without regard to any taxes
paid or withheld.

Incentive Compensation, for purposes of being subject to recoupment, will be deemed received in the fiscal period during
which the financial reporting measure on which the Incentive Compensation is based is attained or purportedly attained,
regardless of whether the Incentive Compensation is granted or paid after the end of that fiscal period.

For Incentive Compensation based on stock price or TSR, where the amount of erroneously awarded compensation is not
subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in the financial restatement, the Board shall determine the
amount to be recovered based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the financial restatement on the stock price or TSR
upon which the Incentive Compensation was received and the Company shall document the determination of that estimate
and provide it to the national securities exchange on which the Company’s securities are listed.

The compensation recouped under this Policy shall not include Incentive Compensation received by a Covered Executive (i)
prior to beginning service as a Covered Executive or (i) if he or she did not serve as a Covered Executive at any time during
the performance period applicable to the Incentive Compensation in question.

Method of Recoupment

The Board will determine, in its sole discretion, the method for recouping Incentive Compensation hereunder, and such
method shall be such that the excess compensation is corrected reasonably promptly, the recoupment is not permitted to be
paid in installments, and the method used shall consider the implications of other relevant laws including, but not limited to,
Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code. Covered Executives shall be solely responsible for any tax consequences
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to them that result from the recoupment or recovery of any amount pursuant to this Policy, and the Company shall have no
obligation to administer the Policy in a manner that avoids or minimizes any such tax consequences.

No Indemnification

The Company shall not indemnify any Covered Executives against the loss of any Incentive Compensation resulting from
recoupment pursuant to this Policy, including paying premiums on an insurance policy that would cover a Covered
Executive’s Incentive Compensation reimbursement obligation or any claims relating to the Company’s enforcement of rights
under this Palicy.

Interpretation

The Board is authorized to interpret and construe this Policy and to make all determinations necessary, appropriate, or
advisable for the administration of this Policy. This Policy shall be interpreted in a manner that is consistent with the
requirements of Section 10D and any applicable rules or standards adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission or
any national securities exchange on which the Company’s securities are listed and, to the extent this Policy is in any manner
deemed inconsistent with such rules, this Policy shall be treated as retroactively amended to be compliant with such rules.

Amendment; Termination

The Board may amend this Policy from time to time in its discretion. The Board may terminate this Policy at any time subject
to applicable law or regulatory requirements.

Other Recoupment Rights and Rules

The Board intends that this Policy will be applied to the fullest extent of the law. Each Covered Executive may be required to
sign and return to the Company the acknowledgement form attached hereto as Exhibit A pursuant to which such Covered
Executive will agree to be bound by the terms of, and comply with, this Policy. For the avoidance of doubt, each Covered
Executive shall be fully bound by, and must comply with, the Policy, whether or not such Covered Executive has executed
and returned such acknowledgment form to the Company. Any right of recoupment under this Policy is in addition to, and not
in lieu of, any other legal or equitable remedies or rights of recoupment that may be available to the Company, whether
arising under applicable law (including pursuant to Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002), regulation or pursuant
to the terms of any policy of the Company, employment agreement, equity award agreement, or similar agreement.

The Board shall recover any excess Incentive Compensation in accordance with this Policy unless such recovery would be
impracticable, as determined by the Board in accordance with Section 10D and the Listing Standards. In the event that the
Board determines recovery to be impracticable, the Company shall comply with any related documentation requirements
under Section 10D and the Listing Standards.



The Company shall comply with the disclosure requirements relating to Section 10D and any actions taken in compliance
therewith as promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Listing Standards.

No-Fault Recovery

Recoupment under this Policy shall be required regardless of whether the Covered Executive or any other person was at
fault or responsible for accounting errors that contributed to the need for the financial restatement or engaged in any
misconduct.

Effective Date

This Policy has been adopted by the Board and shall be effective November 25, 2023 (“Effective Date”) and shall apply to
any Incentive Compensation that is received by a Covered Executive on or after the Effective Date.

Successors

This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all Covered Executives and their beneficiaries, heirs, executors,
administrators, or other legal representatives.



EXHIBIT A
DODD-FRANK COMPENSATION CLAWBACK POLICY
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FORM

Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined in this Acknowledgement Form (this “Acknowledgement Form”) shall
have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Policy.

By signing this Acknowledgement Form, the undersigned acknowledges, confirms and agrees that the undersigned: (i) has
received and reviewed a copy of the Policy; (ii) is and will continue to be subject to the Policy and that the Policy will apply
both during and after the undersigned’s employment with the Company; and (iii) will abide by the terms of the Policy,
including, without limitation, by reasonably promptly returning any recoverable compensation to the Company as required by
the Policy, as determined by the Compensation Committee in its sole discretion.

Sign:

Name: [Employee]

Date:







